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Corporate Profile
NBEN

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we") was founded in 1995 and was
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) in June 2015 (stock code: 6183).

The Group is a leading integrated supplier of edible fungi products in the
People’s Republic of China (“China” or the “PRC"). It has demonstrated
outstanding performance in various respects such as industrial production
of edible fungi, production and sale of primarily and intensively processed
food products of edible fungi as well as domestic and overseas sales
platform for edible fungi, which enables it to maintain a leading position
in the industry. Products of the Company include various fresh edible
fungi such as king trumpet mushrooms and shiitake mushrooms, primarily
processed canned fruits and edible fungi as well as related snacks.
Currently, the Group has established a vertically integrated operating
model, covering technology research and development, plantation,
primary and intensive processing and sale of edible fungi. With its
advanced technologies, the Company has been granted a number of
honours and awards, including “National Key Leading Enterprise for
Agriculture Industrialization” (RFEZ(ELBERESBEEDZ) and “National
Leading Enterprise in Edible Fungi Industry With Excellent Performance”

(ERRARTREFERLS).

The year 2017 was a critical year to the Group for its development and
growth as well as transformation and upgrade. The Group adopts the
“building up of a comprehensive industrial chain for life healthcare in
China" as its corporate vision by extending its development to the fine
and intensive processing of edible fungi. The edible fungi healthcare
product with high added value, which was developed by the Group in
collaboration with Japanese medical research institutions, was officially
launched in the Japanese and Singaporean market in 2017. Leveraging
the advanced research and production technologies from Japan,
the product demonstrates excellent efficacy and therefore is widely
recognized and popular. It is intended that the product will enter the Hong
Kong and Macau retail market. In 2017, the Group completed the strategic
mergers and acquisitions of two peer companies to achieve a horizontal
expansion of the enterprise, which were significant to the Group for its
capacity expansion, advancement in plantation technologies for edible
fungi, introduction of new fungal species as well as expansion to new
markets.

Looking forward, the Group will further strengthen its strategic position
of the “top 1 brand in the comprehensive industrial chain for edible fungi”
by promoting the research and sale of edible fungi products for general
healthcare, integrating acquisition projects to create more synergies,
developing the domestic and overseas sales platform for edible fungi
as well as improving and optimizing the industrialized fungi cultivation
technologies. Meanwhile, the Group will identify other merger and
acquisition opportunities so as to further increase its market share and
consolidate its leading position in the industry. The Group will put forth
its best efforts to become the top leading enterprise in the edible fungi
industry of China and maximize value for shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) and investors.
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Corporate Information
NAEIER
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Corporate Information

NEEH
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Group” or “We") for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 (the
“Year”).

In 2017, the global economy experienced the fastest pace of growth
over the last decade under the backdrop of considerable recovery. As
one of the major impetus to global economy, China, with steady, well
progressing and better-than-expected economic development, has shown
its outstanding performance in 2017. China recorded the first-ever Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) of over RMB8O trillion for the year, amounting to
approximately RMBB82.7 trillion and representing a year-on-year increase
of 6.9%. Among which, the total retail sales of consumer goods for the
year was approximately RMB36.6 trillion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 10.2%.

In terms of the development trend of the edible fungi industry, there was
continuous and even accelerated industry integration, and the preliminary
manifestation of the scale of economy was seen in 2017. According to
the research statistics published by the Mushroom Market of China (4 B
RAREBH), during the five year period from 2012 to 2017, the number
of enterprises engaging in industrialized cultivation of edible fungi in
China dropped by more than 200, reflecting the gradual optimization of
market integration. Meanwhile, the production volume of edible fungi in
China continued to grow, with total output value ranking sixth across the
nation, second only to grain, cotton, oil, vegetables and fruits. All in all,
heading towards increasing integration, the edible fungi industry of China
will have its industrialized production capability and efficiency persistently
improving.

Zheng Songhui
Chairman
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEWRE

During the Year, driven by two favourable conditions of booming macro-
economy and industrial restructuring, the Group was able to grasp the
opportunities to realize a leapfrog in its development. The Company
recorded satisfactory operating results for the Year with revenue of
approximately RMB1,064.25 million, while the gross profit before fair
value adjustment on biological assets was approximately RMB245.13
million (before business tax, other taxes and auxiliary charges).

2017 demonstrated an important development milestone of the Group.
Not only did we completed the transformation and upgrade of the
Group, and implemented the planned merger and acquisition strategies
as scheduled, but also devoted our vigorous effort to pave the way
towards comprehensive industrial chain. During the Year, leveraging on
its advantage of focusing on industrialized cultivation of edible fungi, the
Group eliminated outdated capacity, further optimized the production
process and strengthened the setting up of domestic channels. With
unremitting efforts in building up a “Comprehensive Industrial Chain
for Life Healthcare in China"(f R4 mEE 2 E¥#$#), the Group carried
out upgrades and replacements in four kinds of edible fungi products
for general healthcare which were researched, developed and produced
in Japan, and formed a strategic alliance with a leading general health
product distributor in Singapore to build up all-round sales deployment
and network in Asia, striving to march on the Chinese markets and
further sharpen China Greenfresh's image of being the top brand in the
edible fungi industrial chain. In addition, by persistently implementing
strategic acquisition strategies, the Group completed the mergers and
acquisitions of two peer companies, namely Zhangzhou Changfeng Edible
Fungi Co., Ltd.* (EMTRERAEHERRAF) (“Zhangzhou Changfeng”)’
and Guangxi Jiabao Food Group Co., Ltd.* (EfiRSEmERAR A R)
("Guangxi Jiabao")?in December 2017, which were of great significance
to the Group in terms of introduction of precious kinds of fungi,
expansion of production scale, improvement of production technologies,
development of new sales channels and extension of market shares.

While working on business expansion, the Group always remember to
contribute to the society. As a social responsible enterprise, the Group
is always keen to advocate and implement the spirit of public welfare. In
2017, the Group participated numerous public welfare activities, namely
the establishment of “Greenfresh Incentive Scholarship” (4% 2 B) & B)
2 %) at the College of Life Science of Fujian Agriculture and Forestry
University, organization of “Delivering Love and Warmth to our Children
Together with Greenfresh” (BB ZE [\ » 4k E [F17), an activity which cares
for children, as well as an activity for Fathers’ Day known as “Filial Piety

1 Zhangzhou Changfeng is an indirect subsidiary of Mega Rainbow International Limited
(“Zhao Hong"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

2 Guangxi Jiabao is an indirect subsidiary of Lucky Max Development Limited (“Lucky Max")
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEWRE

Be First Priority Albeit Fierce Rivalry” (B ISR © 2 B % 17). Engaging
in the food industry which impacts human health, we had eliminated
some outdated capacity so as to focus on the industrialized cultivation
of edible fungi in strict compliance with the national policies in respect
of food safety and environmental protection. We strongly believe proper
execution of environmental protection policies will urge us to improve
production process. Our effort has been greatly encouraged as the
Group gained high recognition from the industry by winning the “Best
Responsible Entrepreneurship Awards” (& £ 1 ¥t & & £ £8) by the
Fujian Edible Fungi Institute ({824 R AR 2 ) during the Year

The year 2017 marked a new start for the Group's development, which
has been moving forward based on corporate transformation, while in
the year 2018, we will carry out all-round business upgrades in order to
consolidate the advantages of industrialized cultivation of king trumpet
mushroom, continuously improve our sales network, further pursue
opportunities for strategic merger and acquisition, and devote our best
endeavor to develop the new segment of edible fungi products for general
healthcare, targeting to become a highly competitive top-notch enterprise
in the edible fungi industry in China.

Our every success relies mostly on the unremitting dedication of all
of our staff as well as the strong support from various sectors of the
community and the investors. On behalf of the Board, | hereby express
my wholehearted gratitude to all the staff of the Group, the Shareholders
and all of our customers and acquaintances.

Zheng Songhui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
EEERwED T

SUMMARY AND OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading integrated service provider of comprehensive
edible fungi industrial chain in China. On 18 June 2015, the Group
was successfully listed on the Stock Exchange and became the first
Chinese edible fungi enterprise listed in Hong Kong. Entering into the
capital market marked a new start for the Group's realization of leapfrog
in its business development. After years of development, the Group
accumulated extensive experience in industrialized production of edible
fungi, primary and intensive processing of edible fungi products, domestic
and overseas sales platform as well as research, development and sales
of edible fungi products for general healthcare.

In 2017, the global economy experienced persistent expansion and
the prosperous condition was encouraging, while China enabled full
capitalization of its economic vitality, motivation and potentials, with its
sustainability getting considerably stronger, and achieved steady and
healthy growth. Sound overseas economic condition undoubtedly brought
tremendous opportunities for industries and enterprises, and at the same
time, integration of edible fungi industry continued, causing fragmented
and outdated companies to be eliminated and stronger enterprises to
grasp golden opportunities of merger, acquisition and expansion.

During the Year, the Group conducted persistent implementation of its
planned strategies to realize its transformation and upgrade, the major
results of which include:

e Continuous input of efforts to improve the quality of edible fungi
products for general healthcare and extend the sales channels.
The Group's edible fungi products for general healthcare achieved
technological breakthrough at the research and development
base in Japan, the second generation of high quality healthcare
products were unveiled in Singapore and Japan with satisfactory
market response. In respect of sales, in August 2017, the Group
entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with Singapore Holly
Biotechnology Pte. Ltd. (“Singapore Holly”) to extend the reach
of the Group's edible fungi products for general healthcare to Asia
market by leveraging on the extensive sales network of Singapore
Holly.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE D

Successful acquisitions of two peer companies. In December 2017,
the Group successfully acquired two peer companies, namely
Mega Rainbow International Limited (“Zhao Hong") and Lucky
Max Developments Limited (“Lucky Max"), at a total consideration
of approximately RMB374.4 million. Upon the completion of the
acquisitions, Zhao Hong and Lucky Max became the subsidiaries
of the Company. Such that, the Company indirectly holds 86 %
equity interests in Zhangzhou Changfeng Edible Fungi Co., Limited
(“Zhangzhou Changfeng”), which is held by Zhao Hong and
48.7% equity interests in Guangxi Jiabao Food Group Co., Ltd.
("Guangxi Jiabao"), which is held by Lucky Max. For details of the
acquisitions, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 5 December 2017, 22 December 2017, 29 December 2017
and 9 January 2018. Zhangzhou Changfeng is a leading industrialized
production enterprise of king trumpet mushroom in China, which
possesses state-of-the-art biological technology of liquid spawn
and has already possessed major market share in the Southern
China market. Upon acquisition, the Group will be able to capture
a larger market share through multi-brand strategies. Guangxi
Jiabao is a leading enterprise of frozen food and processed canned
food products in China, which has outstanding sales performance
in overseas markets such as the US, Canada, Europe, etc., and
possesses the advanced technology of industrialized production
of a precious kinds of fungi, the black termitomyces albuminosus.
The acquisition will help the Group's fresh edible fungi products to
enter into the European and the US market and expand the Group's
portfolio of fungi and canned food products. These two acquisitions
have provided the Group with stronger support to the edible
fungi production technologies, accelerated the overall production
capacity increase of the Group, extended the Group's foothold
to global market and, to a larger extent, enhanced the Group’s
competitiveness, thereby further solidifying the Group's leading
position in the industry.

Further expansion of sales network. Building on the sales network
established in 2016, the Group continued the consolidation thereof
during the Year. Currently, there are 13 operating subsidiaries in,
among others, China, Japan and Singapore with over 130 customers
and distributors across the nation.

Gradual elimination of outdated capacity and focusing on
industrialized production. Through long-term focus on healthy and
environment-friendly products and comprehensive monitoring
system covering all production procedures, the Group was able to
carry out strategic elimination of outdated capacity during the Year
and focus its resources on the optimization of the industrialized fungi
cultivation so as to enhance production efficiency and quality. Such
measures, as expected, had resulted in a temporary shrivel of the
corresponding production capacity, however, in the long run, a steady
growth of the industrialized production plant of edible fungi can be
facilitated through upgraded technology and pursuit of opportunities
for mergers and acquisitions. Such plan is consistent to the Group's
philosophy of “Green Production”.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE DT

SPECIFIC BUSINESS ANALYSIS
Analysis on each business segment of the Group are set out below.
Edible Fungi Products for General Healthcare

The segment of edible fungi products for general healthcare had been
one of the development directions in 2017, which represented a profound
exploration of the industrial chain of edible fungi and an important
milestone of the Group's transformation. During the Year, through in-
depth cooperation with certain medical and scientific technology research
institutions like Japan Oriental Medical Research Center (HZANER FEE
35 A7) and Kumamoto University, as well as proper utilization of the
advanced medical technologies overseas, the Group has developed
“"CAMBO" (EEE) series of edible fungi products for general healthcare,
which include: (i) FUSION (f8#%fllF&HL), which helps strengthen the
immune system of humans by the essence extracted from ganoderma
amboinense, a major ingredient which can only be found in Kumamoto,
Japan; (i) ECONB (FEz==ERB%), which, with major ingredients including
ganoderma amboinense powders and western ginseng, has the
functionality of liver protection, (iii) LACTOBACILLUS (X% F), which
contains biodiasmin and fish scale collagen to improve intestinal
immunity, and (iv) COLLAGEN ESSENCE (BBJR45%), which uses collagen
protein extracted from fishes and has an excellent effect in terms of skin
care. The second generation of these four products are currently under
production. With prominent effects, they are well-received by the market
and the relevant products had been launched in the second half of 2017.
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the business segment of general
healthcare products achieved a sales revenue of approximately RMB7.64
million.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE D

King Trumpet Mushrooms

The Group had paid unremitting effort in the industrialized production
of king trumpet mushrooms so as to achieve ceaseless supply to
customers and guarantee the quality and safety of the finished product
of king trumpet mushrooms. Sales from the cultivation of king trumpet
mushrooms has always contributed the majority of the Group's revenue
and also forms a basis of profitability for the Group. During 2017, sales
of king trumpet mushrooms contributed revenue of approximately
RMB372.73 million, representing approximately 35.02% of the Group's
annual revenue.

Button, Straw and Shiitake Mushrooms

Building on the established cultivation base of button and straw
mushrooms, a modern cultivation plant was set up in Pingquan County,
Hebei in 2016, in which the industrialized production of shiitake
mushrooms was introduced. To respond to the higher level of required
standards on environmental protection announced by the state and local
governments, as well as to improve the overall production technology of
the Group, we had eliminated the outdated production facilities for button
and straw mushrooms during the Year, which resulted in shrivel of the
corresponding business. In 2017, the sales revenue of button, straw and
shiitake mushrooms was approximately RMB176.37 million, representing
approximately 16.57% of the Group's annual revenue.

Processed Food Products

The processed food products supplied by the Group include canned
edible fungi, canned vegetables and fruits, brined mushrooms, preserved
mushrooms, etc. Since the commencement of processed canned food
segment in 1995, the Group has accumulated extensive experience and
a long-term and stable base of domestic and international customers.
In 2017, the segment contributed revenue of approximately RMB99.14
million, accounting for approximately 9.32% of the Group's annual
revenue.

AEBERMERBBITEFTRE TREEE -
ERHETPRHETHONBERE - WaEARAL
ERMNEERZEMN -  AHREBREEBHER
ARAKEBRANZARERED - =EBEF BT
FREVERE - 20175 2F - AREHEEBREE
BRIURADARKI72.73EE T - HEAEE2
FIWA#I35.02% ©

B BREREL

ERBER  EFEEEEMR L A£ER2016
FEMNLFREXVRACEEEBEIR - 3l A
BT RCTEEER - BEEER RibH BAFE
BEENRRER  LEZARALNSELET
B BMRFERNEATEEREENEREE
Bl BEUWMBXEBEEZL - 2017F2F -
B BEMBEEHERHEHERANHARE
176.37B BT ' HMEAEEE2FRAMNI16.57% ©

MIBR

AEBNIEREBEERAREE - BEKR
TETE - HKGE  BEEE o AXBB1995F A
FREENIER HELEMNER - WTERKE
REMBENBEALREBREFEIR ° 201746 «
TREXBAEBETRNHNARKI145E LK
A BEAREREFNARZ2% °
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Trading through Domestic Network

We consider further extension of sales network for edible fungi to be
beneficial to the Group's realization of national coverage and effective
increase in market share. With basic success in the set-up of national
sales channels and network since 2016, the Group had further explored
and developed regional sales channels with higher growth potentials in
2017 so as to achieve nation-wide sales of market-needed edible fungi
and vegetables procured through its own distribution model. During the
Year, the Group had achieved a better result in the segment of trading
through domestic network, which contributed revenue of approximately
RMB160.81 million, accounting for approximately 15.11% of the Group's
annual revenue.

International Trading of Food

International trading of food business represents cross-border trading
of edible fungi, fresh fruit and vegetables, canned food, frozen food and
edible fungi healthcare products, etc. in the countries and regions such
as the PRC, Hong Kong, Japan and Singapore. In 2017, the international
food trading segment continued its steady growth and contributed
sales revenue of approximately RMB255.20 million, accounting for
approximately 23.98% of the Group’s annual revenue.

PROSPECT

In recent years, a year-on-year increase has been seen in the consumption
proportion of edible fungi in China, which reflects a consistent link
between the edible fungi industry, being a green and healthy industry,
and the consumers’ pursuit of scientific diet and balanced nutrition under
a sonic lifestyle nowadays. In respect of industry development, while
undergoing rapid growth, the edible fungi industry of China has strived
to improve quality, increase efficiency and conduct gradual integration in
response to the market trend. Medium-to-large enterprises possessing
advanced production technologies have accelerated their progress
on mergers and acquisitions, while small enterprises are eliminated
gradually. The Group believes the competitive landscape of the industry
will bring about golden opportunities for development to the Group.

On the other hand, along with better economic and social development,
people are becoming more health-conscious, and so does the State
who places high emphasis on public health. “2030 Planning Outlines
for Healthy China” ((fEEE® BI203047 2|40 Z)) promulgated by the State
Council of the PRC in 2016, which acts as a framework for the “Building
of Healthy China” for the coming decade, pinpoints that public health is
the basis of the State's sustainable development, and the raising of public
health awareness and announcement of favourable government policies
are the impetus to the development of general healthcare industry.
The Group believes that the market of the general healthcare products
embodies enormous growth potentials. In the segmental market, edible
fungi healthcare products containing natural herb ingredients are gaining
increasing acceptance and recognition from the public for its excellent
effects and starts to stand out in the general healthcare product industry.
As such, we are of great confidence in the development of the business
of edible fungi products for general healthcare.
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In face of the rapid growth of edible fungi industry, an intense competitive
landscape of survival of the fittest and the booming development of the
general healthcare products, the Group needs to capture opportunities
and overcome challenges. As the only Hong Kong-listed enterprise in the
industry, the Group is striving to carry out cautious development layout by
fully leveraging on its way to capital market through listing.

In 2018, in addition to its first priority of consolidating its leading position
as the top manufacturer of king trumpet mushrooms in China by fully
capitalizing on its own edge, the Group will also actively seek for new
kinds of fungi which are suitable for industrialized production so as to
expand product portfolio. The successful acquisitions of Zhangzhou
Changfeng and Guangxi Jiabao by the end of 2017 enable further
improvement in production technologies, replenishment of production
capacity and expansion of market penetration in the future. Looking
forward, the Group will continue to seek for opportunities for strategic
merger and acquisition of peer companies and regional sales channels in
order to realize operation scale expansion.

Besides, the edible fungi products for general healthcare with high added
value will be a key focus of the Group. Currently, the four healthcare
products jointly researched and developed, produced and sold with
the scientific institutions from Japan and Singapore have gained high
recognition from the market and started to contribute sales revenue
to the Group. The good response of the market affirms the Group’s
determination to commence vertical development of edible fungi
products for general healthcare. Currently, the Company has already
tried further endeavor to the research and development of edible fungi
products for general health and had unveiled the “520 International” (520
BIFR) series of product. It plans to commence penetration into the retail
market in Hong Kong and Macau. Further endeavor will be devoted to
the research and development of intensive processing of edible fungi
so as to launch new products to satisfy market demand. It will also
actively explore the application of extracted essence from edible fungi
on, for example, high-end skin care and cosmetic products. Being a
unique technology among its domestic peers and an important future
development approach of the Group, the intensive processing of edible
fungi will definitely be a source of considerable profits before long.

With the level of industrialization lifting, the production volume of edible
fungi has been significantly increased. As high efficient transportation of,
and distribution to customer of fresh edible fungi products is becoming
more important, the Group will strengthen its domestic sales network and
rationalize the sales radius of edible fungi through self-established sales
channels and networks. Moreover, with the further optimization of its
domestic sales channels, such business will contribute more revenue to
the Group.

Looking forward, the Group will uphold its usual, active approach on
the way to the cultivation, research and development, production and
sales of edible fungi, dedicating itself to the intensive exploration of
comprehensive industrial chain of edible fungi. Adhering to its mission
and vision of being a top-notch enterprise in the edible fungi industry,
the Group will try its best endeavor to generate maximum value to
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and investors.

d.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 18 June 2015, and the net proceeds from the global offering
were approximately RMB444.99 million (net of underwriting commission
and relevant expenses). The net proceeds are used as follow:

BRARBEMSHERE

ARRARAI R 2016F6 18 H B RX TR £
W EREERETHEENMEFIRFRL
RARKE444 00BETT(HKBHEBE REBA
X)) o REREFEFRERBEROT

Amounts
utilised as of
31 December

Percentage Proceeds 2017
B ZE20174F
12H31H
()54 EEHNE BEfEAEE
(%)  (RMB million)  (RMB million)
(%) (ARBBET) (AR¥BEE&ET)
Developing the Guangxi Biological TREAAYRENTRERIEER
Technology Food Industry Park 31.1 138.39 -
Developing the Zhangzhou Biological ERENEMBRNRRIEE
Technology Food Industry Park 37.7 167.76 -
Acquiring two king trumpet mushroom Y& /R B2 7 74 /0 B 9 Ay e 2
cultivation facilities in China TEEEM 25.7 114.36 114.36
Acquiring laboratory and testing WIS B B = AR RR
equipment 1.1 4.90 -
Construction of mushroom garden BlEEEEER 1.1 4.90 -
Working capital and other general EEESREM—MBABIAE
corporate purpose 3.3 14.68 -
100 444,99 114.36
FINANCIAL REVIEW B 75 151 BR
Revenue and gross profit WA K EF

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,064.25 million
during the Year (2016: RMB1,086.22 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 2.02%. In which, sales of (l) king trumpet mushroom; (Il)
button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom; (Ill) canned
food; (IV) other processed food products; (V) trading through domestic
network; and (VI) international trading of food were approximately
RMB372.73 million, RMB176.37 million, RMB65.45 million, RMB33.69
million, RMB160.81 million and RMB255.20 million, respectively (2016:
RMB362.11 million, RMB191.57 million, RMB76.15 million, RMB52.35
million, RMB150.96 million and RMB253.08 million), representing
approximately 35.02%, 16.57%, 6.15%, 3.17%, 15.11% and 23.98% of
the turnover of the Group, respectively (2016: approximately 33.34%,
17.64%, 7.00%, 4.82%, 13.90% and 23.30%).

FR - AEEBLERANEARYE,064.25H 8
T (20164 : ARM1,086.22BET) © FEL
2.02% - Hif - (NEBE - (INELE  BEHERE
% (NEERS - (IVEMLNIRES - VER
REHERVIBRRAESHEEEIFINA
AR¥37273 B8 AR¥176378E T -
ARM6545H 87T ARM33.69HETL ' AR
16081 HEB TR ARB2552068 T ° o Al
R AREB W A35.02% © 16.57% * 6.15% °
3.17% * 15.11% } 23.98% (2016 F & : AR
¥36211TEETL ARKI9IBTEEL * AR
#7616 B BT ARKEB23EETL  ARK
15096 BB Tk ARK253.08EH &L © 9 7l
A MERNEE U A33.34% * 17.64% * 7.00% -
4.82% ' 13.90% }23.30%) °
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
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The decrease in revenue during the Year was mainly because (1) sales of
canned food were affected by the international market, which led to the
decrease in sales revenue of the Group; (2) sales of other processed food
products diminished, which led to the decrease in sales revenue of the
Group; (3) there was a shrink in the cultivation areas for button mushroom
and straw mushroom due to the phase out of mushroom houses with

obsolete production facilities during the Year, causing a substantial

decline in revenue.

The following table sets forth the Group's revenue and the percentage of

revenue by product categories:

For the year ended
31 December 2017

RERKRANTEEZERN(NAFAEEERR

0 =2 =] ./,
mEEEmSEEE

(RIS A B AT

QARFAEEEMNTRMFEERD - FEAE
B 3HE WA TR

QAN FAREEAREER

MERENEE - SEER  EFEBERERD
(e G N TE A

TREFIAEBIRERBRIE D Z WA G

For the year ended
31 December 2016

BZE2017F12831BLEFE  BZE2016F12831H EFE

Percentage Percentage

of sales of sales

Revenue revenue Revenue revenue

Product categories HEEE HIEE

EmfEsl ON WABDLE WA WABEDH

RMB’000 (%) RMB'000 (%)

ARETT (%) ARETF T (%)

King trumpet mushroom iy p e 372,734 35.02 362,106 33.34

Button mushroom, straw mushroom  BEE#E ~ & M ELH

and shiitake mushroom 176,371 16.57 191,564 17.64

Canned food AR 65,448 6.15 76,146 7.00

Other processed food products H T RS 33,692 3.17 52,352 4.82

Trading through domestic network NEBHE 160,812 15.11 150,964 13.90

International trading of food BEREREmES 255,197 23.98 253,084 23.30
Total &5t 1,064,254 1,086,216

PEGEEEARAT | 2017 £
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The following table sets forth the Group's gross profit (before business TXREIAEBILE RO BEIADENMEERALE
tax, other taxes and auxiliary charges) and gross profit margin by product ERAZRIRAEMEEA L BERAEEZEM (KN

categories before and after fair value adjustment on biological assets: MraaZR - HaBie RHmn) REFXK :
For the year ended 31 December 2017 For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE017E12ANALEE HE016512A318LLEE
After fair value adjustment Before fair value adjustment  After fair value adjustment  Before fair value adjustment
MMEEREE NREEREA NrEEAEE RrEEAEN
Gross  Gross Profit Gross  Gross Profit Gross  Gross Profit Gross  Gross Profit
Product categories profit margin profit margin profit margin profit margin
EREH £ E e S £ % 7 Sk
RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%) RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 (%)
ARETR (%)  AR%TR (%) AREFTL %)  ARETR (%)
King trumpet mushroom Yl 106,869 28.67 110,278 29.59 126,297 34.88 129,065 35.64
Button mushroom, straw mushroom  E# » 7
and shiitake mushroom REH 69,860 39.61 81,429 46.17 96,276 50.26 90,997 4750
Canned food BERM 15,068 23.02 15,068 23.02 16,078 2111 16,078 211
Other processed food products EHMIAR 52879 17.45 5,879 17.45 9,868 18.85 9,868 18.85
Trading through domestic hEBHE
network 12,224 1.60 12,224 7.60 15,660 10.37 15,660 10.37
International trading of food ARERES 20,249 7.93 20,249 7.93 14,406 5.69 14,406 5.69
Total At 230,149 21.63 245,121 23.03 278,585 25.65 276,074 25.42

The following table sets forth the Group's sales volume and average  FR#E|FIIZERERIEI D ZHE N FHEE :
selling price by product categories:

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2017 31 December 2016
HZE2017F12A31BLLFE  #HZE20165F12A831HIEFE
Sales Average Sales Average
volume selling price volume selling price
fHe FHEE fHE FHEE
(kilogram) (RMB) (kilogram) (RMB)
(AFT) (ARH) (A) (ARE)
Fresh edible fungi FHRERREER
King trumpet mushroom BEnLE 52,555,898 7.09 46,478,441 7.79
Button mushroom, straw mushroom  JE#E ~ B4 M ELE
and shiitake mushroom 19,233,453 8.61 22,881,915 8.25
Processed food MIRm
Canned food SRS 8,041,918 8.14 10,951,171 6.95
Other processed food products HMNITER 2,016,549 16.71 5,050,057 10.37
Trading of food EmE5
Trading through domestic network Bl AREHE 15,098,544 10.65 17,897,572 8.43
International trading of food BERERES 23,202,917 11.00 14,604,930 17.33
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Analysis of the changes in revenue

The revenue of the Group decreased by approximately RMB21.96 million
or 2.02% from approximately RMB1,086.22 million for the year ended
31 December 2016 to approximately RMB1,064.25 million for the Year,
primarily due to: (l) the drop of sales revenue from button mushroom,
straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom of approximately RMB15.19
million or 7.93%; (Il) the decline in sales of other mushrooms and
brined mushroom of approximately RMB18.66 million or 35.64%; (llI)
sales of canned food decreased by approximately RMB10.70 million or
14.05%; (IV) the increase in revenue from international trading of food
of approximately RMB2.11 million or 0.83%; (V) the increase in revenue
from trading through domestic network of approximately RMB9.85 million
or 6.52%; and (VI) the rise in revenue from the sales of king trumpet
mushroom of approximately RMB10.63 million or 2.93%.

The Group's king trumpet mushroom segment consists of two business
models, namely self-owned cultivation and contract farming. The
self-owned cultivation represents the production and sales model of
cultivating king trumpet mushroom with the self-built factories and
employees of the Group, whereas the contract farming represents the
agricultural production and sales model where, when the Group receives
sales orders and expects that the production capacity of its self-own
cultivation is not able to satisfy the demand, the Group enters into
contracts with qualified farmers for the arrangement of their production
and cultivation technology support, pursuant to which the Group
undergoes unified acquisition of the high quality king trumpet mushrooms
after harvest.

The sales volume of king trumpet mushroom for the Year increased by
approximately 6,077 tonnes, primarily due to rise in sales orders after
optimization of sales channels of the Group during the Year. However,
the imbalanced demand and supply of the market resulted in decline
in the average unit selling price per kilogram by RMBO0.70, therefore
causing the overall decrease in the gross profit margin of the king trumpet
mushroom during the Year. As sales volume increased and the unit
selling price decreased, sales revenue from king trumpet mushroom in
2017 rose by approximately RMB10.63 million as compared to that of the
corresponding period of last year, while gross profit margin decreased
from 34.88% for the corresponding period of last year to 28.67% for the
Year.

REARE S
17
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WAZ B DT
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The sales volume of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake
mushroom for the Year decreased by approximately 3,648 tonnes,
primarily because the Group phased out mushroom houses with obsolete
production facilities, which led to drop of the cultivation area for button
mushroom and straw mushroom in Fujian province of China. The
cultivation area of button mushroom decreased from 890,000 sg.m in the
first half of 2016 to 590,000 sg.m in 2017, and that of straw mushroom
shrank from 880,000 sg.m in the first half of 2016 to 790,000 sg.m in
2017, resulting in decline in the production volume of button mushroom
and shiitake mushroom and therefore drop in sales volume. The average
unit selling price per kilogram of button mushroom and straw mushroom
for the Year rose by RMBO0.45 as compared to that of last year and the
average unit selling price per kilogram of the shiitake mushroom segment
was RMB6.78, representing an increase of RMBO0.72 over that of last
year. The unit price of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake
mushroom generally increased by RMB0.36 as compared to that of last
year due to the change of product sales structure. As a result, the sale
revenue of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom in
2017 decreased by RMB15.19 million as compared to that of 2016.

The sales volume of canned food for the Year decreased by approximately
2,909 tonnes, which was primarily attributable to the impact of the
international market, such as the decline in demand for edible fungi
canned food in Russia, Europe and the US, hence resulting in the
decrease in sales volume. The average selling price per kilogram for the
Year increased by RMB1.19 as compared to that of 2016, mainly due to
the improved product quality which pushed up selling price. Due to the
decrease in sales volume and increase in selling price, the revenue from
canned food products in 2017 dropped by RMB10.70 million as compared
to that of 2016.

The sales volume of other processed food products for the Year
decreased by 3,034 tonnes as compared to that of 2016, primarily due
to the drop of market demand for brined mushroom and the decrease in
sales of dried foods this Year. The average unit selling price per kilogram
of brined mushroom for the Year decreased by RMB2.40 as compared
to that of 2016, therefore the revenue from the sales of other processed
food products in 2017 decreased by RMB18.66 million as compared to
that of 2016.

During the Year, the Group placed much effort in building up domestic
channels and establishing new subsidiaries in various regions in the
mainland China, namely Guangdong, Yunnan, Hebei and Heilongjiang
based on the foundation laid out by the subsidiaries in Jiangxi, Xinjiang
and Fujian. We purchased a wide variety of local edible fungi and
vegetables, and sold them all over the country after primary processing.
In 2017, the sales volume from trading through domestic network
was 15,099 tonnes (2016: 17,898 tonnes), representing a decrease of
2,799 tonnes as compared to that of 2016; the revenue amounted to
RMB160.81 million (2016: RMB150.96 million), representing an increase
of approximately RMB9.85 million as compared of that of 2016.

FRELE  BEREHEESRD 43,6480 @ =B
HRAEEAREERERENTERE - BN AF
BEEANEEMNEENEEERE TR - EEE
TEMfE 20164 ¥ EM898 F A XM E2017
FME9EF K BEEEEEMR2016F L+F
HB8EB T H AR E2017TENTIBF XK : &
FREEELZREEEERD BHEEREERD
AEEFENBEFE IS ATHEEBMHALEF L
FARKEQ0LET  BREEBFHBLATHEERE
ARG 78T FHEATHEEERALEF L
FAARO0.727L : ARERBEESBHORE - F
B BEERBEGHEERLEAF EAARK0.36
T HREMBEELERNNE - BFE2017FE
o BEERBHEHEERAL2016F K AR
15,1988 T °

FREBRMEEMDA2,909M - TEIHNE
BEmSTE  REN BXFHNRABERAR
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BRER2016F LA ARK1.197T  TERHNE
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AB2016F RO ARKE10.708ETT

FREMMNTREMHE2016F 5= T [£3,0340F -
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20165 N AR 2.407T » BfF2017FH T
BMmEEWAE2016F NEARK18.66EETT °

FR - AEBMNABRNRBEZEINE > EFET
7 B REREMBARMER L RER -
EZfF N RBEISHHENBAR  BEE
WZeERAR BiXSE - LBYAMILAEHE
AEEEM 2017 FEANREEHEEBNEE
£15,099M8 (2016 F $§ 217,898 ) » 20164
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE D

The Group reinforced its endeavor to develop food trading business in
the international market during the Year, which mainly involves trading of
edible fungi products, fruits, vegetables, canned food and frozen food as
well as edible fungi healthcare products. The sales volume of international
trading of food for the Year increased by 8,598 tonnes as compared to
that of last year, while the unit selling price per kilogram for the Year
decreased by RMB6.33 as compared to that in 2016, which was mainly
because the products sold during the Year were primarily fruit, vegetables
and frozen food with lower value and lower selling prices. As a result of
the increase in sales volume and decrease in unit selling price, revenue
from international trading of food for the Year rose by RMB2.11 million as
compared to that of 2016.

Analysis of gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, gross profit of the Group (before business tax, other
taxes and auxiliary charges) was approximately RMB230.15 million (2016:
RMB278.59 million), and gross profit margin was 21.63% (2016: 25.65%).
In particular, gross profit margin of (I) king trumpet mushroom; (Il) button
mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom; (lll) canned food;
(IV) other processed food products; (V) trading through domestic network;
and (VI) international trading of food was approximately 28.67%, 39.61%,
23.02%, 17.45%, 7.60% and 7.93% respectively (2016: 34.88%, 50.26%,
21.11%, 18.85%, 10.37% and 5.69%).

The sales volume of king trumpet mushroom for the Year uplifted by
approximately 6,077 tonnes as compared to that of 2016, and the average
unit selling price of king trumpet mushroom per kilogram went down by
RMBO0.7 from that of 2016. As a result of offset of the decrease in unit
selling price against the increase in the sales volume, the gross profit
from sales of king trumpet mushroom for the Year dropped by RMB19.43
million as compared to that of 2016. The decline in the gross profit margin
of king trumpet mushroom for the Year was mainly attributable to the
growth of contract farming which drove up the sales volume of king
trumpet mushroom during the Year, while the lower gross profit margin
of contract farming than that of the Group’s own cultivation had dragged
down the gross profit margin of king trumpet mushroom in general,
leading to a decrease in the gross profit margin from 34.88% in 2016 to
28.67% for this Year.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE DT

The sales volume of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake
mushroom for the Year decreased by 3,648 tonnes as compared to that of
2016 and there was an increase in unit cost per kilogram of approximately
RMBO0.42 in 2017 over that in 2016. The primary reasons were the slight
increase in the purchase price of key raw materials for cultivation of
button mushroom and straw mushroom in the market and the higher
unit price of raw materials for cultivation of shiitake mushroom, which
increased the overall unit cost of button mushroom, straw mushroom
and shiitake mushroom. As a result of the increased cost and unit selling
price as well as change in the sales structure of products, gross profit
from sales of button mushroom, straw mushroom and shiitake mushroom
for the Year dropped by RMB26.42 million as compared to that of 2016.
The increase in the average unit selling price of button mushroom, straw
mushroom and shiitake mushroom per kilogram for the Year by RMBO0.36
and increase of average cost per kilogram by RMB0.42 resulted in the
higher increase in costs than selling price, which led to the decrease in
gross profit margin from 50.26% in 2016 to 39.61% for this Year.

Sales volume of the canned food for the Year went down by 2,909 tonnes
as compared to that of 2016, while the cost per kilogram climbed up by
RMBO0.78 over that of 2016, which was mainly attributable to the slight
increase in the cost of raw materials. As the increase in unit selling price
and unit cost offset each other, while the sales volume decreased, the
gross profit of canned food decreased by RMB1.01 million during the Year
as compared to that of 2016. The average unit selling price of canned food
per kilogram for the Year rose by RMB1.19 and the unit cost per kilogram
increased by RMBO0.78, leading to the increase in the gross profit margin
from 21.11% in 2016 to 23.02% in 2017.

The sales volume of other processed food products (including brined
mushroom, dried foods and sparassis crispa) for the Year decreased by
3,034 tonnes as compared to that of 2016, which was mainly attributable
to the decline in sales volume of brined mushroom and dried foods and
the decrease in unit selling price per kilogram of brined mushroom by
RMB2.4 during the Year. Due to the change of product sales structure,
the average unit costs of other processed food increased. As a result
of which, the gross profit from sales of other processed food in 2017
decreased by RMB3.99 million as compared to that of 2016. The gross
profit margin decreased from 18.85% in 2016 to 17.45% for this Year.

The sales volume of the segment of trading through domestic network
for the Year slid down by 2,799 tonnes over that of 2016, which was
mainly attributable to the decline in the sales volume of edible fungi
such as shiro-shimeji and enokitake, and the cost per kilogram increased
by RMB2.28 during the Year as compared to that of 2016, and the unit
selling price per kilogram increased by RMB2.22. As the increase in the
selling price and the increase in the cost per kilogram offset each other,
together with the drop of sales volume had caused, the gross profit from
the trading through domestic network for the Year to decline by RMB3.44
million over that of 2016. The gross profit margin from trading through
domestic network dropped from 10.37% of 2016 to 7.60% for this Year.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE D

The sales volume of international trading of food for the Year increased
by 8,598 tonnes as compared to that of 2016, which was mainly due to
the increase in sales of fresh fruits and vegetables in international trading
of food and the sales of healthcare products with higher profit margin.
Due to the change of product sales structure, the gross profit margin
increased from 5.69% in 2016 to 7.93% in 2017.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily consists of costs of raw materials, direct labour
and the manufacturing overheads. Direct labour cost includes wages
and other compensation payable to workers, while the manufacturing
overheads include depreciation, transportation cost, packaging and
utilities charges. Cost of raw materials constitutes the majority of the cost
of sales and it represented approximately 73.97% of the cost of sales for
the Year (2016: 70.82%).

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our cost of sales for

FAERBREME ZHIHEE 82016 4F L 78,598
W FERAFEBRME FHEERT N E
KR - RSN BFE T SEFNRESR
HEXER  ARHEERLBRENRE  BUEE
FZ 20165 M5.69% EFZE20175FH)7.93% ©
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HERARNEZAEMAAAN « BEE4S T REEMN
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B KERLX o BB AEKHEERKANREKX
o WAEFANHEEK AL 73.97% (2016 4F
70.82%) °

TR BHPIRARFRELEEBFIHERAN

business operation for the years indicated: FRAA -
2017 2016
201745 20164
% of cost % of cost
RMB’000 of sales RMB'000 of sales
{hEHER A G ER A
Aokl ALt
ARETT (%) AR®Tx (%)
Raw materials B
- Cultivation materials — TBEM R 101,736 10.26 101,814 10.03
- Fresh fruit and vegetables — FTEEK R MR 620,414 62.55 602,716 59.38
— Packaging materials — MR 11,513 1.16 14,336 1.41
Direct labour HELT 23,347 2.35 24,282 2.39
Labour subcontracting fee B EREE 16,268 1.64 19,669 1.94
Cultivation overheads EELEMRX 44,492 4.49 41,713 4.11
Manufacturing overheads HERKEMRX 1,358 0.14 5,612 0.55
Change in fair value of EMEERAREBEED
biological assets 172,680 17.41 204,908 20.19
Total 5 991,808 1,015,050
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE DT

The following table sets forth our cost of sales by product categories for
the years indicated:

TREBIHPINPTRERENERBRIE D MHE
B

For the year ended 31 December
BE128318LFE

2017 2016
20174 20165
% of cost % of cost
RMB’000 of sales RMB'000 of sales
{H S E R AN EIHERA
ARBT T Btk (%) AREETIT B L(%)
Fresh edible fungi products FHRRARER
King trumpet mushroom BEpTE 345,608 34.85 340,007 33.50
Button mushroom, straw mushroom — BE%E « 5 K EH
and shiitake mushroom 184,471 18.60 198,510 19.56
Processed food products MIEGR
Canned food ER M 50,380 5.08 60,068 5.91
Other processed food products HEMMTRGR 27,813 2.80 42,482 4.19
Trading of food BERES 383,536 38.67 373,983 36.84
Total HEH 991,808 1,015,050
Other income Hab A

Other income for the Year was approximately RMB12.85 million (2016:
RMB19.16 million) which mainly included (I) interest income; (Il) gain
from foreign exchange; (Ill) government subsidies and rewards; (IV) gains
on disposal of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease
payments; (V) rental income; (VI) income from sales of scrap; and (VII)
others.

The interest income for the Year increased by RMB1.73 million
as compared to that of 2016, primarily due to the increase in time
deposit. The loss from foreign exchange, net of the Group in 2017 was
RMB7.37 million (2016: gain of RMB5.43 million). The decrease was
primarily caused by the depreciation of exchange rate at the end of the
reporting period, which led to the loss from foreign exchange, net upon
translation. Government subsidies and rewards was RMB1.00 million
(2016: RMB1.76 million), representing a decrease of RMBO0.76 million as
compared to that of 2016, which was mainly attributable to the decrease
in government subsidies during the Year as compared to last year.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE D

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs represented the interest on bank borrowing
repayable in full within a year. The Group's finance costs amounted to
RMB560,000 in 2017 (2016: RMB810,000), representing a decrease
of RMB250,000 as compared to that of 2016. The main reason for the
decrease was the diminished interests on other payables as compared to
2016.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense decreased by 5.48% from approximately
RMB3.80 million in 2016 to RMB3.59 million in 2017. The decrease was
mainly due to the decline in the proportion of revenue contributed by the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC which enjoy preferential tax treatment.
The drop of revenue from canned food resulted in decrease in income tax
expense.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for the Year mainly included (I) wages; (ll) transportation
costs; and (lll) advertising and promotion expenses, which increased
to RMB6.15 million for the Year from approximately RMB4.58 million
in 2016. The increase was mainly caused by the newly added segment
of healthcare products by the Group during the Year, which resulted in
increase in the advertising and promotion expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group for the Year were approximately
RMB46.36 million (2016: RMB65.05 million), which mainly included (I)
wages; (Il) equity-settled share-based payments; (lll) professional fee; and
(IV) research and development expenditure.

The decrease in administrative expenses for the Year as compared to
that of 2016 was mainly caused by the recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment of RMB7.43 million (2016: RMB33.51 million),
representing a decrease of RMB26.08 million as compared to that of last
year.

Profit before tax and profit attributable to owners of the Company

During the Year, the Group recorded profit before tax of approximately
RMB187.62 million (2016: RMB225.44 million), representing a slide down
of approximately 16.78%. The Group's profit for the Year attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately RMB184.55 million (2016:
RMB222.09 million), representing a decrease of approximately 16.90%.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE DT

During the Year, net profit of the Group decreased by approximately
RMB37.61 million to approximately RMB184.03 million (2016:
RMB221.64 million); net profit margin was 17.29% (2016: 20.40%),
representing a drop of approximately 3.11%. It was primarily due to
the equity-settled share-based payments of RMB7.43 million (2016:
RMB33.51 million). Excluding the said expenses, net profit of the Group
for the Year would be approximately RMB191.46 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 24.96% as compared to that of 2016, and net
profit margin would be 17.99%.

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Group for the Year
was approximately RMB17.19 cents (2016: RMB21.8 cents (restated)).

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of the Group were
approximately RMB151.26 million (2016: RMB196.65 million). The
decrease was mainly attributable to the Company’s unremitting effort
made in the collection of trade receivables from domestic food trading
and sales of king trumpet mushroom, which resulted in decrease in the
balance of trade receivables.

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2017, deposits, prepayments and other receivables
of the Group were approximately RMB147.47 million (2016: RMB121.87
million), which mainly included (I) land prepayments; (II) deposits; and (1)
prepayments. The overall increase for the Year was mainly attributable to
the increase in other receivables of RMB32.65 million and the decrease in
operating lease prepayments of RMB7.00 million.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2017, the issued share capital of the Company was
US$10.75 million, divided into 1,075,000,000 shares with nominal value
of US$0.01 each. Gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total borrowings by
total equity) was 0.53% (2016: 0.60%) as at 31 December 2017. Current
ratio (calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities) was
23.1 times (2016: 13.7 times) as at 31 December 2017. The Group will
continue to stringently monitor the policy of debt recovery to minimise
the risk of credit sale and ensure timely recovery of capital.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2017, the total bank and cash balances of the Group
were RMB1,056.63 million (2016: RMB1,174.00 million). The Shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 18 June 2015
and the net proceeds raised (net of underwriting commission and the
relevant listing expenses) was approximately RMB444.99 million. As
at 31 December 2017, interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB10.00 million, which had an original due
date of 14 March 2018 but will be postponed to 14 March 2019 upon
renewal of the bank borrowings for one year by the Group.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE D

Exposure to exchange rate risk and related hedge

The subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the PRC are mainly engaged
in business using RMB as their denominating currency, while the Hong
Kong subsidiary of the Group is engaged in business mainly denominated
in USD. The presentation currency of the Group is RMB and the majority
of cash and bank deposits of the Group are denominated in RMB. The
interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are in RMB. In terms of
declaration of dividends, the Company will distribute them in Hong Kong
dollars. The Directors are of the opinion that the exchange rates between
RMB and other currencies are relatively stable and the Group will closely
monitor the exposure to changes in exchange rates, and therefore, it is
not necessary to adopt hedging policy at the moment.

Pledge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2017, machineries and facilities with a net value of
RMB19.33 million had been pledged as a security of a bank borrowing
(2016: RMB22.13 million).

Capital commitments and operating leases commitments

As at 31 December 2017, capital commitments of the Group contracted
but not provided were approximately RMB72.85 million (2016: RMB75.48
million). As at 31 December 2017, operating leases commitments of
the Group in respect of lands, buildings and other properties were
approximately RMB13.10 million (2016: RMB54.55 million).

Employee benefits and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 641 employees in total (2016:
654). The remunerations of employees of the Group were determined
according to their experience and qualifications, operating results
of the Group and the market condition. During the Year, staff costs,
including directors’ emoluments, were approximately RMB44.09 million
(2016: RMB69.58 million). During the Year, staff costs accounted for
approximately 4.14% of the Group's revenue (2016: 6.41%).

The Group adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) on 27 May 2015. On 17 June 2015, the Group granted
share options to certain eligible individuals to subscribe for 25 million
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each of the Company pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme adopted on 27 May 2015.

The Group adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme")
on 27 May 2015. On 31 March 2016, the Group granted share options
to certain eligible individuals to subscribe for 25 million ordinary shares
of US$0.01 each of the Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
adopted on 27 May 2015.
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Pursuant to the PRC's social security regulations, the Group participated
in the social security scheme operated by the related local government
authority which oversees pensions, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, work injury insurance and maternity insurance.

Directors’ rights to subscribe for shares or debentures

Apart from the share options for ordinary shares granted to certain
Directors and employees of the Company on 17 June 2015 and 31
March 2016, the Company or any of its subsidiaries did not have any
arrangements which enabled the Directors to gain profit by purchasing
the shares or debt securities, including debentures, of the Company or of
any other legal entities.

Significant investment held

During the Year, the Group has completed the acquisitions of the entire
equity interest in Zhao Hong and Lucky Max, at the consideration of
RMB180.2 million and RMB194.2 million, respectively.

The consideration of Zhao Hong of RMB180.2 million shall be settled by
a combination of cash consideration of RMB170.6 million and the issue
of 8,889,568 shares at the issue price of HK$1.33 (being the closing price
of the date of the transaction approved by the Board of the Company),
calculated based on the average exchange rate of RMB0.8458 to 1 Hong
Kong dollars at the People’s Bank of China on the date of the transaction
approved by the Board of the Company; the consideration of Lucky Max of
RMB194.2 million shall be settled by a combination of cash consideration
of RMB179.8 million and the issue of 13,334,353 shares at the issue
price of HK$1.33 (being the closing price of the date of the transaction
approved by the Board of the Company), calculated based on the average
exchange rate of RMBO0.8458 to 1 Hong Kong dollars at the People’s
Bank of China on the date of the transaction approved by the Board of the
Company.

Upon the completion of the acquisition, Zhao Hong became the subsidiary
of the Company; therefore, the Company holds 86% equity interests in
Zhangzhou Changfeng, which is held by Zhao Hong, upon the completion
of the acquisition.

Upon the completion of the acquisition, Lucky Max became the subsidiary
of the Company; therefore, the Company holds 48.7% equity interests in
Guangxi Jiabao, which is held by Lucky Max, upon the completion of the
acquisition.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
BB WE D

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Dividends

The Board recommended not to declare any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the listing securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, disposed
of or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
Year.

Model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuer

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they had
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during
the Year.
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Profile of Edible Fungi Products for General Healthcare
RAEARRERBERBN

CAMBO SERIES:
BERT

ECONB ® E#E

Zero burden on livers o0& iE
ECONB adopts the most sophisticated ultrafine 25 B PR AR B 2R S O TR D R
powder technology to crush ganoderma B S EATZMNEIM
amboinense into powders of 3 micrometers Ko R B B-D-f B EE
and thus enables full release of active B2ERIFURAD - BEHN
ingredients such as 3 -D-glucan and ganoderma AR - B - BATRZH
TH lucidum polysaccharide, which are easier to RN F 2 B HRH-26)5E X &
B be absorbed into human bodies. In particular, Bo - RAMATEARARES
s the perfect combination of ganoderma lucidum ﬁgﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁ; ' F%H*E?EJZEE '
. E o M polysaccharide powders and ginsenoside RH-2 REMR - 2R ARKHKEE -
i (e} O can gently supplements human bodies with
{?}E ; O necessary nutrition to effectively detoxify
£ mﬁ.ﬁ o livers, reduce fat and stress, improve sleeping
"— o z quality and boost metabolism.
prox o
:_’g

FUSION ¢ 3E#&1l

An elixir that activates cells and strengthens BRI R E o BBy
immune system

FUSION adopts advanced 3-step technologies ‘A AT AKREYESE

to concentrate six biological essences, namely It BRELARAKEEREAE
top-grade original ganoderma amboinense, ZOMABRTE  WwICHEE - L
royal jelly, lycium chinense essence, Chinese @ MERKBBERNEERESER
yam, yeast and ophiocordyceps sinensis BENLREE  getERRK
cultivated with black ants that are exclusive =Eah il RAEAPEEEREKL
in Japan, with golden ratios. Adhering to the " HRIE - SEEIITEARR A
principle of “a major medicine supported EIERBUBER o

by complementary medicines” in Chinese

medicine, FUSION can be slowly released and Bi5IR A eeigo AR

dissolved into human bodies. S& S FEHR

R - E( A
Continuous taking of it can strengthen immune f o
system, improve metabolism and activate &
cells.
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RAEAREEREEREN
COLLAGEN ESSENCE °* BEfEE
Wipes out wrinkles and other aging signs to make WREAISE > BEEER
your skin like a baby’s
e Improves skin conditions: promotes e WEEE : REZtARFERS
regeneration and synthesis of aging cells to help K MEFTL ©
skin renewal.
e Strengthens joints: increases bone density and o SR{LEARD - MBERE - ERERL
alleviates osteoarthritis to stay young. RN A - RIFFEREE o
s ] |
e Elastic blood vessels: accelerates the o SEHME : MIRIEBEFERRE -
- metabolism of and increases the elasticity HoamE RS - FEME - Bk
%}:y of blood vessel walls, and prevents W o
L'%"' arteriosclerosis.
T 0L LAGE DN Each granule of COLLAGEN ESSENCE contains 95% SHBRREES20B%aABEREES -
i \ '{"‘E of fish scale collagen. Studies have shown that 70% MRER S ABMEREFBREHE70%
sty £ of collagen fibers in human blood vessel walls are HBREAARK  #ReRENBREA
f'l'f;'_': b composed of collagen. Supplementing sufficient B ETE  HRNEEN - BETE
' collagen can delay aging, improve skin elasticity, IE - REFRRE o
repair damaged blood vessels and boost metabolism.
LACTOBACILLUS * =R
The first lactic acid bacterium collagen in the world PHRERABREBERER
After 1,120 days of research experiments, our team i\fﬂ‘g’%g?\%% ’Fﬁf@ﬂmi
of authoritative experts from all over the world proved BB E B 2 IBREERERESE S
that fermenting lactic acid bacteria in collagen can ECE%@?_ HZE)ZE’JH%EJ?%%M
produce collagen peptides, which can activate and W%f%i7§?L@X%7§"E ’ Hﬂjﬁﬁ CAMBO
double the activity of lactic acid bacteria and facilitate Aﬁiijﬂgﬁﬁ ‘i;_'lﬁ"] W”& ° *)# o B
the absorption of collagen into human bodies. Each ﬁﬁ‘ = €3; ‘-8/151?}@?%?7 i .
tablet of LACTOBACILLUS contains 3.18 billion lactic | H£AAEEEE @& 7R %8 ¢ f
acid bacteria molecules. Over 95% of good bacteria E%USEE’:/OBL ’ Ewﬁ?j’\ﬁﬁﬂ% ’ 1l K X
can survive after entering the intestine, which can REBBMmS - RIFGERERE - o &
excrete intestinal toxins and stimulate gastrointestinal 8
motility to maintain intestinal health.
LACTORAC LUSER
HET R
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Profile of Edible Fungi Products for General Healthcare

RABRARERBERBGN

520 INTERNATIONAL SERIES:

520BK A5

HES

Activates cells and strengthens the immune HURAME R R®E

system

It contains the concentrates of six nutritional ;)%ﬁﬁj(%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%(@ﬁ]

ingredients, namely ganoderma amboinense BE2HEE %E‘;EE :

essence, ophiocordyceps sinensis, lycium migF - L% B

chinense fruits, Chinese yam, yeast and royal B BIR)  HRRE

jelly, which help enhance immunity and activate PEfbffﬁJ C B

body functions, such as strengthening the ig@NK‘éﬁﬂﬂ@%%%

killing mechanism of NK cells, facilitating the il ' fﬁi’iE%%ﬁi

proliferation and activation of macrophages, and H@ bE NoEAE

enhancing immunity. REABRET -

Safe and reliable active lactic acid bacteria EMIBE ZEA 5
i
=
;E‘: bl It contains scale collagen of fishes from selected BREBAFKENASBRE
3 pure water, which is pure, unpolluted, fat-free and BooaE s mys s BRERY -
- co— - . [P - A e N s
- ’é decomposable. It injects vitality into human bodies SO - BARE N > ERE
- H and stimulates the growth of gastrointestinal EREREE SRBERR -
» 1 :_'_. probiotics to cure intestinal problems and rejuvenate BEEEE - HEYE -
!E 7T . = the skin by facilitating detoxification.

The best and the most considerate prescription for ES S FEEMRNIF
your liver

It is a kind of plant capsules containing ganoderma BEAEEZEYMBEE.100%
amboinense and is shelled with 100% corn endosperm EARMIBEIINK, RES
to protect stomach from irritation. It helps relieve ERTRE - BREOIER S
psychological and physical stress by soothing the nerves BEH BFLE NEE
and improving sleeping quality, and is effective in alleviation R - RERBEHT - #AFHE
of alcoholic liver injury by liver detoxification, regulating = A ERE RS
body metabolism and restoring liver's vitality. EES -
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Profile of Edible Fungi Products for General Healthcare R
RARAREREEREBN

MR

A hydra booster to rejuvenate your skin KEEE MR E

It contains plant collagen extracted with the latest HAZIENTIRE - b8

technologies, which is more pure and easier to absorb EEEMAF - R - R

than animal collagen. It helps people stay young by ABBRESBAE - @t

promoting the regeneration of collagen in human B IRFFFEMRRE - IHER

bodies and strengthening joints. Continuous taking A EESmHE T

of it can result in smooth and translucent skin like a BabyMl °

baby's.

i Get rid of exhaustion and look beautiful EBEHS AEXHER

a

It helps reduce fatigue and is effective in improving BEEE - REMBEH KB

skin conditions by preventing skin aging, fading facial HEL EEETHNENE
spots and pigments, enhancing the quality of sexual = EsMAREs  Faph
life as well as preventing colds and flus. TR ©

H_F

Activates cells and supplements daily energy needs BUERREE WA AERN

It helps reduce work fatigue so that a man does B TER Y ~ kA RFERME
not feel powerless night and day. It is designed for EHAMOBIREIE - RIS S
reducing sexual exhaustion, enhancing the quality of EHRERES REaM4aEE
sexual life as well as improving concentration and work 2 REEFHINMIENE -
intensity.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Zheng Songhui ($21%), aged 55, is the founder of the Group.
Mr. Zheng is the chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer and
an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zheng was appointed as a
Director of the Company on 28 March 2011. Mr. Zheng also currently
holds directorship in each of the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Zheng is the chairman of the nomination committee and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Zheng is in charge of
the overall operations and development strategy and overseeing internal
control of the Group. Mr. Zheng founded the Group in November 1995
when he established our first operating subsidiary, Fujian Greenfresh
Foods Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Zheng has around 20 years of experience
in fresh and processed food industry. Mr. Zheng was awarded Asia
Top 10 Innovation Personality (38 MG+ K&IFT A %) by Asia Brand
Ceremony (G2 H) in September 2009; China Outstanding
Innovation Entrepreneur (FEBIEFAIFTZR) jointly by China Private
Entrepreneur Association (FEIRZE®¥K%HE) and China Academy
of Science Information Consulting Center (FR BRI (= 834 0) in
August 2010; Outstanding Entrepreneur in the PRC (R B H D ER) by
China Economy And Trade Promotion Association (F1 B4 EE 512 €)
in January 2011; and was recognised as an intermediate engineer of food
processing by the Office of Human Resources Development of Fujian
Province ({8&%& ANEIRFEIAE) and the Public Servant Bureau of
Fujian Province ({8324 AT E /) in July 2011. Moreover, Mr. Zheng was
awarded Outstand Talent (855 A7) by the government of Zhangzhou (&
T ARBE) in 2012; was elected as the vice chairperson of Industrial
Sub-committee of China Edible Fungi Association (FEEHAEHE T
L EFEZE ) in 2013; and was appointed as the leading talent of
technology entrepreneurship of Fujian province (f&8& BRI AIZEEE A
7) by the talent working committee of Fujian Provincial Committee of
Communist Party of the PRC (FF @2 EAZ A4 T4H%EE /\H) in October
2014. In addition, Mr. Zheng is also a member of the China Edible
Fungi Association (RFEIEAE &), vice director of China Canned Food
Association (FBIfESE# ), vice chairman of Fujian Edible Fungi Industry
Association (fB2EARAETTXHE), standing member of Fujian Edible
Fungi Institute (FBEARAEEE) and standing director of Fujian Food
Industry Association (fBEERmIFEWHE). Mr. Zheng graduated with
a bachelor degree in earth study from Fujian Agriculture and Forestry
University ({82 2#KE) (formerly known as Fujian Agriculture Institute
(fB2/Z2P8)) in July 1984. Mr. Zheng was admitted to a program of
executive master of business administration at Xiamen University in July
2007.

Mr. Zheng Tianming (¥/°XF), aged 49, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Zheng was appointed as a Director of the Company on
4 February 2013. Mr. Zheng has joined the Group since its inception in
November 1995 and has since then been assisting Mr. Zheng Songhui in
the development of the Group by taking an active part in the production
and operation of the Group. Mr. Zheng graduated from the Open
University of China (FREEERAEZ) in July 2013 with a certificate in
Business Administration (majoring in sales and marketing).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. Zheng Ruyan (E8403#), aged 43, is an executive Director, the vice
president, the chief financial officer and joint company secretary of the
Company and is responsible for the daily operation of the Group. She
was appointed as a Director of the Company on 4 February 2013. Ms.
Zheng obtained the certificate of Certified Internal Auditor issued by
China Institute of Internal Auditors (FREIAEEZETATIHE). Ms. Zheng
has over 22 years of experience in auditing, accounting consultancy and
financial management. From December 1995 to November 2006, she
was responsible for the internal auditing management of the internal
units of Huadian Fujian Power Generation Company Limited (now known
as Huadian Fuxin Energy Corporation Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 816)). From December 2006 to December
2011, Ms. Zheng had been the vice president of Changfeng Axle (China)
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1039) responsible for financial management, corporate management,
human resources and administration management. Ms. Zheng obtained a
master degree in accounting from Xiamen University (BT KE).

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhang Lin (5R#f), aged 49, is a non-executive Director of the
Company. Ms. Zhang was appointed as a Director of the Company on
4 February 2013. Ms. Zhang is currently the deputy general manager of
COFCO Agricultural Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.
and continues to serve as the secretary of the board and the general legal
counsel of COFCO Agricultural Industrial Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.. She has been working in China Oil & Foodstuffs Corporation
and its affiliated companies for more than 23 years since April 1994. Ms.
Zhang graduated from Shanghai Maritime University (/&85 K£) with
a bachelor degree and a master degree, both of international economics
law, in July 1991 and April 1994 respectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Hing Keung, Thomas (2 #5%), aged 55, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company appointed on 27 May 2015. Mr. Mak is
the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Mak obtained a bachelor degree of
commerce from Queen’s University, Canada. Mr. Mak is a member of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Mak is currently
the chief financial officer of Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1039). Mr. Mak is also
the non-executive director of Huge China Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 428) and an independent non-
executive director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 573). From 26 May 2015 to 17 July 2017,
Mr. Mak was the executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8147).
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Mr. Mak has over 25 years of corporate finance and accounting
experience in Hong Kong and overseas. Mr. Mak has been the chief
financial officer and company secretary in various listed companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and private companies. Mr.
Mak also worked for the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange and an
investment bank from 1997 to 2000 and 2000 to 2001, respectively. Mr.
Mak also worked in an international accounting firm in their Hong Kong,
Singapore and Canada offices for over 7 years.

Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung (1555, aged 44, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company appointed on 27 May 2015. Mr. Lou
is a member of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Lou is qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in December
2002 and has over 15 years of experience in legal field. From August 2012
to November 2013, Mr. Lou was the legal manager of Acer Incorporated
(ZERMHBRAR). Mr. Lou was the chief legal officer of TransAsia
Airways Corporation ({8 EfinZ= @@ DHRR A R]) from December 2013
to April 2016. Mr. Lou was appointed as the senior consultant of Lin &
Partners, Attorneys-at-Law in Taipei, Taiwan, since 1 June 2016. Mr.
Lou obtained a bachelor degree in foreign languages and literature from
National Taiwan University (£ /& X2) in June 1995 and a bachelor of arts
in jurisprudence from Oxford University in August 2000. Mr. Lou obtained
a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the City University of Hong Kong
in July 2000 and a master of laws from Northwestern University School of
Law (FAdER22) in June 2004.

Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung (¥[B%5), aged 41, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company appointed on 27 May 2015. Mr. Cheng is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Cheng is
currently a production manager of Hong Kong Rainigrace Agricultural
Science Group Holding Company Limited (B/&:2/ 2RI EBEEAR A
Al) which he has joined since November 2014. He worked as production
manager in Epicurean and Company (Hong Kong) Limited from April
2013 to October 2014, production manager of City Super Limited from
September 2009 to March 2013, assistant production manager in Original
Taste Workshop Ltd (JRERRIEBMR A F]) from February 2007 to June
2009. From April 2004 to November 2006, Mr. Cheng worked in the
Hung Fook Tong (China) Development Limited, which was a subsidiary
company of Hung Fook Tong Holdings (&= % ). Mr. Cheng has over
10 years of experience in food testing and quality control industry. Mr.
Cheng obtained basic food hygiene certificate for hygiene managers by
School of Continuing and Professional Education, City University of Hong
Kong in October 2008, and was awarded “level 2 award in food safety in
catering” by Chartered Institute of Environmental Health in September
2008. Mr. Cheng completed food safety management systems auditor —
lead auditor training course in April 2008. Mr. Cheng obtained a bachelor
degree of science majoring in applied chemistry from Hong Kong Baptist
University in December 2000.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wei Hao (f£2), aged 39, is the vice president of the Company.
Mr. Wei joined the Group in January 2016, who is responsible for
businesses such as strategic planning, marketing planning, investment
analysis. Before joining the Group, Mr. Wei served as a reporter at Xiamen
TV from 1999 to 2009 and was engaged in reporting “three-dimensional
rural issues” in a long term. He was an assistant to the president of
Fujian Minneng Group ({82 8EEE) from 2009 to 2011 and the general
manager of Xiamen Bohui Financial Guarantee Limited (EFIBERE
ERBMRAF]) from 2011 to 2013. He has accumulated experiences
of operation management, investment planning and marketing
advertisement.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Zheng Ruyan (£f207%), as to the biographical details of Ms. Zheng
Ruyan, please refer to “Executive Directors” of this section.

Ms. Ng Wing Shan (2 73f), was appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on 28 November 2014. Ms. Ng is an assistant
vice president of SW Corporate Services Group Limited and is responsible
for assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial
work. She has over 10 years of professional experience in the company
secretarial field. Ms. Ng is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERMSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules as its own code on corporate governance practices. The
Board will review the corporate governance practices from time to time
and update as appropriate to align with the CG Code. Continuous efforts
are made to review and enhance the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures in light of changes in regulations
and developments in best practices. The Company has complied with the
code provisions in the CG Code during the Year, unless otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct governing Directors’
securities transactions. All Directors, following specific enquiry by the
Company, have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

The members of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
report are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 76. Each of the
Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years, as stipulated by
the CG Code. As such, the Company considers that such provisions are
sufficient to meet the intent of the relevant provisions of the CG Code.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years in accordance with the Company's articles of association. Mr.
Zheng Tianming, Ms. Zheng Ruyan and Ms. Zhang Lin, who are Directors,
will retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the Year, the Company held four Board meetings and one general
meeting. Details of attendance of Directors at the general meeting and
Board meetings during the Year are set out in the table below:

ExEERRRRAE

RAFERN  ARRHABTHRESTSEEHE X
—RERRE REERAFEAHERERERRS
REEEERZFHBEHN TR

General Meeting Board Meeting
BRERRE EEEER
Number of Number of
meetings meetings
Attendance held Attendance held
Name of Director EENA HERE SERBITRH EERE EREITRK
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zheng Songhui (Chairman) ERIAIB S () 1 1 4 4
Mr. Zheng Tianming Bl KRR S A 1 1 4 4
Ms. Zheng Ruyan Py g 1 1 4 4
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Zhang Lin SRtz + 0 1 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors B EHTESE
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas B Eog & 1 1 4 4
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BEELE 1 1 4 4
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BRREE B8 ST A 1 1 4 4

SEPARATE ROLE OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Zheng Songhui, the Chairman of
the Board, is also acting as the chief executive officer of the Company.
The Board believes that vesting Mr. Zheng Songhui’s roles of both
the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current
Board which comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with
sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.
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OPERATIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board determines the mission and broad strategies of the Company,
monitors and controls operating and financial performance and sets
appropriate policies to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic
objectives. Decisions involving financial statements, dividend policy,
material contracts and major investments and divestments are reviewed
and subject to approval by the Board. Other main roles of the Board are
to review the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance
and to ensure that adequate risk management and internal control
systems and management information systems are in place, including
being in compliance with every aspect of the provisions of applicable
laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines to create value for the
Shareholders and to ensure that the Company has adequate management
to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group’s businesses to management of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Where appropriate, decisions are also taken by way of circulated
resolutions. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at least four
times per year. Notice of at least fourteen days should be given of a
regular Board meeting to all Directors. For all other Board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given. Agenda and all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least three days
before each Board meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them
to make informed decisions.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries and internal auditors of the Company, and upon reasonable
request, independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company's expense.

Independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company
received confirmation of independence from each of the independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs") pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. During the Year, the Company considers that the INEDs
continue to be independent.
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Relationship Among Members of the Board

There is no relationship among members of the Board in respect of
financial, business, family or other material relationship.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Each of the Directors has adhered to his or her responsibilities as a
Director of the Company and keeps pace with the operation, business
activities and development of the Company. Directors are provided
with the latest information on regulatory and governance developments
ongoingly. Directors are encouraged to participate in professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

During the Year, all Directors namely, Mr. Zheng Songhui, Mr. Zheng
Tianming, Ms. Zheng Ruyan, Ms. Zhang Lin, Mr. Mak Hing Keung
Thomas, Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung and Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung received
regular briefings and updates on the Group’s business, operations, risk
management and corporate governance matters. Materials on new or
changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the Group were
provided to the Directors. They also attended regulatory update sessions
and seminars on relevant topics. All Directors are requested to provide
the Company with their respective training record pursuant to the CG
Code.

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, during
the Year, each of Directors has attended continuous professional
development programmes as follows:

ESENEZHNER

BEECHYEME - X% KEIEHMCERE
& o

ESRIIRSESERRE

BREFUETERARRBEEZAEM  LHERK
REZRE  EBEPRBERZMLE - EFH
BRIRERERBRIENEN - ARFAEHE
EE2HIXERIABLATE  RBERREHR
HAB B -
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£ B L R BERELE BF
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GPXBEBEEER GO ZE2E - RETHERR
EHEERENRIERM TS - REBEEEERST
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RBEEERTAZTRGXEALLE  RER
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Type of Training

Name of Director EEHA b= stid
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zheng Songhui ERIARE ST A& A-B
Mr. Zheng Tianming ERARSE A& AB
Ms. Zheng Ruyan Bt A-B
Non-executive Director FHITES

Ms. Zhang Lin SR#k 2+ A-B
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES

Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas RS ST A-B
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung BESEE A-B
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BB LA A-B

A: Attending seminars/courses/conferences and developing professional skills and knowledge
B: Reading the latest regulatory information

A HEFHERE ERRREEERERAN
B: MMBIEEAN
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other. They are subject to retirement by rotation at
the annual general meeting pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company and the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, three Board committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee
oversaw particular aspects of the Company’s affairs pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The majority of members of Board
committees are INEDs.

These three committees are established by the Company with defined
written terms of reference, approved by the Board, which set out these
committees’ major duties. The terms of reference of these committees
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of Board member
diversification to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view
to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
is of the view that increasing diversity at the Board level as one of the
essential elements in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’'s composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee is delegated by the
Board to review the structure, size and composition of the Board annually,
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
ensure its effectiveness.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Company pursuant
to a resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms
of reference in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code which
deal clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board on its policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management, as well as
to recommend the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment. During the Year,
the Remuneration Committee comprises the INEDs Mr. Cheng Hiu
Yung and Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, and the executive Director Mr.
Zheng Songhui. The INED, Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung, is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under code
provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to recommend to the Board, with
delegated responsibility and authorisation by the Board, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management of the
Company.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held by the
Company. The individual attendance of each member was as follows:

FNEES
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Number of meetings

held/

attendance

BOSERE

Name of committee members ZEBREHA IR E
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung (Chairman) BB L (F/FE) 17
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas HEE A 1/1
Mr. Zheng Songhui BRI ST A 171

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year:

e recommended to the Board the Directors’ fees for the year ended 31
December 2017 for the approval of Shareholders;

e reviewed the Share Option Scheme; and

e reviewed the employee’s remuneration policy.

THAFMEZEESHRAFTFEZ TIERE :

o BMEZE2017F12A3MBIFEZEE A
MESSERES - AERRERLE

o MIBRENE: &

o IBFRIETIZEHMIBE -

PEIGEEBARAR | 2017 &

41



Corporate Governance Report
CEEARE

Level and Make-up of Remuneration

The Group's remuneration scheme for executive Directors and senior
management is established based on performance, service seniority,
experience and scope of responsibility, which are reviewed from time
to time to align with requirements under the Group’'s human resource
manual and market/industry practices.

The level of remuneration of non-executive Directors reflects the level of
responsibilities undertaken by them.

The fees of Directors, including non-executive Directors, are
recommended by the Board and approved by Shareholders at the
Company’s annual general meeting.

COMPENSATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive
compensation in the form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary
bonuses related to the performance of the Company. The Company
also reimburse them for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably
incurred for providing services to the Company or executing their
functions in relation to the operations of the Company.

During the Year, the details of the emoluments of the Directors are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the Year, the remuneration of the senior management of the
Company (excluding Directors) is within the following ranges:

FEKFEREE

AEEHRTEERSEERRE HHBIZER
B BRBFEE KRLBEXSEETE  YRE
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Number of people

A#

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (approximately RMB866,000)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company pursuant to
a resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirement of the CG Code which deal
clearly with its authority and duties.

The principal role and functions of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board, and to review the independence of
INEDs, the suitability of Directors who will stand for re-election and
Directors’ continuous training and development programme. During the
Year, the Nomination Committee comprises the executive Director Mr.
Zheng Songhui, the INEDs Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung and Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-
sung. The executive Director Mr. Zheng Songhui, is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee had met
and proposed the re-election of retiring Directors Mr. Zheng Tianming,
Ms. Zheng Ruyan and Ms. Zhang Lin at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held by the
Company. The individual attendance of each member is as follows:

E’%‘ﬁ A ARBHRBITT

RAFHEH  REZBECRTIALEAR
EEARRARFAFAS FEEREIEFHRH

A BIFE R KR AL o

—RRREREEES
BRI E R Z ERE ST

Number of meetings

held/

attendance

BITEBRE

Name of committee members ZEERENA H R E
Mr. Zheng Songhui (Chairman) BUAE A () ”n
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung B S mnm
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung EEESLE il

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

e reviewed the structure, size and composition as well as diversity
policy for the Board members (including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, skills,
knowledge, professional experience, competences, length of
service, and the balance between executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive Directors) and is of the view that there is
an appropriate and diverse mix of skills and experience;

e reviewed the independence of INEDs; it also confirmed that all INEDs
are considered independent;

e reviewed the continuous training and development programs
undertaken by Directors and confirmed that an appropriate program
is in place; and

e  considered the retirement and re-election of the Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established by the Company pursuant to a

resolution of the Board on 27 May 2015 with specific written terms of

reference in accordance with the requirement of the CG Code which deal
clearly with its authority and duties.
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The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee comprises
overseeing the financial reporting process and assessing the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company. The Audit Committee meets with the Company's
external and internal auditors, and reviews their audit plans, the internal
audit programmes, and the results of their examinations as well as their
evaluations of the risk management and internal control systems. It also
reviews Directors’ interests in contracts and connected transactions.
The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s and the Company's financial
statements and the auditor’s report thereon and submits its views to
the Board. During the Year, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Mak
Hing Keung Thomas, Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung and Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung,
all of whom are INEDs. The INED, Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas, is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held by the
Company. The individual attendance of each member was as follows:
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Number of meetings

held/

attendance

BITEBRE

Name of committee members ZESHREHR HERE
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas (Chairman) BEBIE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung BB LA 2/2
Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung EBESEE 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

e reviewed the audited annual results, consolidated financial
statements and the independent auditor’s report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2016;

e reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group;

e reviewed the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2017;

e reviewed the appropriateness of the Group's accounting policies;
e reviewed at various times the potential impact of the generally
accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong on the Company’s

accounts;

e reviewed the nature and scope of external audit and approved the
external audit fee;
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e reviewed adequacy of resources, qualifications and experiences of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes; and

e reviewed connected transactions entered into by the Group or
subsisting during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARING THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the Year. There are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 97 to 99 of this annual report.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Ms. Ng Wing Shan, the assistant vice
president of SW Corporate Services Group Limited, as its joint company
secretary. Her primary corporate contact person at the Company is Ms.
Zheng Ruyan, the other joint company secretary and an executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Ng Wing Shan and Ms. Zheng Ruyan had taken the
relevant professional trainings for no less than 15 hours during the Year in
accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee of the Group on the audit and non-audit scope, paid or payable
to the auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
auditor of the Group, RSM Hong Kong, were as follows:

— audit service RMB980,000
— non-audit services' RMB430,000
1: The non-audit service mainly included the review service of the Group’'s 2017 interim

financial information.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance functions,
which primarily includes the followings:

a. developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, and make recommendations to the Board;

b. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

c. reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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d. developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

e. reviewing the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in the annual report of
the Company.

During the Year, the Board has performed the above corporate
governance functions.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility on maintaining sound risk
management and internal control systems to protect the Shareholders’
interest. The internal control system of the Group was established for
enhancing the effectiveness and efficiency in operations, safeguarding
assets against any unauthorised use and disposition and ensuring the
maintenance of proper accounting records and the truth and fairness
of the financial statements as well as the compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy setting out principles
and procedures for the Directors, employees of the Company and other
persons having business relationships with the Company to report
suspected improprieties and misconducts in a fair and proper manner.
Pursuant to which, employees may raise their concerns either verbally
or in writing to the chairman of the Audit Committee or the chairman
of the Board. Upon receipt of disclosure, the chairman of the Board or
such other persons as designated by the chairman of Audit Committee or
the Audit Committee shall discuss the reporting matters with the Audit
Committee and determine whether any further investigation is needed. If
it is considered necessary, the chairman of the Audit Committee or such
other persons as designated by the Audit Committee shall be in charge to
conduct such investigation for misconduct and the results of which shall
be reported to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board on the necessary actions to be taken
based on the investigation results. In the event that the Audit Committee
is involved in the investigation, results of such investigation shall be
reported to the chairman of the Board. Such reporting matters shall be
passed to the relevant authorities for further actions if there is evidence
of possible criminal offences.
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The Board undertakes its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and has delegated the Audit Committee to be in
charge of reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems.

In performing relevant duties, the Audit Committee, with the assistance
of the Group’s Internal Audit Department (the “Internal Audit
Department”), ensures that the management are immediately informed
regarding the new risks of the Group; assesses whether the action
plans and control systems established for such risks are necessary; and
oversees the implementation of action plans and the effectiveness of the
control systems. These procedures have been in place and will be carried
out on an on-going basis with a regular review by the Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Internal Audit Department has conducted reviews
on internal control of various important areas, including financial control,
operational control and compliance control so as to minimise the overall
business and operational exposure of the Group. In addition, crisis
management plans have been created for timely and proper responses
to any sudden event affecting consumers’ confidence in the Group. The
Internal Audit Department submitted the report on internal control to
the Audit Committee for review, the audit results and recommendations
therein were discussed at the Audit Committee meetings and Board
meetings. During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the internal
review comments made for the risks associated with internal control and
the effectiveness of risk management of the Company every half year and
reported major issues to the Board.

During the Year, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee,
has conducted the annual review on the Group's risk management and
internal control systems and considers that such systems are necessary
and effective. The Board and the Audit Committee believes that the
Group's risk management and internal control systems are reasonably
and effectively implemented in the key areas. The Board also explains
that such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

INSIDE INFORMATION MANAGEMENT

The Company strictly implements inside information and insider
management according to the regulatory requirements of the place
of listing and the Company’s requirements to ensure the collection,
transmission, organization, preparation and disclosure of such information
are in compliance with laws and regulations. During the Year, the
Company continued to strengthen the confidentiality management of
inside information, arrange registration and filing of insiders, and conduct
self-checking on insider trading on a regular basis. After such self-
checking, the Company was not aware of any insiders who trade shares
of the Company using inside information during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS
Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the head office
or the Office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one member of the Company which is a recognised
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the head office or the Office. The written requisition
must (i) specify the objects of the extraordinary general meeting and (ii)
must be signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the
date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or
any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Directors provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all expenses reasonably incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board of Directors shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings

There are no provisions allowing the Shareholders to put forward
proposals at the general meeting under the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company or under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. If the Shareholders wish to do so, they may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting.

The procedure for a shareholder of the Company to propose a person for
election as a Director is posted on the website of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These
include annual general meeting, annual report, interim report, various
notices, announcements and circulars.

The Company shall communicate other information to shareholders
on a need basis by way of announcement which will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange. Other than annual general meeting,
extraordinary general meeting shall be held pursuant to relevant rules and
regulations if required. Shareholders shall receive explanatory circulars
and proxy forms relating to the general meetings. Proxy arrangements
for the general meetings are in place for shareholders who are unable to
attend the meetings in person.

Shareholders and the investment community may make a request for
the Company’s information to the extent such information is publicly
available or send their enquiries to the Board in writing by email to
service@greenfresh.com or by addressing their enquiries to the Board in
the following manners: The Board of China Greenfresh Group Co., Ltd.
at 18/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or
8th Floor, Building No. 10, Guanyinshan Business Center, Siming District,
Xiamen, China.

AMENDMENTS TO THE MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATIONS

The Company did not make any amendments to its memorandum and
articles of association during the Year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to enhance communication between the Company and investors/
analysts, senior management will hold meetings with investors/analysts
upon request as and when the need arises.

Investors are welcome to send email directly to the Company’s email at
service@greenfresh.com or browse the Company's website for the latest
release and financial information.
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1

2

CORPORATE PROFILE

1.1.1

1.1.2

Established in 1995, China Greenfresh Co., Ltd. (hereinafter
referred to “China Greenfresh” or the “Group”) is an integrated
supplier of edible fungi products. China Greenfresh adopts a
vertically integrated model from cultivation to the manufacturing
of edible fungi. The Group’s main products include King
Trumpet Mushroom, Common Cultivated Mushroom and
Button Mushroom. In addition to edible fungi production, China
Greenfresh also engages in the manufacturing of processed
food, such as canned edible fungi, canned vegetables and
canned fruits.

The Group has achieved a large scale of automatic, mechanized,
and streamlined edible fungi production, and taken the
leading position of the industry. Aiming at the global market,
China Greenfresh proactively employs world-wide advanced
processing technology for edible fungi production, and
successfully discovers the added value of mushroom industry.
The Group has established business relationships with countries
such as Japan and Singapore, and been focusing on researching
healthcare products, and forming a diversified industry chain.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

2.1

2.2

REPORTING SCOPE

2.1.1 This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report
is the second report published by China Greenfresh on
social responsibility to disclose the corporate sustainable
development strategies and contributions, and open to
public supervision on its ESG matters.

2.12 Unless otherwise stated, this report is consistent with the

period of the annual report, covering the environmental and

social performances of China Greenfresh in 2017 financial

year (i.e. 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017).

213 This report covers business scopes of all of China

Greenfresh’s manufacturing plants, which are located at

Fujian, Hebei Pingquan, Jiangsu Changzhou. The Group's

oversea business is not included in the report since the

environmental and social impacts are not significant.

REPORTING STANDARD

221 This report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide,
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules of the HKEx. This report
has incorporated reporting principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency. The information
relating to corporate governance of China Greenfresh is
discussed in the annual report of the Group according to
the Corporate Governance Code, Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules.
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222 This report has been compiled by Allied Environmental
Consultants Limited. The Group’s senior management team
would like to express its gratitude to all responsible parties
for their precious contribution to the report.

2.3 REPORTING THEME: WIN-WIN WITH THE ENVIRONMENT
AND SOCIETY

231 China Greenfresh prioritized sustainable development
and strived to achieve a “win-win” situation with the
environment and the society. Throughout the production
processes, the Group carefully assesses and addresses
all environmental and social issues. Hence, the report
structure is divided into two sections: “win-win with the
environment” and “mutually beneficial with the society.”

Win-win with the environment

232 Achieving a win-win situation with the environment consists
of fully embedding green practices into the manufacturing
chain and production management. From the supply
chain management to operation and quality control, China
Greenfresh strives to protect the environment by optimizing
resource usage and reducing emissions.

Mutually beneficial with the society

233 The Group is committed to re-invest in the community and
create values to shareholders through satisfying customers’
heightened expectations, promoting employees’ wellness
and contributing to the social development.

3  WIN-WIN WITH THE ENVIRONMENT 3

China Greenfresh adopts a green and sustainable business model. In
addition to cost-effectiveness and quality, the Group also considers
the location of suppliers and their in-house environmental protection
initiatives. China Greenfresh creates a green circular production chain
under its zero-waste concept. From procurement to production,
each process is strictly controlled to reduce the waste. The Group
purchases local agricultural wastes as raw materials for edible fungus
cultivation, and sells its cultivation wastes back to local farmers as
natural fertilizer.
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Procurement
(Purchasing
agricultural waste
from farmers)

HIR (MEREF
HAHGE)

3.1 PRUDENT PROCUREMENT 3.1

3.1

3.1.2

313

3.14

China Greenfresh strived to firstly reuse self-produced
raw materials as much as possible and to safeguard
production quality. With increasing market demands, certain
raw materials needed to be purchased from suppliers or
farmers. Fully aware that achieving green production begins
with procurement, the Group is committed to engaging its
supply chain in the sustainable development process with
strict compliance to related policy and regulations.

All suppliers should comply with environmental policies
and regulations, reach the emission standards, and take
initiatives on resource conservation and emission reduction.
Suppliers’ reputation is also considered by the Group in
terms of services quality and employment legitimacy.

China Greenfresh evaluated its suppliers annually in all
aspects, including material quality, cost-effectiveness,
delivery punctuality, and production capacity.

Moreover, the Group opted nearby suppliers to minimize
transportation emissions. At least two suppliers were
selected for each procurement process to secure the
supply and provide equal opportunity to the suppliers with
transparency.
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3.2 GREEN PRODUCTION LINE

3.2.1

322

The production process includes prewetting and mixing,
bagging, sterilization, and cooling. After fruiting, the
mushrooms were processed through trimming and
packaging. Preventive measures were implemented to
minimize generated waste from this process.

In order to promote a green production line, the
Group strived to implement the concept of “eco-
friendly production” into the operation process
through resource optimization, emission reduction and
environmental protection. China Greenfresh complied
with all environmental-related policy and regulations, and
established internal rules to achieve a green production
standard:

e  Optimizing use of water, energy, and other resources

e Minimizing heavy pollutants and greenhouse gas
emissions

e Minimizing disposal and reducing the ecological
footprint

e  Promoting material recycling and reuse

e Reducing business negative impacts on the environment

Waste minimization

3.23 China Greenfresh is committed to “zero-waste"” production

through reusing the cultivation polyethylene bags and
recycling production waste such as corncob, cornhusk,
and sweet potato peels into fuel or selling at a lower price
or donating to local farmers as agricultural inputs. On the
other side, the Group purchased agricultural wastes such as
sawdust and straws from the local farmers to cultivate its
edible fungus. During the reporting period, the Group has
produced and recycled 18,496 tonnes of cultivation wastes.
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Waste cultivation bags, wasted corncob,
cornhusk, sweet potato peels

BERE - EK

China Greenfresh

45

Sawdust, straws

KB~ B

Water conservation

324

3.2.5

3.26

Water resource plays an important role in the production
process, and it was used in prewetting, mixing, sterilization,
and mushroom cultivation.

To optimize the water usage, the Group installed water
saving devices to save production water usage. In addition,
over the cooling process, the water was sterilized, cooled,
and re-used in the cooling tower.

The wastewater was produced from prewetting the
sawdust and sterilization. It was collected to cesspool
and treated through suspended and floating particulates
filtration and hydrolytic acidification for reusing in cooling.
Water discharge amount was not significant and was
strictly complies with the local standard. The sludge from
wastewater treatment was recycled and reused as fuel in
the production chain.

Energy efficiency

3.2.7

328

Coal, natural gas and wood-fuel were consumed during
the manufacturing. They were used to power machines
for sterilization and maintaining appropriate edible fungi
growing environment.

The electricity was provided by local power supply group,
while coal, natural gases and wood fuel were purchased
from suppliers. Under its sustainable development vision,
the Group strived to improve its production chain and
the efficiency of energy, through gradually eliminating
the low energy efficiency fuel such as wood-fuel and
installing variable speed drives for large power consumption
machines such as mixers and water pumps.
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329

Moreover, in 2017, the Group replaced the coal-fired boilers
by gas condensing steam boilers. This initiative reduced
the use of wood-fuel and coal, and partially eliminated
greenhouse gases and other hazardous emissions, such as
CO,, NOx, PM and SO,, from the fumes and smoke during
the stream cooling process. As a result, the Group achieved
cost-effective operations with potential benefit to the
environment.

4 MUTUALLY BENEFICIAL WITH THE SOCIETY

The Group believes that there is a close correlation between
corporate sustainable development and social welfare. By upholding
a devoted, responsible, and down-to-earth principle, China
Greenfresh focuses not only on customers’ needs, but also on the
society wellness. Through exploring the industry, the Group has
developed healthy products for the satisfaction of customers and
the promotion of national health. The Group pays close attention
to employee’s professional development and provides trainings
to support staff capacity building. In terms of social actions, the
Group actively supports charities through donating to local schools
and working with local farmers to improve their incomes and life
condition.

4.1 ASSURING CUSTOMERS’ SATISFACTION

Product quality assurance

41

The Group was committed to providing customers with
safe, healthy, and high-quality products, and has established
a Quality Control (QC) Team to examine product quality.
Product quality assessment scope included product
sizes, appearance, weight, contamination risks, and
compliance with the national standards. In addition, the
QC team ensured that the packaging and label descriptions
were consistent with the relevant quality standards.
Quality checks were performed on the shelf life, storage
temperature and ventilation system according to the
technical requirements of various types of products.

China Greenfresh fully endorsed the responsibility of
the product quality and assured customers’ satisfaction.
Over the reporting period, the Group has not received any
complaint or feedback relating product quality, health and
safety issues.
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Intellectual property and data privacy

413 The Group established a confidential agreement with
its employees, so that all employees shall keep the
confidentiality of customer data and the Group's intellectual
properties during or after the period of employment.

414 Fully aware that sustainable development depends not only
on innovation, but also on intellectual property protection.
The Group has complied with the Intellectual Property
Management System and Policy, and currently possesses
60 registered trademarks and 58 registered patents.

Research and innovation

415 Citizen health issue is crucial to the community and
is gaining increasing attention in People’s Republic
of China. As stated in “Healthy China 2030 Planning
Outline,” health is considered as a basic condition for
sustainable development of the country. In this regard,
China Greenfresh has developed a new business direction
on healthcare product to satisfy the diversified needs of
customers and respond to the PRC's initiative.

416 Through international cooperation and research with
medical research institutions, such as Japan Oriental
Medical Research Centre and Kumamoto University in
Japan, the Group has developed “CAMBO" series and “520
International” series for liver function, digestion system,
immune system, and skincare.
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“CAMBO” Series “520 International” Series
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4.2

417 The products have received several patents on the
extraction and manufacturing techniques. In addition,
the Group has strictly followed the hygienic quality
requirements in the production chain, in order to deliver
healthy and safe products.

418 Through the strategic industrial transformation, the Group
aimed to consolidate an integrated business of edible
fungus, as well as develop new sustainable business and
gradually eliminate outdated production.

CARING EMPLOYEES
Employment and labour standard

421 China Greenfresh complied with employment-related
laws and regulations, maintains a good relationship with
employees, and encourages their feedback. Employees
were encouraged to address their questions and complaints
directly to the responsible department for appropriate
solutions and improvement.

422 The Group prohibited any recruitment of child or other
workers who do not meet national statutory requirements.
The Human Resource Department has followed relevant
child and forced labour policies, and staff background
investigation procedures to ensure identity and accuracy of
qualification credentials for each candidate.

423 The recruiting process was strictly on merit without
consideration on gender, religion, race, or other similar
factors, to ensure the working environment is equal and
diverse.

2017 Ratio of Employees by Gender
201742 MR D B B L A Hkt
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M Female &

417
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Healthy and safe workplace

424 The Group has complied with policies related to
occupational health and safety and implemented a safety
control system. The system covered handling safety issues,
incident investigation process, protection and remedial
measures, notification mechanisms, employee health
check with occupational health monitoring and proper
recording system. The Group provided regular physical
examination, health and safety trainings, and conducted
safety inspections to protect employees from occupational
hazards.

425 China Greenfresh endeavors to create a safe working
environment for its employees, and has set up first aid kits,
fire protection equipment, as well as escape route map and
emergency equipment in respond to emergencies.

426 The Group has no fatalities or injuries occurred during the
reporting period.

Staff training and activities

427 The Group's business success depends on professional
development of each employee. In this regard, the Group
establishes Greenfresh Business School, and provides all-
round courses to support full professional development of
employees.

428 With the healthcare product developed in partnership with
Japanese corporations, training on Japanese taxation
law has provided to employees. Moreover, the Group
provided continuous professional development training
such as PowerPoint Presentation Skills Development
and Time Management Training. China Greenfresh also
helped enriching its staffs’ leisure time through establishing
courses such as News Photo Shooting.
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23 August 2017, the Group organized Japanese Taxation Training. The training enabled employees understanding the
difference between Chinese and Japanese taxation laws and regulation and helped the Group to develop its business in

Japan.
201748 H23H « A"EEBRHBATEE - ZIFIHEE T BAEBATENERNBNFBAFERERNZR - EHREEIFH
R ETS -

3 June 2017, the Group held PowerPoint Presentation Skills Development training, to help its employees to improve their
working capability by using PowerPioint efficiently.
201756 A3H  AKEBRPETXRETR NI - MRERXRE—BMNNIE - BRABHITEES -
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9 September 2017, the Group held Time Management Training for employees to improve their working efficiency.

2017%9A9H « AEBMBRFEEREF - BB TIRA TIERCE -

429 In addition to the provision of trainings, China Greenfresh
also cares for employees’ families. Family activities were
regularly organized to enhance the cohesion of the Group
while improving the relationship between employees and
their families.

Case Study: China Greenfresh organized Father’s Day activity

" TSR R
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A Father’s Day Activity was held by China Greenfresh on 18 June 2017, at Xiamen, Fujian. The Group appreciates employees’

efforts and would like using this as an opportunity to thank their families for their support.

HEAE20174E [BFFR - FRETIREXREESN2017F6 A 18 A EREZEPIELT -

IR B T B P — B PARA S H o

4.3 ANTI-CORRUPTION

431

432

433

The Group has established anti-corruption policy to ensure
integrity and transparent business activities under the
sustainable development vision. An auditing department
has been delegated to investigate and follow-up corruptive
and inappropriate behaviours. In the case where violations
are formally identified, the Group will take the necessary
disciplinary action. The anti-corruption policy and initiatives
were evaluated regularly on the quarterly meetings held by
the auditing department.

In order to prevent corruption, the Group promoted its
anti-corruption policies and related measures within the
Company in various forms such as employee manuals,
publicity or training, etc., to ensure employees’ full
awareness of the relevant policies and regulations and their
understanding of legitimacy and merit.

No concluded legal cases relating to violation of anti-
corruption policy have been noticed in the Group over the
reporting period.
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4.4 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

441

443

Caring for the community is one of the key aspects of the
sustainable development. The Group upheld the principle
of paying back to the community through charities and
donations. China Greenfresh focused on giving back to
various social groups, such as farmers and children, and
supporting education.

The Group strived to help local farmers through financial
support, technical services, and governance instructions.
Through partnership with the farmers, China Greenfresh
purchased agricultural wastes from the nearby farmers and
helps increasing their income.

The Group cares about the children, and initiated several
charity activities including visiting the children welfare
centres in Fujian, and donating edible vegetation and
fungus, organic rice and books. The Group has also
organized a one-day tour for the children at the local
Greenfresh factories, and shared useful information and
knowledge on mushroom planting.
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1 June 2017, China Greenfresh visited the children welfare centre in Zhangzhou, Fujian.
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7 July 2017, China Greenfresh held the event “Delivering Love and Warmth to Our Child with Greenfresh,” and invited
children to visit the Science and Technology Museum of Mushroom.
201767R78 » PEIGERR [BEEREL  £KBRTIARED -

444 Promotion of local talents is another important aspect of the L ATHEERHIEREMNERE Y
community development. China Greenfresh has established —  hEGAEEREEMRANER T
“Greenfresh Incentive Scholarship” with College of Life [HREEENHES | EHRERES
Science of Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University to BT e E 2 o

support local students that are in financial difficulties.

£—
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China Greenfresh and Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University established “Greenfresh Incentive Scholarship.”
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5

LOOKING FORWARD

5.1.1

5.1.2

Under its sustainable development vision, China Greenfresh will
improve its eco-friendly production and management system
to enhance its reputation and customers’ recognition. As a
competitive advantage, the development of the healthcare
product will be reinforced and fully integrated into the Group's
sustainable business strategy and programme.

The Group will enhance communication with stakeholders and
build long lasting relationships with all parties to increase values
for stakeholders. Research on green production process and
techniques will be reinforced to staff through capacity building
strategy. The Group will continuously support the community
through actively participating charity, donation, and volunteering
activities. China Greenfresh is fully committed to keeping
innovating and devoting itself to achieve the win-win sustainable
future.

5
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5.1.1
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6 ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE TABLE 6 IRIBEWR
Indicator Unit 2017
EZ B
Water Consumption FAK1ER
Total m?® 147,245
e AN
Water consumption intensity m3/RMB M'Revenue 138
AKEE SRS BEARERA
Energy Usage #5Ri A&
Electricity kWh 18,903,576
& FRE
Coal kWh 25,059,767
# FHe
Natural Gas kWh 46,142,054
RAR TEREF
Wood-fuel kWh 18,956,233
e FRE
Petrol kWh 251,665
i TR
Total kWh 109,313,295
e TR
Energy intensity kWh/RMB M’ revenue 102,738
BEIRRE TERE BBEARERA
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions
BERBHR
Scope 1: Direct emission Tonnes of CO; equivalent (tCO,) 18,108
BE— : EEREREIR M(—RHEE)
Scope 2: Indirect emission tCO; 12,872
HE—  EAEREEEN W (—E(tixEE)
Total tCO, 30,980
He WE(ZE tixE =
GHG intensity tCO2/RMB'M Revenue 29
AEREHRGREE BE_EtikEE BEARERA
Gaseous Emissions
REEHE AR
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) Tonnes 24
REEY(INOX) i
Particulate Matter Tonnes 87
R & i
Non-Hazardous Waste
BEREZEY
Total Tonnes 18,496
e 58
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7 ESG CONTENT INDEX 7 BXAORE - a2REARBEIESI) RS
Aspect/Description/KPI Section/Statement  Page No.
— IR E R BERENIEEHRT =5/ 8H HE

A. Environmental
BiE
A1 Emissions

BHEAT : SR
A1

General Disclosure 3.2 53-55
—RR R

A1.1 Types of emissions and respective emissions data 3.2 53-55
BERR ) TE 2R S AR R B BRI

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where Performance Table 66

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

REREEHNE (UETE) R (WER)EE (A HiER
ERBf - SRR H)
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where No hazardous waste is -
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production generated in the
volume, per facility). Group's production
process.
FELREBERYAE NEE) R(NER)EE REBEEEF
(WABESBM - BEREAE) TEEBFEREY
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where 3.2 53-565

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
FESESEZYEE (A8 R(nEh)ZE
(MASEREL - SHEBHE)
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and 3.2 53-55
results achieved
R HE R B 1R e B PR S BR
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 3.2 53-55
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved

WAREAEREEEENNIE  REELENE

TSGR IS
A2 Use of Resources
EmA2 : EREA
A2 General Disclosure 3.2 53-55
—RRIRER
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Performance Table 66

(e.g. electricity,gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,

per facility).
REA SIS EE R () EEER(AE - "maloh) 2 g
HEATETESTE) REE(WATESEL
BIERMEE)
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Performance Table 66
BRKEREE g
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and 3.2 53-55

results achieved
;‘EELHZ/ ] xﬁ(ﬁnnJFi&Fﬁ ﬁk%
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 3.2 53-55
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved

fE SR ERE A AKOR £ T B(EARI R - A R ERTT A K

mAtERATERE
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products The Group -
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced 1,658 tonnes
produced of package
R RFABEMEOBE (CANETE) R(nER) & REBEKRFE
EEBALE {5 51,6580

FEGESBEBRAR | 2017 3R
67



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HERERKRE

Aspect/Description/KPI Section/Statement  Page No.
— R R B R AR R =6,/ B BY

A3 The Environment and
Natural Resources
EHEA3 : RERXARER

A3 General Disclosure 3.2 53-55
—RIER
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities 3.2 53-55

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

M EBEBHRBERARARNEATZE KRB R
EREBATENTE

B. Social
e

B1 Employment

EmEB1 : EfE

B1 General Disclosure 4.2 58-62
—R R

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age 4.2 58-62

group and geographical region

RILR -~ FicER Fon R D eE S B 5

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and The Group is currently -

geographical region extending its data
collection system, and
chooses not to disclose
this information in this
reporting period.
AEE B A FA R AR
WE RS - EARRE EIfE
BETHRBZER -

B2 Health and Safety

[BHEB2 : #EHEZE

IR - FRARRIBRE D OEBRKL

4

B2 General Disclosure 4.2 58-62
—RRIREE
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities No fatality and injury -

have occurred during the
reporting period.

ETIERIRMIE T M A S K b3 BEHRNSEEEST -
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury
AIGEAXITIERS
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 4.2 58-62

measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored

R PTER BB R R R 2185 - A RABBHIT
BERTE
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Aspect/Description/KPI Section/Statement  Page No.
— R R B R AR R XL BY

B3 Development and Training

[EMmEB3 : #/EKIF3

B3 General Disclosure 4.2 58-62
—RRIRER
B3.1 Percentage of employees trained by gender and The Group is currently -
employee category extending its data

collection system, and
chooses not to disclose
this information in this
reporting period.

RUERIREEER (e RERE PRERES)E AEEBEMNEAREEE

PHZIEEEDL WERS  EARREBH
BEIEZER -

B3.2 Average training hours completed per employee by  The Group is currently -
gender and employee category extending its data

collection system, and
chooses not to disclose
this information in this
reporting period.
RUBIRESRENES  SEEETKZIINTA AEE B AT E AR E SR
iSE WE RS - TR & EIfE
BEETEEZER -
B4 Labour Standard
[EEB4 : %5 T %8|

B4 General Disclosure 4.2 58-62
— R R
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 4.2 58-62

practices to avoid child and forced labour
g s BB DI BB AR R B T g% T
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 4.2 58-62
practices when discovered
R TE BB RSN BB B B 155 AT ERER ) 25 5
B5 Supply Chain Management
[EEBS - HEFERE

B5 General Disclosure 3.1 52
—R R
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region The Group is currently -

extending its data
collection system, and
chooses not to disclose
this information in this
reporting period.
12 E & 5 e e 2 e REE B ATEAREEIR
WERS  EARREHRH
BETHBZER -
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 3.1 52
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored
Rt B RIS AR MBS - mEITA BB MG
EEEE - URBRNMITRERTA
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Aspect/Description/KPI Section/Statement  Page No.
— IR R B R R S A =6,/ 89 Y
B6 Product Responsibility
EEB6 : ERAK
B6 General Disclosure 4.1 55-568
—RRIREE
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject No product subject to -
to recalls for safety and health reasons recalls for safety and
health reasons during
the reporting period.
PEEAREXERBHTEARZHEFEAMARY REHEAN - EERS -
MBS RERER BB E®D °
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 4.1 55-58
received and how they are dealt with
BRI E M MR TS IR GR 20 B DA R B 7 0%
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 4.1 55-58
protecting intellectual property rights
g RRED B EER EED
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 4.1 55-58
procedures
fii il 60 AR T B AR I E mm AR =
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and 4.1 55-58
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.
HEEERMREMALEARABRENIT RER A
B7 Anti-Corruption
EMEB7 : RES
B7 General Disclosure 4.3 62
— PRI ER
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt No concluded legal -
practices brought against the issuer or its cases relating to
employees during the reporting period and the violation of anti-
outcomes of the cases corruption policy have
been noticed in the
Group over the reporting
period.
RERBAHETASHESREIEELEN REFEREEREREM
BISRMEBE ML BSFDE
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- 4.3 62
blowing procedures, how they are implemented
and monitored
e # e e R IRAZ - DA BRI T REE R A
B8 Community Investment
[EHEBS : HEERE
B8 General Disclosure 4.4 63-64
—RRIREE
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution 4.4 63-64
HrEREE
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus areas 4.4 63-64
EEISBEABANER
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Directors’ Report

EEERS

The Directors present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in mushroom plantation, production of canned food
and other processed food, trading of food and other products, domestic
and overseas sales platform for edible fungi and its processed products
as well as research, development and sales of edible fungi products for
general healthcare.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

All subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are wholly owned enterprises
established in the PRC (except for Pingquan County Lvhe Biotechnology
Co., Limited, which is a joint venture and is owned as to 60% by the
Company, and Zhangzhou Changfeng Edible Fungi Co., Limited, which is
owned as to 86% by the Company). As at 31 December 2017, the bank
and cash balances of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC denominated
in RMB amounted to RMB1,002,512,000 (2016: RMB1,003,375,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. Detailed analysis of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the significant factors relevant to the Group’s
business performance, results and financial conditions and the business
prospect of the Group during the Year are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report, respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial position, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected, directly or indirectly, by risks and
uncertainties pertaining to the Group's businesses. The principal risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group are set out below. There may be
other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are
not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk that affects profitability or ability to meet
business objectives arising from the movement in market prices. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group's principal business is located in the PRC and its major
transactions are conducted in Renminbi.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. The Group is subject to the
risk that the Chinese government may take certain actions which may
affect exchange rates and in turn result in material adverse effects on
the Group's net assets, earnings and any declared dividends, if such
dividends are to be exchanged or translated into foreign exchange. The
Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to manage the
potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Group may fall short of its
obligations at maturity due to the failure to obtain adequate funding or
liguidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors cash flows
and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure
the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the impacts of
fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational Risk

Operational risk represents the risk of loss resulting from any fault or
deficiency in internal processes, staff and systems or from external
events. The responsibilities with respects to managing operational risks
are basically shared by divisions and departments of various functions.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their own standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The
management will identify and assess the principal operational exposures
regularly so as to respond with appropriate measures.

FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

For details of the financial review and analysis of the use of financial key
performance indicators for the Year, please refer to the “Management's
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLANS

Details of the Company's future development plans are provided in the
“Management's Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Following the completion of the acquisition of Zhao Hong and Lucky
Max, on 9 January 2018, the Company allotted and issued 22,223,921
consideration shares to the former shareholders of Zhao Hong and Lucky
Max.
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DIVIDENDS

During the Year, the Board has decided not to declare any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

As a responsible enterprise, the Group is committed to environmental
protection and strives to minimise the environmental impact of its
production and business activities. The Group has adopted the concept
of system-wide food safety and environmental design in providing
infrastructures for its factories. Our production base had obtained the
approval of the local government prior to its operation and received
the approval on the environmental impact report. The Group promoted
clean production review mechanism and implemented recycling
economy on the basis of the established and operated ISO14001
environmental management system. No major irregularities of discharge
limits of sewage, smoke and dusts had been noted in the past years
according to the real time monitoring system of the environmental bureau
of the place where the Group is located and no major irregularities of
waste treatment was found under the periodic audit of EMS.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE
SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS ON THE GROUP

Compliance procedures of the Group are in place to ensure compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations which in particular, have
significant impacts on the Group. The Audit Committee is delegated by
the Board to review and monitor the Group's compliance with the policies
and practices on corporate governance and regulatory requirements
and such policies are regularly reviewed. The relevant employees and
operation units are kept informed from time to time of any change to
the applicable laws, rules and regulations. To the knowledge of the
Company, the Company has complied with relevant laws and regulations
in all material aspects which have significant impacts on its business and
operation.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES
Working environment

The Group provides its employees in the mainland China with nice
workplace in a greening factory, reasonable remuneration, sound
incentive mechanism, broad career advancement and other benefits such
as insurance, housing provident fund and retirement benefit. We are
committed to improving working environment for our staff.

In addition, the Group always cares its staff who have hardship in living
and has set up a charity fund to help staff who have difficulties in living.

Staff training and career development

The Group values the importance of staff training. We organised an in-
house business school and developed training programmes for specific
operating business covering various aspects such as personnel, finance,
administration, quality control, marketing and management to enhance
knowledge of managerial and professional staff of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS

We highly value our customers as important partners for the Group's
sustainability and development. We require our staff to be committed to
both the principle and practice of sincere service.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS

As the supply resources of the company, suppliers achieved business
integrity and mutual benefits. The Group established an incentive
mechanism for distributors and signed agreements with them to regulate
our business and to ensure that the interests of the Group and customers
are protected by law.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the Year, the financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2017 and the Group’s cash flows and statement of
changes in equity for the Year are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 100 to 183.
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SHARE CAPITAL

On 12 June 2017, the Company completed the bonus issue and a total of
537,500,000 bonus shares were issued on the basis of one bonus share
for every one existing share held on the record date, i.e. 7 June 2017.

During the Year, the Group has completed the acquisitions of the entire
equity interest in Zhao Hong and Lucky Max, at the consideration of
RMB180.2 million and RMB194.2 million, respectively.

The consideration of Zhao Hong of RMB180.2 million shall be settled by
a combination of cash consideration of RMB170.6 million and the issue
of 8,889,568 shares at the issue price of HK$1.33 (being the closing price
of the date of the transaction approved by the Board of the Company),
calculated based on the average exchange rate of RMB0.8458 to 1 Hong
Kong dollars at the People’s Bank of China on the date of the transaction
approved by the Board of the Company; the consideration of Lucky Max of
RMB194.2 million shall be settled by a combination of cash consideration
of RMB179.8 million and the issue of 13,334,353 shares at the issue
price of HK$1.33 (being the closing price of the date of the transaction
approved by the Board of the Company), calculated based on the average
exchange rate of RMBO0.8458 to 1 Hong Kong dollars at the People’s
Bank of China on the date of the transaction approved by the Board of the
Company.

Upon the completion of the acquisition, Zhao Hong became the subsidiary
of the Company; therefore, the Company holds 86% equity interests in
Zhangzhou Changfeng, which is indirect held by Zhao Hong, upon the
completion of the acquisition.

Upon the completion of the acquisition, Lucky Max became the subsidiary
of the Company; therefore, the Company holds 48.7% equity interests in
Guangxi Jiabao, which is indirect held by Lucky Max, upon the completion
of the acquisition.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Year
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BONDS
The Group did not issue any bonds during the Year.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK LOANS

Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2017 are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Zheng Songhui
Mr. Zheng Tianming
Ms. Zheng Ruyan

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Zhang Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Mak Hing Keung Thomas

Mr. Lou Robert Hsiu-sung

Mr. Cheng Hiu Yung

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Each of the non-executive Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors) has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Company’'s Directors and the senior
management are set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions”
and note 39 “Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries, or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, each of Directors shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers,
which gives appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its
Directors. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

At the general meeting, the Shareholders authorised the Board to
determine the remuneration of the Directors. The remuneration of the
Directors are determined by the Board base on the recommendation
made by the Remuneration Committee with reference to their
job complexity, workload and responsibilities and the Company's
remuneration policy. Details of the remuneration of the Directors during
the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals of the

Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

As at 31 December 2017, the distributable reserve of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB457.95 million.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Company made charitable donations totalling to
RMBO0.03 million.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Exempt Continuing Connected Transaction

Ms. Zheng Ying, the daughter of Mr. Zheng Songhui, the chairman, chief
executive officer, executive Director and a controlling Shareholder of the
Company, is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07(4) of
the Listing Rules.

On 25 March 2015, the Company entered into the following lease
agreements (the “"Lease Agreements”) with Ms. Zheng Ying with
respect to the land and properties (the “Properties”) located at Longhai
Yancuo Town Qiaoshan Village Jin Pu, Fujian Province, PRC (FFBl{g 4 &
T RS SR TS LAY 87 0):
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Property A Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Fuijian Greenfresh Commencing from RMB77,280 payable in - Buildings of total gross floor area

Agreement Foods 18 March 2015 and arrear annually of 1,287.88 sq.m. used for

expiring on 17 March 2018 production base, warehouse

and office purpose ("Property
A")
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Property B Lease Ms. Zheng Ying  Fujian Greenfresh Commencing from

Agreement Foods 18 March 2015 and
expiring on 17 March 2018
WEZRERE ) S BESERR B201543A 18 AFAIH

2018F3A17HZIH

The Company are entitled to terminate each of the Lease Agreements by
giving a 30-day prior notice. Upon its expiration, the Company will have
the priority in leasing the Properties under each of the Lease Agreements
from Ms. Zheng Ying upon negotiation of the rentals and signing of the
renewed lease agreements.
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arrear annually of 1,363.98 sg.m. used for
office purpose (“Property B")
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The Properties were originally leased by the Company from Fujian Minhui
Packaging Group Company Limited ({8 2R E B EEEHR A A) (“Minhui
Packaging”), an independent third party. The lease agreements with
Minhui Packaging were terminated upon Ms. Zheng Ying acquired the
Properties from Minhui Packaging in November 2014.

The Directors confirm that the terms of the Lease Agreements are on
normal commercial terms and are determined by the Group and Ms.
Zheng Ying on arm’s length basis with reference to the historical annual
rentals paid to Minhui Packaging for leasing of the Properties.

In view of the fact that Ms. Zheng Ying is a connected person
of the Company, the transactions under the Lease Agreements
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company (“Lease
Transactions”) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule
14A.81 of the Listing Rules, the considerations payable under each of the
Lease Agreements are considered on an aggregate basis for the purpose
of classification of the continuing connected transactions.
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For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE

2017 2018
Lease Agreements HEWHZE 20174 20184
Property A Lease Agreement YERHEE R ®E RMB77,280 RMB77,280
AR#77,2800t  AR¥77,2807T
Property B Lease Agreement LIEV N4 F RMB114,564 RMB114,564
ettt e et e eetteate e e eauteateeauaaeteeataeaateatsearteanaeearaesatae et teaaeearaesaraesaraenaeanns ARH1145647T ARH114,5647C
Total 1 RMB191,844 RMB191,844

ARM191,84470 AR¥191,8447T

Based on the above annual cap for each of the three years ending 31
December 2016, 2017 and 2018, each of the applicable percentage
ratios under the Listing Rules will be less than 5.0% and less than
HK$3,000,000.

Given that each of the Lease Agreements is on normal commercial
terms, according to Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the Listing Rules, the Lease
Transactions will be exempt from the reporting, announcement and
the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.
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Non-Exempt Connected Transaction

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 23
December 2016. On 23 December 2016, Fujian Greenfresh Foods Group
Company Limited* (R4 ERMEE AR AF]), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as vendor entered into an asset transfer
agreement with Ms. Zheng Ying (28%), the daughter of Mr. Zheng
Songhui, as purchaser. Pursuant to the asset transfer agreement, Fujian
Greenfresh Foods Group Company Limited* agreed to dispose and Ms.
Zheng Ying agreed to acquire the following land use rights and related
buildings (“Land Use Rights and Related Buildings"”) at a consideration
of RMB7,800,000 in cash:

(1) the land use right of the industrial land situated at Qiaoshan Village
of Yan Cuo, Longhai, Zhangzhou, Fujian Province, the PRC (# Blfg52
LB MEBEET L) of approximately 3,570 square meters (Long
Guo Yong (2015) No.G2915) and the related buildings with a total
gross floor area of approximately 1,832 square meters constructed
on such land;

(2) the land use right of the industrial land situated at Qiaoshan Village
of Yan Cuo, Longhai, Zhangzhou, Fujian Province, the PRC (#F B 4@ 52
EEEBHEARBEIT L) of approximately 6,406 square meters (Long
Guo Yong (2015) No.G2916) and the related buildings with a total
gross floor area of approximately 4,082 square meters constructed
on such land; and

(3) the related buildings with a gross floor area of approximately
3,424.22 square meters in respect of which building ownership
certificates have not been obtained and which are located on the
abovementioned two parcels of land.

The consideration was arrived at after arm’s length negotiations between
the purchaser and the vendor with reference to the valuation for the Land
Use Rights at RMB3,600,000 and Related Buildings at RMB4,200,000
prepared by the independent valuer. The disposal was completed in full
on 1 April 2017.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in the
section headed “Connected Transactions” above, no other related party
transactions set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements
constitute discloseable connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of its connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions.

FREEERS

IR M AN TN2016F12 A23B T2 A& -
MR2016%F12A23H - EBERHZBERAEEBER A A
(BARARZEEZENBAR  (EAE ) HE
BLL(ABNBEENLTE  EREH)FIVE
EEEDE BREEEEEHD  SESERAR
SEERAFAEHE  MEBRZITRAEKRET
G iR AR EEY ([ LihERERER
EEY ) REAES ARK7,800,0007T :

(1) RATEERAESHABELLUNAEmE
453,570 F AR TR 2 + it AR
BERH FH(2015)58G29155% ) R ER A it
LHEEEMBELN 1,832 F A KM BREEE
L8

(2) NATEBERARESMEABEL LN BEmE
#4) 56,406 KM T ¥ B 2 i A4
(REER B (2015) 5% G29165% ) M 2N A BE L i
THRBEEEBEYA4,082F H KA MHE RS
L/ 53

(3) IR Eimsitin b RIRSGEEERERE
S E R4 53,424.22°F F KB 2
&Y -

RETDHAEFEE H L2 EBYHEME L
RERABEENETZHERATFERETE -
T EAEMGHERARKS,600,0007T ¢ MiEEH
EEYE|I A ARKA,200,0007T c ZHESTEDR
20174481 B & 856K °

BB LR

AEBRAFE NN T X BF B HNER
BTG IRRIRES9 - B R [RIER 5 | — 82
AN R B EMEINNER S B MR M FE39
MBI RS BN EMRRBI4ATIR T A TR
BOMERIARELRERS - NATREH
BRXHMBELEBERFEFA LTHRE14A
BHBREMRE

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2017

80



Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

NON-COMPETITION DEED

The Company has received the written confirmation provided by each
of the controlling Shareholders, confirming that each of the controlling
Shareholders have not breached the Deed of Non-Competition dated
27 May 2015 entered into between the Company and the controlling
Shareholders during the Year.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and received confirmation by the controlling Shareholders
and, on the basis of such confirmation, are of the view that the controlling
Shareholders have complied with the deed of non-competition and
such deed of non-competition has been enforced by the Company in
accordance with its terms.

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's pre-IPO share option scheme was adopted by written
resolutions of the then Shareholders on 27 May 2015 (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme") and a summary of the principal terms are set out
as follows:

(i) Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to Eligible Persons (as mentioned in paragraph
(i) below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote
the interests of, the Company and to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees.

(ii) Grantee

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is available to the directors and
employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of the
Group.

(iif) Maximum number of shares to be allotted

The maximum number of the Shares with respect to which options
may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be
25,000,000 Shares representing approximately 5% of the Company's
issued share capital immediately after completion of the global
offering and the capitalisation issue (assuming the over-allotment
option, options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
any options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and are not exercised).
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Maximum number of options to any individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the “Relevant
Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant, the number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options (granted
and proposed to be granted, whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) to the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period
expiring on the date on which an offer of the grant of an option under
the Share Option Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person
would exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue at such time, unless:

e such grant has been duly approved, in the manner prescribed
by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, at
which the Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained
from voting;

e a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing the
information specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules; and

e the number and terms (including the subscription price) of such
options are fixed before the general meeting of the Company at
which the same are approved.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of each share issued pursuant to
the exercise of options granted hereunder shall be determined by the
Board at its own discretion and set out in the relevant offer letter(s),
provided that it shall not be less than the nominal value of the shares.
The subscription price in respect of each share under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme is HK$2.0.

Remaining term of the scheme

After the Latest Practicable Date, no further options will be offered
or granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme but in other
respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme, and options which are granted on or
before the Latest Practicable Date may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue. No option may be granted more
than 10 years after the date of approval of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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(vii) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it

can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, provide
that in granting options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Board can determine whether there is any minimum holding period.

(viii) Exercise period and vesting period and expiry date of exercise

(ix)

(x)

period

Unless otherwise provided in the offer letter(s), options granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are to be vested and
exercised during the three years after the shares of the Company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 18 June 2015 (the
“Listing Date"”) in the following manner:

(1) a grantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of
options granted after six months from the Listing Date;

(2) a grantee is entitled to exercise an additional 30% of the total
number of options granted after eighteen months from the
Listing Date; and

a grantee is entitled to exercise a further additional 30% of the
total number of options granted after thirty months from the
Listing Date.

Exercise of options

Any exercise of an option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is conditional upon:

(1) the Listing Committee granting approval of the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the Shares which may fall to be issued
pursuant to the exercise of any options granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme;

(2) the commencement of dealings in the Shares on the Stock
Exchange;
(3) any such conditions as may be specified in the offer letter in

respect of the grant of options. The expiry date of the exercise
period of any such options shall be set out more particularly in
the relevant offer letter in respect of the grant of options.

Rights personal to grantees

The option shall be personal to the grantee and shall not be
assignable nor transferable, and no grantee shall in any way sell,
transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest (legal or
beneficial) in favor of any third party over or in relation to any option.
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The following table discloses the details of the outstanding options
of the Company held by the Directors, connected persons and certain
employees of the Company under Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during

TEEEARAES - HEALRETREERA
FERBERAHEEMBREAIFENAR
BARTTERAB AR -

the Year.
On Adjustments On
1 January due to the 31 December Exercise Exercise
Name of grantees Date of grant  Vesting period 2017 Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  bonus issue 2017 price period
(Note 1) (Note 1)
i R
) B 017F \ RABERT 217%
AREAZR RiLAH e 1818 Bt EHE# BRM hicEE uANE T8 (i)
(Hrzz1) (Byzt1)
(HK$)
(1)
Directors
gz
Zheng Songhui 17 June 2015 18 June 2015 to 1,200,000 600,000 - - 600,000 1,200,000 1.00 Notes (2)(3)(4)
ging 2015564178 17 June 2018 MEE2)0)4)
201556A18HZ
20185673178
Zheng Tianming 17 June 2015 18 June 2015 to 900,000 450,000 - - 450,000 900,000 1.00  Notes (2)(3)(4)
EPS 2016565178 17 June 2018 lE203)4)
015567188 %
2018564178
Zheng Ruyan 17 June 2015 18 June 2015 to 900,000 450,000 - - 450,000 900,000 1.00 Notes (2)(3)(4)
Yok 015568178 17 June 2018 liE203)4)
01556R186%
218564178
Senior Management
EHEERE
Chen Wei 17 June 2015 18 June 2015 to 900,000 450,000 - - 450,000 900,000 1.00 Notes (2)(3)(4)
R 2015568178 17June 2018 HiE203)4)
01556A18HZ
2018464170
Employee's in aggregate 17 June 2015 18 June 2015 to 11,100,000 5,550,000 840,000 - 5,550,000 10,260,000 1.00 Notes (2)(3)(4)
[EEA% 015568178 17June 2018 liE203)4)

201567185 E
2018567177

15,000,000 7,500,000 840,000
(Note 5)
(F3k5)

7,600,000 14,160,000

Note:

(1

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Pursuant to the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, adjustments are required to be
made to the exercise price of and the number of shares entitled to be subscribed for under
the outstanding share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as a result
of the completion of the bonus issue on 12 June 2017. Details of which is set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 12 June 2017.

The grantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of share options after 6 months
from the Listing Date.

The grantee is entitled to exercise an additional 30% of the total number of share options
after 18 months from the Listing Date.

The grantee is entitled to exercise a further additional 30% of the total number of share
options 30 months from the Listing Date.

The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
exercise date of share option was HK$3.68.

GEX

(1

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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The estimated fair value of the options on this date is approximately
RMB52,680,000, details of which are provided in note 34 to consolidated
financial statements. The value of the options is of subjectivity and
unpredictability. It depends on various assumptions used in estimate and
is subject to the limitation of the model.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme was adopted by written resolutions

of the then Shareholders on 27 May 2015 (the “

Share Option Scheme")

and a summary of the principal terms are set out as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to Eligible Persons (as defined in the paragraph below) for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of, our Group and for such other purposes as the Board may approve
from time to time.

Grantee

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible persons
(being any director or employee (whether full time or part time),
consultant or advisor of the Group who in the sole discretion of the
Board has contributed to and/or will contribute to the Group) (the
“Eligible Persons”) the options to subscribe for such number of
shares in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of shares to be alloted

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company if this will result in such
limit being exceeded.

At the time of adoption by the Company of the Share Option
Scheme or any new share option scheme (the “New Scheme"”), the
aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
New Scheme and all schemes existing at such time (the “Existing
Schemes”) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of the shares of the Company in issue as at
the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"), representing a
maximum of 50,000,000 shares.
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Maximum number of options to any individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the “Relevant
Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant, the number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options (granted
and proposed to be granted, whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) to the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period
expiring on the date on which an offer of the grant of an option under
the Share Option Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person
would exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue at such time, unless:

e such grant has been duly approved, in the manner prescribed
by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, at
which the Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained
from voting;

e a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing the
information specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules; and

e the number and terms (including the subscription price) of such
options are fixed before the general meeting of the Company at
which the same are approved.

Remaining term of the scheme

No option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of
approval of the Share Option Scheme.

Subscription price

The subscription price for a share in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (which shall be
payable upon exercise of the share option) shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to the Eligible Person and shall
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of granting option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant option (“Offer
Date"”) (provided that the new issue price shall be used as the closing
price of the shares of the Company for any business day falling within
the period before the listing of the Company where the Company
has been listed for less than five business days as at the Offer Date);
and (iii) the nominal value of the shares. A consideration of RMB1 is
payable on acceptance of the offer of an option.

(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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(vii) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised under the Share Option Scheme, provide that
in granting options under the Share Option Scheme, the Board can
determine whether there is any minimum holding period.

The followings are details of share options exercised by employees
under the share option scheme during the Year:

(vii) BIRBTE 2 AT A E R AN REHR

TR RT BIPA TV g - BAETE
M&ERAHE - EEREBRET SR
BRER - EFGADREEMRERB M

KT RRERREERBEBERE S TITEE
Pt 2 15 -

On Adjustments On
1 January due to the 31 December Exercise Exercise
Name of grantees ~ Date of grant  Vesting period 2017 Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  bonus issue 2017 price period
(Note 1) (Note 1)
2175 RARET 217
AEALER RiAH gt 1518 Bt B BAR  frmc#E 128318 e bt
(Byst1) (1)
(HKS)
(1)
Employee's 31 March 2016 31 March 2016t0 15,000,000 10,000,000 680,000 - 5000000 9,320,000 1.86  Notes (2)(3)(4)
in aggregate 201637317 30 March 2019 Notes (5)(6)
ERES 201653A318% TsEE)e)  WE)
201937308
Notes: B3t -

(1) Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, adjustments are required to be
made to the exercise price of and the number of shares entitled to be subscribed for
under the outstanding share options granted under the Share Option Scheme as a
result of the completion of the bonus issue on 12 June 2017. Details of which is set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 12 June 2017.

(2)  The grantee is entitled to exercise 40% of the total number of share options after the
date of grant.

(3)  The grantee is entitled to exercise an additional 40% of the total number of share
options after 6 months from the date of grant.

(4)  The grantee is entitled to exercise a further additional 20% of the total number of
share options after 12 months from the date of grant.

(6)  The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the date of grant
of the share options was HK$3.78.

(6)  The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before
the exercise date of the share options was HK$3.69.

The estimated fair value of the options on this date is approximately
HK$19,698,000, details are provided in note 34 to consolidated
financial statements. The value of the options is of subjectivity and
unpredictability. It depends on various assumptions used in estimate
and is subject to the limitation of the model.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as the land lease disclosed in “Connected Transactions” above, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or
subsisted during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as the section of “Non-competition deed” disclosed above, during
the Year, none of the Directors is interested in any business apart from
the Group's business, which is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors and chief executives of the
Company have the following interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO"), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

EERBREK ERS

Br EXX [N FRIE | —EPr S
BERRNEARBREGAEZARESR
AR BT A (A o

AR
BB RA

EERBSTHRA
ZiEm

ERBM - HERD RESE

MR2017%F12A318 » ARRAESFHHESTHA
BRARRNETMAREE(EEREBEME
571 EREA RS EN(&FHRBERG ) EXV
)RR © FERERRD REREEF %ﬁwgﬁm
E;ﬁi%{wu;axv%;m&%&u ARG ARN

B X PT R R R SR B - ﬂﬁﬁim%&,ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂ%
1§|J%3521‘*»:5?5?5’\\;%%15‘])5)?5_E’Ji‘fuaﬂﬂWﬁ'ﬂfﬁ’fg
EHAR  HBBZETRENE AR A KRB
T TSR R T ¢

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of shares/ in the Company

Name of directors Nature of interest underlying shares held (Note 1)
BEHE EaME FrisR 4, HEA R 5 & ARARFR2
BROBEDL
(F5E1)
Mr. Zheng Songhui Interests in controlled 547,717,554
BRI 5 A corporations (Note 2)
REEEE R R (fF5E2)
Beneficial owner 4,580,000
E=mEBA (Notes 4 and 5)
(Pff5E4 f25)
Total 552,297,554 51.37%
B
Mr. Zheng Tianming Interests in controlled 12,620,610
BRAA A corporations (Note 3)
REEEE R R (PBF7E3)
Beneficial owner 1,560,000
EmEB A (Notes 4 and 5)
(i34 125)
Total 14,180,610 1.31%
FiE
Ms. Zheng Ruyan Beneficial owner 1,590,000 0.14%
BNz + E=mEB A (Notes 4 and 5)
(P7F4%25)

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2017

88



Directors’ Report

=, +

EEEWRE

Notes: P5E

(1) As at 31 December 2017, the Company has issued 1,075,000,000 shares. (1) $2017412A318 * KARB#171,075,000,0008 %% ©

(2)  Held by Mr. Zheng Songhui through his wholly owned Song Rising Co., Ltd (“Song Rising") (2) EBMAIESLAEBEIRHE 2 E BB Song Rising Co., Ltd([ Song
and Grand Ample Limited (“Grand Ample”), and Song Rising and Grand Ample owned Rising | ) #2Grand Ample Limited ([ Grand Ample | ) 3
527,027,320 and 20,690,234 shares respectively. Consequently, Mr. Zheng Songhui was A ' ifSong Rising&iGrand Amplef| 5 Bl #£527,027,320
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 547,717,554 shares held by Song Rising and 20,690,234 R A% 1 o UL - BBHAHE 5T A4 4R A 7 Song
Grand Ample. Rising#2Grand Ample® 5HH5 5 #1547,717, 554 3% i 1) #

B -

(3)  Held by Mr. Zheng Tianming through his wholly owned Sunny Foods Co., Ltd (“Sunny (3) HPREAKLAEFEIBHE 2 EHASunny Foods Co., Ltd([Sunny
Foods") and Sunny Foods owned 12,620,610 shares. Consequently, Mr. Zheng Tianming Foods |)#% + MSunny Foods8|# 412,620,610 %) ©
was deemed to be interested in the 12,620,610 shares held by Sunny Foods. B - BB KRR E A 1 48 AR Sunny Foods#$A#)12,620,610

RS h e e as o

(4)  The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 27 May 2015. Mr. Zheng (4)  ARQTER2015F5 27 A M E X ARSI BREE -
Songhui, Mr. Zheng Tianming and Ms. Zheng Ruyan were granted 2,000,000, 1,500,000 and MR AE A~ EPRBASE A REP N T 5 R 2008 A% -
1,500,000 share options respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2017, according 1508 B 150 A FEARIE - HE2017F12A3181E - RE"
to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Mr. Zheng Songhui, Mr. Zheng Tianming and Ms. WA ERERE S BB EA - BIRAAE A REN
Zheng Ruyan had 1,200,000, 900,000 and 900,000 outstanding shares options. FLTHBIE 12088 - 0B ARFNO0E AR B ARIE 15 AT TIE ©

(5)  On 12 June 2017, the Company completed the bonus issue and a total of 537,500,000 bonus (6)  ARQFR2017F6A12B ERAIREETT  AARBEITETIAHE
shares were issued on the basis of one bonus share for every one existing share held on the 537,500,000 AT AR B 7 52 8% A HA (B120179 6 A7 R ) iR & #H
record date, i.e. 7 June 2017. B1RIREROBER 1 IRAAR 2 EEERT ©

Save from disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the K& EXErHEESN - K2017F12H31H » AAF]

Directors nor chief executive of the Company had interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
are required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which are required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

EFUHBTHRABRMER AN RQ A A A
FE(EERBHRBPEGRGIFEXVER) B - 48
Mk RERED  BEREEFLPEGKISE
XVEPE 7R E8D ARG AR A KBk 2 A 69 (E 1]

R

FRR - HRIBEEF LA E DI E 352K 8%

Rz IGEPIPTR B B R MANEREEIORE - X

R

SAESTRIZRAN G AR R) KB P (E (] i 2

eV
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2017, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
indicated by the register recording share interests and short positions
required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, the persons
(not being Directors or chief executives of the Company) listed in the
following table had interest and/or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company:

Number of ordinary shares/

FTERR2FRES

2017612431 A « REEFA - REEE R
£ 5P EXVE 336 R AT B 2 IR
KRBEMFT  TRAIALEHAATES
BB THAR) A AR RIS SRR 99
R AR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the Company

Name Nature of interest underlying shares held (Note 1)
wE LB rEME FrisEBRR MERERO RRBFRZ
BMYOBEDL
(MEET)
Song Rising Beneficial owner 527,027,320 (Long positions) 49.02%
EHEAA (4¥%8)
Note: P &E

(1) As at 31 December 2017, the Company has issued 1,075,000,000 shares.

Save from disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons (not being Directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which would be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR SIMILAR
RIGHTS

Other than the share option schemes as set out in this annual report,
the Company had no other outstanding convertible securities, options,
warrants or similar rights as at 31 December 2017.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the share options granted in prior years and the Year are set
out in note 34 of the consolidated financial statements and “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme” and “Share Options Scheme” contained in this
Directors’ Report. Except as disclosed above, the Company has not
entered into any equity-linked agreements during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Year, neither did the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company's listed securities.

(1) 720174F12A31H * KRR #171,075,000,0008 %15 ©

B EXFEEEIN - N20174F12A8318 * SiE=E
Fran - EAMEMA L (WA RESSRS
THRAB)HBRIEES MG EXVEFE2R
3P EPAVE AR AR B E AL SR AR IR E
R EIEHIE336 1K FEN B L MAEA QRS
SRR R D R R RE S s A B o

RRES - BRE - RRERSECER

RN F 3RET L B AR ST BISN - AN A FIR20174612
A31 B EE A MR TTE AR E S - BBARAE -
R FE AR -

PRAEH S0 1

PBEFE R F AR R PR FBEIIN AR
EUMBRRMEAMRAEETEREN ERARME
SRR B R [ AR 8] - bR B EE
S - AR BIRE A AR ] LA B 55 -

RAFER - AR wE sk M ERNE QRS EE
B HERBEEMARRLEHES
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Total revenue from the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 31.74% of the Group's sales for the Year, in which the
sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 8.95% of the
Group's total sales for the Year.

Total purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 51.02% of the Group's purchases for the Year, in which the
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 24.2%
of the Group's total purchases for the Year.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their associates
or any Shareholders who own more than 5% of the Company’'s share
capital has any interest in the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed sufficient public float under the Listing Rules.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult an
expert.

AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong has audited the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2017. RSM Hong Kong will retire,
being eligible, and is willing to offer themselves for re-appointment as

auditor of the Company at the AGM.

The Company did not change its auditor in the past three years.

By the order of the Board
CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.

Zheng Songhui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018

i

FREFPRMERD

FEBREANERUETFORAREREBREF
RIHEREA31.74% - - RREFHHERG
IR B A FE A E HFHAI8.95% ©

AEEBEARANERNHERNEERLER
EEAFEEEEENS1.02% - FAHE
AHEEBEAEEATEEEAEN24.2% -

HEEMA  HEEE  REOBEATHEM
RERFEBERNRIRAES% A LHEEE R HER 2
Ef s -

BACARERE
BEHEAFRABINREERAIITERAR
AN EMZARENERESEME - ARF D%
B EMRAREZ RHARIFRE -
EENEEREER

MR AGEEERE 56 06 BEXTFE
BEBEARRBROHOEMEFNOBELE  EE%K
EHREEAT -

B
FIREE(BR)LMEBEMEERASEES
2017F12 A3V BILFEZ LA MIEHRE - FinE
E(EB)STMEHSERREBEFEAS FRAY
HEERMEEERBADNBIZEA

RANRBE=FIRE B RZEHED -

AEEG®
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Y8 3 A% BRI ] 5

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

T+8522598 5123
F+8522598 7230

www.rsmhk.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CHINA
GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group"”) set out on pages 100 to 183, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

RSM Hong Kong

RSM

hin EE (F8) et E 5T
EAREERFE=1/\5E
FE—H=—+h=FE

Eah +852 2598 5123

{#H +852 2598 7230

www.rsmhk.com

HhEBREEEARL R
DI AR IR
(RASREEMRLNERLF)

)

il
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BREELSEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, FARECETEAEBEESE 2 EEHE - RAHN
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HREGAMBRELERSAEEEH - ZZ
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the ZHERETERZBESAMKREREESRE
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, [EIE MBS T2HZEFHEHRBEANZER -
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate  EZE#pIzEREZEES -

opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1.

Valuation of goodwill and identifiable assets and liabilities acquired 1. ¥:FEBEBEESHWBE 2 HEULAIHREE

through business combination
Accounting for the acquisition of an associate

Fair value measurement of biological assets

RkEBETHE
2. WE-REZEQAZEEE

3. EMEEZAREERE

Valuation of goodwill and identifiable assets and liabilities acquired 1. %FEBEEAWE 2B RAIHRIEE

through business combination

Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

REEETHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEvERNMEEEREZEE

Refer to note 38(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.
RN S BT TR R M 5E38(a) ©

During the year, the Group completed the acquisition
of 86% equity interests in EMNTREZRARARAD
Al (Zhangzhou Changfeng Edible Fungi Co., Ltd.)
(“Zhangzhou Changfeng"), through the acquisition of
an investment holding vehicle company, Mega Rainbow
International Limited.

FR BEEEFARE FRETIAQARDKITEERER
ARIFERBEEMNTRERAERARAR(NENREDZ
86% IR A #R ©

=
=
|
i

=5

Ay

93

Our procedures in relation to valuation of goodwill and
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired through business
combination included:
EEHEREBEHNB BB UARAIBANEE R B EET
HEZEFEIE

e Evaluation of the external valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

AHESNEDIAER 2 B - REh RFEIE

e Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies applied and valuation inputs, and the
integrity of the valuation models with the assistance
of our internal valuation specialists;

EENNBEEZRWBE T - FHEFERA 2 GETE
RAEBEHABBEEES A RABERYER S TE

-E AR AT | 2017 Fik
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

1.

Valuation of goodwill and identifiable assets and liabilities

through business combination (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

acquired 1.

BRELSE(E)

HEBEBAKB 2EBEARAREREE
ke BETHEE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

za

EECERNEEBEREZSE

The Group has determined this acquisition to be a
business combination for which the purchase price is
to be allocated between acquired assets and liabilities,
identified intangible assets and contingent liabilities at
their respecting fair values, and leading to the resultant
recognition of goodwill.
EEERUMWBERETREBEH  MBEEDNER
BEENAE BEHRNEFEERIRABZEAKRELS
ZARBEDE  BHAUESZEHERER -

As a policy, for significant acquisitions, an independent
professional valuer was engaged by the Group to
perform a purchase price allocation exercise, involving
fair valuation of acquired assets and liabilities and/or
identification and valuation of intangible assets. The
identification of such assets and liabilities, and their
measurement at fair value is inherently judgemental,
thus we considered this area to be a key audit matter.
EREGK MEBAWEFEMS © BE5EZEBUIEE
HEMETEEESRTY  EFSRMBEREEERS
B2 AR BTG R NHA B EE RIS - BREER
BEZHEINAREAREBEAEAE L NBAEEE A
I EEHILEER AEREZEE -

Assessing the completeness and appropriateness
of the accounting by reviewing the key documents
associated with the acquisition including the
equity transfer agreement, Zhangzhou Changfeng
management accounts, articles of association of
Zhangzhou Changfeng, the announcements issued by
the Group for the disclosable transaction in relation
to the acquisition of equity interests in Zhangzhou
Changfeng;

AAEMENEEENBRXGTEEHRENERS

TELEE  ARXMEREREEREDRS  BNREZ
ERERR  ENREZER - BEEEEGHKREEM

REBRENETERERSNENASE

Visiting Zhangzhou Changfeng to understand the
nature of its operations and assess the condition of its
assets; and

FaEMEE  UBRBAEXEME RTHEEEMR
&

Assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions
used in the valuation models based on the past
performance of Zhangzhou Changfeng, the current
operating environment and our knowledge of the
industry.

BRBEMEENBERER  BAIKERBAREZENIT
EE - SHAAERERAZREREEAE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2. Accounting for the acquisition of an associate

BRELSE(E)

2. WBE-—FRBEAR SRR

Key Audit Matter
BERERSEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EE2ERNAEREEREZSEIE

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
EREGAMEREN O -

During the year the Group acquired 48.7% equity
interests in an associate, EFiRERMEEERA
Al (Guangxi Jiabao Food Group Co., Ltd.) (“Guangxi
Jiabao”), through the acquisition of an investment
holding vehicle company, Lucky Max Development
Limited. The associate is principally engaged in sales
and processing of canned food, quick-freezing for fruit
and vegetables, sales and production of frozen food,
and cultivation of agricultural products in the People’s
Republic of China.

FR BEEFEBRE—MEIKETAZRRLucky Max
Development Limited e iiE — i E AR ERRER
mEEBRAR([EEREE]) 248.7% KA - e
RAIFERPEARKMBEREHERNIHEEARS - &R
BKRERBX - HEREESRRD  URBHEEER -

Upon acquisition of the associate, management is
required to determine the Group's share of the fair
value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities
and the goodwill relating to the associate, which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.
This requires the exercise of significant management
judgement to ensure the completeness of the assets
and liabilities identified and in relation to any fair value
adjustments to the associate’'s book values. There is
a risk that the cost of the investment is not allocated
correctly, which could impact the Group’s share of the
associate’s profit or loss after acquisition.

RS RE  BREERET ESEEGZBER
A2 AR EERBEAREEZEBE AR ZEEBZAR
BE MEEAABEESAREARAE - EREEHEE
TEEAHIE - AR ERIEERAE - AREZHE
ARIZREEELEERNARERE L TERE - EFET
ERSBEREKRAZ B - WAl BRENKERE

EBERR 2 BRERTE

Management engaged an independent external valuer
to assist with the determination of the fair values.

ERECRBB I BEEMGEEEAAE -

i

Our procedures in relation to the accounting for the
acquisition of an associate included:
EERPB—TMERR A RE L RFBE

e Evaluation of the external valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

FHESNEDAER 2 B - BE W BB

e Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies applied and valuation inputs, and the
integrity of the valuation models with the assistance
of our internal valuation specialists;

EENABEEERFE T - sHEFTRBZBETE
RAEBEBABBEEESE U RABERAR T TE ;

e Assessing the completeness and appropriateness
of the accounting by reviewing the key documents
associated with the acquisition including the equity
transfer agreement, Guangxi Jiabao management
accounts, articles of association of Guangxi Jiabao,
the announcements issued by the Group for the
disclosable transaction in relation to the acquisition of
equity interests in Guangxi Jiabao;
FREMNEKEE AN AR T AT RERERS
TEREE  FRXMEEREEZERS BEAREZ
ERERE EARB2ER E5EMEGHAKEER
EERENATREZXSTIENLRE

e  Visiting Guangxi Jiabao to understand the nature of its
operations and assess the condition of its assets; and
FHEARE  UBRMBAEEEMEERTHEEEMRR
K

e Assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions
used in the valuation models based on the past
performance of Guangxi Jiabao, the current operating
environment and our knowledge of the industry.
REEOZENRERR  EAIKERERTENTE
M FHEAERER A REREE G ©
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

Fair value measurement of biological assets

Key Audit Matter
BRERSE

BRESSE(E)

3. EMEEZAREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EE2ERNAEREEREZSEIE

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

R A B TS ERR M FE23 -

The Group’s biological assets comprise mushrooms.
During the growing period, fair value is estimated
using a cost approach and during the harvest period
a market approach is adopted. The determination of
fair value requires significant management estimation,
particularly with respect to unobservable inputs such
as expected crop yields. As at 31 December 2017, the
Group had biological assets with a carrying amount of
RMB13.58 million.

SEZEYEEREERER - EERBAMKAKAE
ﬁ L ARME > MBKBARATISE EEAREERE
EREITREANNMG - CHISHE N AIEREUE - INFAHE
MES - R2017F12A318 EEEEMEEREE
BARE13.58EETT °

The Group engaged an independent external valuer
to assist the directors in assessing the fair value of
biological assets.
EEEERBIINIEEM B EFTEENEEZ LR
BfE -

Our procedures in relation to the fair value measurement
of biological assets included:

BEEREMEBEZ AR BEFEZREFERE

Evaluating the independent professional valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

AEBLFEMGEEMZER e HREBIE

Assessing with the assistance of our internal
valuation experts the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies, key inputs and assumptions adopted;

%%mm%m@ﬁimﬁT'ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%Zﬁﬁﬁ
% BEHBERBREREER

Checking the accuracy and relevance of the inputs to
supporting evidence; and

REEIE 2 AR R R R B FHEBAAE 0 &

Considering the adequacy of the fair value disclosures
in relation to biological assets.

ERELEMEERBZ AR BERESS R -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

i
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZHENRE

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZHENRE

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tam Shing Yu.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

28 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
meiEm

=

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

2017 2016
20175 20164
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E ARBTT AREF T
Revenue A 7 1,064,254 1,086,216
Changes in fair value of biological EMEEARBEEER
assets less cost to sell SHERK A 157,703 207,419
Cost of goods sold EEMRKA (991,808) (1,015,050)
Business tax, other taxes and B - HMB e KM
auxiliary charges (2,310) (1,867)
Gross profit ER 227,839 276,718
Other income Hth U A 8 12,852 19,161
Selling expenses SHERRS (6,148) (4,582)
Administrative expenses THH (46,363) (65,051)
Profit from operations e mA 188,180 226,246
Finance costs B SR AN 10 (564) (808)
Profit before tax i AE Fl 187,616 225,438
Income tax expense FrisfiF X 11 (3,591) (3,799)
Profit for the year FER@EA 12 184,025 221,639
Attributable to: BB :
Owners of the Company KRB)EB A 184,551 222,092
Non-controlling interests IR A 55 (526) (453)
184,025 221,639
Restated
®E7
Earnings per share SRER 16
Basic (RMB cents per share) ERN(BRARES) RMBA R # RMBA R
17.19 cents % 21.80 cents%
Diluted (RMB cents per share) BE(BRARES) RMBA R# RMBA R
17.09 cents? 21.71 cents?
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reEnkHEMRENKE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE2017F12A318 L5 E

2017 2016

20175 20164

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTFT

Profit for the year FEREF 184,025 221,639
Other comprehensive income FREMEEWRE - NBRFE

for the year, net of tax - =

Total comprehensive income for the year FE2 KA 184,025 221,639

Attributable to: BERN

Owners of the Company KARIEAR A 184,551 222,092

Non-controlling interests IEIE AR HE 25 (526) (453)

184,025 221,639
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R

At 31 December 2017
20174128318

2017 2016
20175 20164
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBTT ARET T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB M RE 17 186,623 180,214
Goodwill HES 18 158,648 -
Investment in an associate R—HEEE QA RRRE 19 194,210 =
Prepaid land lease payments B LT E K 20 32,065 32,784
Other assets Hih&EE 21 674 690
Total non-current assets FRBEEHRE 572,220 213,688
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 22 17,857 19,037
Biological assets EYEE 23 13,580 59,319
Trade receivables & 5 WA 24 151,259 196,645
Deposits, prepayments and e BEREK
other receivables o Ath MR IE 25 147,472 121,865
Due from a related party U —ZRE A - 6,800
Due from non-controlling interests FE W AR R 2R X IE 1,962
Bank and cash balances RITMIR S8R 26 1,056,631 1,174,002
Total current assets M EERE 1,386,799 1,579,630
TOTAL ASSETS BEEMAE 1,959,019 1,793,318
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EakaE
Equity attributable to owners BN ARARES AR
of the Company
Share capital A% A 27 70,062 31,919
Other reserves H bt 29 1,818,849 1,639,434
1,888,911 1,671,353
Non-controlling interests 9,854 5,311
Total equity 1,898,765 1,676,664
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities FREBES
Operating lease rentals received in advance JE&WEMRLHER S 120 1,091
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade payables g 5 ENRIE 30 19,532 79,993
Accruals and other payables FEstE R R EMENZRIE 31 22,573 24,566
Bank loan RITER 32 10,000 10,000
Current tax liabilities BNEATRIE & 15 2,784 1,004
Due to non-controlling interests FET IR AR A SRR 33 5,245 -
Total current liabilities REBBEEEE 60,134 115,563
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRkEERE 1,959,019 1,793,318

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2018 and are signed on  EZ @ 2018F3 A28t /& A T EEREK
its behalf by: B5E

Zheng Songhui Zheng Ruyan
QAR IE EIRIELS
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SERHBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRNALEEEA
Statutory Share  Shares Non-
Share Other Share  Capital  surplus option tobe Retained controlling Total
capital  reserve premium  reserve  reserve  reserve issued earnings Total interests equity
tERE  BRE ATEG FER

B RbEE KORE BARE 0 BE 0 BRE KH REEW & 0 BE  BREE
RMB00D  RMBIODO RMBOO0 RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOD RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOOD RMB'00D  RMBI0D0
ARETTL ARRTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARRTT ARETT ARBTL ARETR ARMFT ARETR

At 1 January 2016 #2016F1A18 30,586 (1,000 544,255 - 3168 31,801 - 816,029 145329 - 145329
Total comprehensive income ERrEhneE

for the year - - - - - - - 092 222,09 (453) 221,639
Transfer &g - - (200,000 - = - - 200,000 - - -
Receipt for exercise of share options  /7{FERER I - = = = = - 3010 - 3010 - 3010
Equity-settled share-based payments  MEREERN AER 25 - - - - - 33510 - - 33510 - 33510
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve  ERZFFRBAERE - - - - 301 - - B0 - - -
Issue of shares under share RERREHETRA

option schemes 13383 - 15877 - - (2869 - - 48hN - 485N
Dividends paid note 15 BfiRE (1) - - - - - - - 122506 (122,506) - [122506)
Capital injection to a subsidiary by~ JFARERA-FHBAFTE

non-controlling interests - - - 2,440 - - - - 2,440 5,764 8,204
Changes in equity for the year FRiERS 1333 - (124123 2440 3,014 4811 34010 296572 218,057 5311 223368
At 31 December 2016 #2016%12A318 31,919 (10000 420,132 2,440 34,639 36,612 34010 1,112,601 1,671,353 5311 1,676,664
At 1 January 2017 R017F1 518 31,919 (1,000 420,132 2,440 34,639 36,612 34,010 1,112,601 1,671,353 5311 1,676,664
Total comprehensive income ERRENGEE

for the year - - - - - - - 184551 184,551 (526) 184,025
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-ZHEAR - - - - - - 9,606 - 9,606 3509 13,115
Acquisition of an associate WE-FBELT - - - - - - 1A - 1A -
Equity-settled share-hased payments  MEREERN AER 27 - - - - - 1431 - - 7431 - 7431
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve  ERAZEERAH(E - - - - 1,189 - - (1189 - - -
Issue of shares under share RERRETEZRE

option schemes 1,203 - 69,130 - - (2381)  (34,010) - 12482 - 12492
Issue of bonus shares ik 36,940 - [36,940) - - - - - - - -
Dividends paid (note 15) BfIRE (z15) - - - - - - - (933 (933 - (933
Capital injection to a subsidiary A-FHBARTE - - - [1560) - - - - (1560) 1560 -
Changes inequity for teyear ~ EREREE 3,143 - R0 (1560 1189 (164400  (9093) 174029 217558 4543 222,101
At 31 December 2017 R2017£12A318 70,062 (1,000 452,322 880 35,828 20,172 24,017 1,286,630 1,888,911 9,854 1,898,765
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

u/-.r\ IE%/}HJE'%:Z

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

2017 2016
20175 20164
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBT T ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETERZEERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax T A Y A 187,616 225,438
Adjustments for: KR -
Changes in fair value of biological EMBEEAARBEEBREEE
assets less cost to sell XA 157,703 207,419
Finance costs B TSR AN 564 808
Interest income FEUA (11,082) (9,357)
Depreciation e 12,221 11,053
Amortisation of prepaid land lease &~ £ 3t 2 & 7 8
payments 719 761
Gain on disposal of property, BEVE  BEIEKER
plant and equipment and Jaft b E Rz ek
prepaid land lease payment (3) (1,399)
Equity-settled share-based payments DARE RS i E MR D A EL AR
PANE 7,431 33,510
Operating profit before working BESEERIAKE LS
capital changes 355,169 468,233
Decrease in other assets Hfh &R 16 16
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFERLD, () 2,755 (38)
Increase in biological assets Y EEEIG N (106,230) (213,636)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 W FIER AL/ (3E10) 49,770 (72,165)
Increase in deposits, prepayment and B ANREREM
other receivables JE W R TEE N (25,138) (9,049)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables Z S EMNFIBECRD ), /8N (62,821) 38,715
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and fé{l‘%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ{@ﬁiﬁm
other payables ),/ N (2,553) 7,083
Due from non-controlling interests J?Euﬁz;iﬁ S # %5 7R I 7,207 (1,962)
(Refund of)/cash received from KeEHERSGRE),
operating lease rental Frik 2z 3B & (971) 1,091
Cash generated from operations Z«‘éﬁ,ﬁé)ﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁ% 217,204 218,288
Income taxes paid =ENNziEs (1,811) (3,847)
Interest paid EN%‘JE (564) (808)
Net cash generated from operating LB EETSIR &R 5
activities 214,829 213,633
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHZ2HEERE
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of a subsidiary U — B A Al 38(a) (168,381) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB Y% - K= k& (5,247) (32,553)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - HEREHR
plant and equipment and prepaid land TS £ 1 & KA P15 508
lease payment 227 7,800
Due from a related party FE U — & B 5 5K IE 6,800 (6,800)
Investment in an associate R—HEBE A TNIRE (179,800) -
Interest received BUFIE 11,082 9,357
Net cash used in investing activities KB ERE AR S FR (335,319) (22,196)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

2017 2016
20175 20164
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E ARBT T ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank loan raised MABRITER 10,000 10,000
Repayment of bank loan ERBITER (10,000) (10,000)
Issue of share capital BITRRAR 12,452 48,511
Receipt for exercise of share options 1TE R AR B R - 34,010
Capital injection to a subsidiary by non- RS — R E A A
controlling interests TE - 8,204
Dividends paid to owners of the Company Xt FARBIHA A ZIKE (9,333) (122,506)
Net cash generated from/(used in) mMEEHAE (FTR)EE
financing activities JREE 3,119 (31,781)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HR&RREZBYWORL),
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS I HNFEE (117,371) 159,656
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MB1ENESR
AT 1 JANUARY HEEEY 1,174,002 1,014,346
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS M2A3MENEREESR
AT 31 DECEMBER BEEEY 1,056,631 1,174,002
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND HeRREEE YD
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRBESER 1,056,631 1,174,002
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is 8th Floor, Building No. 10, Guanyinshan
Business Centre, Siming District, Xiamen, People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC"). The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Song Rising Co., Ltd.,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate
parent, and Mr. Zheng Songhui who is a director of the Company, is
the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB"). IFRSs comprise International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS"); International Accounting Standards
("IAS"); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

IASB has issued certain new and revised |IFRSs that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

FESEEEARAR(IAAT])RES
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P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands o H = 2 & Z i B 7 1O 2
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RGFBRAR([BERAT])ERET -

ARBRREERRAE - BB AR ZEE
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ARARIEERE  Song Rising Co., Ltd. (R
REEZEEFMALORR) ARRARIEE
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B B 75 3R 5 A2 B ([ BIPR B B 3R 22 R ) 4R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

Application of new and revised IFRSs

IASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRSs that are first
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. Of
these, the following new or revised IFRSs are relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosure of changes
in their liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as
foreign exchange gains or losses). The Group has provided this
information in note 38(b).

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017. These new and revised IFRSs include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
BRI R EER ESR ST A

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

BB REERE1RBE TP AIWA

IFRS 16 Leases
BIFR B i 5 AE RIS 1655 FH &

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

BRI ISIREREZ B @23 MISHERIE 2 MEEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and new standards is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified
some aspects of the new standards which may have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further details of
the expected impacts are discussed below. While the assessment
has been substantially completed for IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, the actual
impacts upon the initial adoption of the standards may differ as the
assessment completed to date is based on the information currently
available to the Group, and further impacts may be identified before
the standards are initially applied in the Group's interim financial
report for the six months ended 30 June 2018. The Group may
also change its accounting policy elections, including the transition
options, until the standards are initially applied in that interim
financial report.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement of financial assets, new rules for hedge accounting
and a new impairment model for financial assets.

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018 on a retrospective basis. The Group plans to adopt the
new standard on the required effective date and will not restate
comparative information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

3%

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Based on an analysis of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2017 on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that exist at that date, the directors of the Company
have assessed the impact of IFRS 9 to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as follows:

(a) Impairment

IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise and measure either a
12-month expected credit loss or lifetime expected credit loss,
depending on the asset and the facts and circumstances. The
Group expects that the application of the expected credit loss
model will result in earlier recognition of credit losses. Based on
a preliminary assessment, if the Group were to adopt the new
impairment requirements at 31 December 2017, accumulated
impairment loss at that date would similar with that recognised
under IAS 39.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising
revenue from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will replace the
existing revenue standards, IAS 18, Revenue, which covers revenue
arising from sale of goods and rendering of services, and IAS 11,
Construction contracts, which specifies the accounting for revenue
from construction contracts.

IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018. The standard permits either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach for the adoption. The Group intends to adopt
the standard using the modified retrospective approach which means
that the cumulative impact of the adoption will be recognised in
retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 and that comparatives will not
be restated.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

Based on the assessment completed to date, the Group has
identified the following areas which are expected to be affected:

(a)

Timing of revenue recognition

Currently, revenue from the sale of goods is generally
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have
passed to the customers.

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the promised good or service in the contract.
IFRS 15 identifies 3 situations in which control of the promised
good or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

(a)  When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the entity's performance, as the
entity performs;

(b) When the entity's performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; and

(c) When the entity’'s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into any
of these 3 situations, then under IFRS 15 the entity recognises
revenue for the sale of that good or service at a single point
in time, being when control has passed. Transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators that will be
considered in determining when the transfer of control occurs.

For contracts with customers in which the sale of goods is
generally expected to be the only performance obligation,
adoption of IFRS 15 is not expected to have any impact on
the Group's revenue or profit or loss. The Group expects the
revenue recognition to occur at a point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of
the goods.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 3. BRENFINET RARMEET 2 BIRR B 3R 5 22 A (48)

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The
new standard introduces a single accounting model for lessees.
For lessees the distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets). IFRS 16 carries forward
the accounting requirements for lessors in IAS 17 substantially
unchanged. Lessors will therefore continue to classify leases as
operating or financing leases.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019. The Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach
and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption.

Based on a preliminary assessment, the standard will affect primarily
the accounting for the Group's operating leases. The Group's office
property leases and production plants are currently classified as
operating leases and the lease payments (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Under IFRS 16 the Group may need
to recognise and measure a liability at the present value of the future
minimum lease payments and recognise a corresponding right-of-use
asset for these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability and
depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be recognised in profit or
loss. The Group's assets and liabilities will increase and the timing of
expense recognition will also be impacted as a result.

As disclosed in note 37, the Group's future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases for its office properties and
production plants amounted to RMB13,096,000 as at 31 December
2017. These leases are expected to be recognised as lease liabilities,
with corresponding right-of-use assets, once IFRS 16 is adopted.
The amounts will be adjusted for the effects of discounting and the
transition reliefs available to the Group.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation of IAS 12 Income Taxes sets out how to apply that
standard when there is uncertainty about income tax treatments.
Entities are required to determine whether uncertain tax treatments
should be assessed separately or as a group depending on which
approach will better predict the resolution of the uncertainties.
Entities will have to assess whether it is probable that a tax authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. If yes, the accounting
treatment will be consistent with the entity's income tax filings. If
not, however, entities are required to account for the effects of the
uncertainty using either the most likely outcome or expected value
method depending on which method is expected to better predict its
resolution.

The Group is unable to estimate the impact of the interpretation
on the consolidated financial statements until a more detailed
assessment has been completed.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. biological assets that are measured at
fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners
of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at
the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. |dentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values.

(a)

(b)

BETBER(#)
FEIRE ()

FERESETFERARMEBNAR

TZW% Nl o SRR IER TN 2D
ﬁé%%#ﬁ%&@é Eﬁﬁﬁz

o SEERERIERIEERERR
¥ﬁ$ RBBAZES Mﬁgrmﬂ
TETE&EEW B 2INERAE

mR kA EEREMEE K %W"

) 3k 18 e B Ath 22 T M s Y % B0 4D B
BT ARREGEA AR ERBCER
B BB IR IR i B A S AL AR ERTTAA

AR R EE R R EK B AR RS ER
HEEEER &@A%Wﬁ%ﬁx%@@%
NEBARDETHREEARS) °
&%%hﬁ*m%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%uﬁﬁﬁ
R B AR EREESR e - IR
ENAEHBEEE MR ERNREAAE
ZHENIMEZBIEERERER I
RBRARARBEAA °

RARBZHERRERA - 7R — M E
“ﬂ%&ﬁﬂ&ﬁ¢ﬂ£ﬁ@%%ﬂ
B BRIERREDBERIFELRE (HBEA
DERFELE Z HEAR) BIVER -

EBApREE

ARRBERAWBEBRLA 60 pTUlE
BB ARSI - EBEHRERENR
BNRMESERERMNORIAE I
BIOUNRATARFEENEBEARE
ﬂi%ﬁﬁﬁi W ARR AR ARG B
BAEE REERGHRER S -
REBRMBARNAIEZNEERE
& SIERNKRERHNAAEFE -

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2017

114



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

.
N

B HRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is
added to the sum of the consideration transferred in a business
combination to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units ("CGUs") or groups of
CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention
and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate's
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group's share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between
(i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's
entire carrying amount of that associate (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If
an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure the retained interest.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Associates (Continued)

(d)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
Company's presentation currency are translated into the
Company's presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below), are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years
Office equipment and others 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending installation, and is
stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when
the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Leases
The Group as lessee
(i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised on the straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease.

The Group as lessor
(i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

Research and development expenditures

Expenditures on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Mushrooms

The Group is involved in the agricultural activities of the
transformation of biological assets into agricultural produce.
The mushrooms are measured at fair value less costs to sell at
initial recognition and at the end of each reporting period. The
fair value of the mushrooms under growing period and harvest
period are determined based on costs incurred to grow the
mushroom and the market approach respectively. Gain or loss on
initial recognition and from subsequent changes in fair value less
costs to sell is included in profit or loss for the period in which it
arises.

The mushrooms are initially measured at their fair value less
costs to sell at the time of harvest. The fair value of the
mushrooms is determined based on market prices in the local
area. Gain on initial recognition at fair value less costs to sell is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

The fair value less costs to sell at the time of harvest of the
mushrooms becomes their cost for the measurement of
inventories. Such inventories are subsequently stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not
retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

(k)

mn

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial
assets within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. These assets are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method (except for short-term receivables
where interest is immaterial) minus any reduction for impairment
or uncollectibility. Typically trade and other receivables, bank
balances and cash are classified in this category.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

(o)

(p)

(q)

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenues from the sales of goods are recognised on the transfer
of significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and the
title has passed to the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Employee benefits
(i)  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss
represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(ili) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments to directors and employees are measured at the
fair value (excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares that
will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that
are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Government grants

(w

-

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with
the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Taxation (Continued)

(x)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that are
not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment annually
and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the CGU.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(y)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are computed using
pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset/CGU whose impairment is being
measured.

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first against the
goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the other assets
of the CGU. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount
caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to
the extent that they reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether
its financial assets (other than those at fair value through profit
or loss) are impaired, based on objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition, the estimated future cash flows of the (group of)
financial asset(s) have been affected.

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired
individually, the Group assesses them collectively for
impairment, based on the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the delayed payments in the portfolio,
observable changes in economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly
reduced by the impairment loss.

4.

EDN

(x)

(y)

BETBER (&
FEMEERME(E)

EREEREE HREELEMMBER
KREREZHE - RERRKREEE
MEREE ReELEM(EFER
B)ZEBERBRZBAMIREE

ReEEBM 2 RERBESTAREHE
BURE RAERRReELELMHEM
BEZFZLPIDE - BERGEAZEEHE
R kEeEERAAESE  BEH
BIRAE °

TREERE

REBRERR  AEETSREBEZEE
AN eMEEZGEFARRS
MEBHRVTERREEZ —BAXZA
EHMEITE)FEEEREEEA
AEFABRENEREERINBELR
I

45808 AT A4 X MO (B 2 R MR IR 5
AEEERBAR B 2 8RR
REMENTEEBERZEN - BRI
BENBRABEGTHR KRR LR
R EARTEEERE -

EREFBEZEEESEBRERD
B A R B2 BT E s 2 BRR YT
ABHER - BERZEEEZPRER
R -

SAAEMERMEENS @ REESHE
BERBEEEEH A o

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2017

128



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=
ey

PR ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

(z)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the amount
of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed (either directly or by adjusting the
allowance account for trade receivables) through profit or loss.
However, the reversal must not result in a carrying amount that
exceeds what the amortised cost of the financial asset would
have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date
the impairment is reversed.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(aa) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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5.

KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group's property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
as at 31 December 2017 was RMB186,623,000 (2016:
RMB180,214,000).

Fair values of biological assets

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair values of the biological assets. In determining the
fair values, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which
involves certain estimates. The directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation and
input used are reflective of the current market conditions.

The carrying amount of biological assets as at 31 December
2017 was RMB13,580,000 (2016: RMB59,319,000).
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5. KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful
debts, in particular of a loss event, requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value
of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in
the year in which such estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2017, impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts amounted to RMB Nil (2016: RMB Nil).

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
aging and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the
period in which such estimate has been changed. No allowance
for slow-moving inventories was made for the year ended 31
December 2017 (2016: RMB Nil).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the
reporting period was RMB 158,648,000 No impairment has been
recognised during the year.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities,
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”), United States dollars ("US$") and
RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2017, if the HK$ had weakened 1 per cent
against RMB with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit after tax for the year would have been approximately
RMB1,000 (2016: RMB40,000) lower, arising mainly as a
result of the foreign exchange loss on bank and cash balances
denominated in HK$. If the HK$ had strengthened 1 per cent
against RMB with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit after tax for the year would have been approximately
RMB1,000 (2016: RMB40,000) higher, arising mainly as a
result of the foreign exchange gain on bank and cash balances
denominated in HKS.

At 31 December 2017, if the US$ had weakened 1 per cent
against RMB with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit after tax for the year would have been approximately
RMB746,000 (2016: RMB681,000) lower, arising mainly as
a result of the net foreign exchange loss on bank and cash
balances, trade receivables and trade payables denominated in
USS$. If the US$ had strengthened 1 per cent against RMB with
all other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for
the year would have been approximately RMB746,000 (2016:
RMB681,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of the net foreign
exchange gain on bank and cash balances, trade receivables and
trade payables denominated in USS$.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HEEKRER(E)

(b) Credit risk (b) FERR
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

AEETEFEZETNEERR -

FEBEARENARREEDNAREEE
EEREZZEFIE

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

ReRBPITHEBNEERBRER - RE
EHFAREBRREENAREL TS
EEEFRAIRT

(¢) Liquidity risk (c) REVEZRME
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient

reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

AEBENBRRRTRERRE RIAHN
MBESHE - EREAER BN
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The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows of the Group's financial liabilities is as follows:

Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2 and5 years 5 years Total
DME 1225 2Z55F EiR5F st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETRT AR®TR ARETR AR®BTr AR%ETR
At 31 December 2017 20175128318
Trade payables B S ENHIE 19,532 - - - 19,532
Accruals and EFERR
other payables Hib R 22,573 - - - 22,573
Bank loan RITER 10,113 - - - 10,113
Due to non-controlling FERTIEIERR
interests R TIE 5,245 - - - 5,245
57,463 - - - 57,463
At 31 December 2016 #2016F12A31H
Trade payables B S ENHIE 79,993 = = = 79,993
Accruals and EFERR
other payables HibERIE 24,566 - - - 24,566
Bank loan RITER 10,087 = = = 10,087
114,646 - - - 114,646
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits. These deposits bear interests at variable rates varied
with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group's bank borrowing and certain of the Group's bank
deposits bear interest at fixed rate and therefore is subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2017, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 10 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/(decreased) the
Group's profit after tax for the year as follows:

6. HREMERE (%)

(d) F=EE

AEBOFNXRER T ZRERITFR °
ZEFSHTNEL - AEEROTIRME

AEBEHORITERR RSB E TRT
FRIVES - LRUEZ QA ERER
KM

2017128318 - A EM A EH
RERFTE AW EEBANELEAH T
FRIOMEEE - ANEENFAEFEBG
o CRA)mT

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T

Increase/(decrease) in interest rates  FZi& i (GE )
10 basis points 101EIE 2L 800 910
(10) basis points (10)EE 24 (800) (910)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on the
Group's profit for the year and retained profits that would have
arisen assuming that there is an annualised impact on interest
income and expense by a change in interest rates. The analysis
has been performed on the same basis thorough for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

FlSEEDMHARRFRES S Y
%IJ,%\uéz)\&ﬁﬁizFfﬁt%% | R g
Al B ¥ A E F s ) R AR B i FlE
EE’JWE ZOMNEE2017F 22016
F12A31 B L FEIRAREEET

Categories of financial instruments (e) £RTEER
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREF T
Financial assets: EREE
Loans and receivables (including cash ERREWKZFE(BERESRIRS
and cash equivalents) ZEY) 1,350,654 1,379,949
Financial liabilities: eReE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REERAENESREE 57,350 114,559
Fair values f) ARE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and NEBEBMEERSBEBBENEATE

financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair value.
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7. REVENUE 7. WA

The Group's revenue which represents sales of goods to customers AREBHEERTEPHOWALT :
are as follows:

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
King trumpet mushroom Py p e 372,734 362,106
Button mushroom, straw mushroom and B - B LR
shiitake mushroom 176,371 191,564
Canned food R M 65,448 76,146
Other processed food products HEa TR 33,692 52,352
Trading through domestic network Bl AREHE 160,812 150,964
International trading of food RRME S 255,197 253,084
1,064,254 1,086,216
8. OTHER INCOME 8. EMAgA

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
Exchange gain PEE 5 U 25 - 5,429
Government subsidies and awards (note) BT 4 Bh K% 228 (B &%) 998 1,762
Bank interest income RITHEHA 11,082 9,357
Rental income AW A 435 448

Gain on disposal of property, plant and BB - WE REEREMN T
equipment and prepaid land lease payments & s 3 1,399
Scrap sales HERES 73 730
Others Hiptb 261 36
12,852 19,161

Note: Government subsidies and awards mainly related to the subsidy received from the MR - BUSHE) R R E ZENEMBTRERRAZIZE
local government authority to support the local business development. R A ©
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&k

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has six reportable segments as follows:

King trumpet mushroom - Planting of king trumpet mushroom

Button mushroom, straw - Planting of button mushroom, straw
mushroom and shiitake mushroom and shiitake mushroom
mushroom

Canned food — Manufacturing and trading of canned

food

Other processed food — Manufacturing and trading of other

products processed food products such

as brined mushroom, preserved
vegetables and dried mushroom and
etc.

Trading through domestic - Trading of edible fungi and fresh fruit

network and vegetables in PRC
International trading of — Trading of edible fungi, fresh fruit
food and vegetables, canned food,

frozen food, edible fungi healthcare
products and etc other than in PRC

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products and services. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated business tax,
other taxes and auxiliary charges, selling expenses, administrative
expenses, other income, finance costs and income tax expense.
Segment assets include trade receivables, inventories, biological
assets and goodwill.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the
sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market prices.
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. AHERGE)
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, ARTR2ROIES BERBGBHER
liabilities:
Other Trading
King processed through International
trumpet Canned food domestic trading of
mushroom food products network food Total
) i EnEE g
) 3 EERR NIRE HE RRES a5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETRT  ARBTR  AREBTR  ARETR  ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2017  EZ2017512A318 L EE
Revenue from external customers ~ RESNIRFHIBA 372,134 65,448 33,692 160,812 255197 1,064,254
Intersegment revenue A EEBA 68 - - - - 68
Segment profit kil 110,278 15,068 5,879 12,224 20,249 245,127
Other material items of income EEARARZILER -
and expense:
Income tax expense FRHRT - 1,975 - 7 1,553 3,591
As at 31 December 2017 #2017412431H
Segment assets PEEE 187,552 9,486 4,230 - 104,854 310,410
Other Trading
King processed through  International
trumpet Canned food domestic trading of
mushroom food products network food Total
Eft ElhRiE il
g BERM NIRM #HE EmES &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET  ARETR  ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2016 £Z2016512B310LEE
Revenue from external customers ~ RESNSEEEMA 362,106 76,146 52,352 150,964 253,084 1,086,216
Intersegment revenue AHEBA 4,606 = 22,107 = = 27,683
Segment profit kil 129,065 16,078 9,868 15,660 14,406 276,074
Other material items of income ~ EfEANARZIHER :
and expense:
Income tax expense i Tilab - 2,362 9 30 1342 3,799
As at 31 December 2016 #2016412431A
Segment assets PHEE 15,421 10,926 61,877 22,943 70,495 230,050
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R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEER(E

AE2/H WA - Bk EENLE

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss and

assets:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREF T
Revenue ON
Total revenue of reportable segments Al 2D EPEY U A a5 1,064,322 1,113,899
Elimination of intersegment revenue D EREUA (68) (27,683)
Consolidated revenue EREWA 1,064,254 1,086,216
Profit or loss Bx=
Total profit or loss of reportable segments  A] 25 A 1B 4258 245,127 276,074
Elimination of intersegment profits D B EREF 14 (12,205)
Change in profit or loss from change EYMEEARBEIMEENER
in fair value of biological assets #H) (14,978) (15,315)
Depreciation TE (12,221) (11,053)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments &1 + 1t 8 & 5 5% (719) (761)
Unallocated amounts RO BLIE (33,198) (15,101)
Consolidated profit for the year FERNLEGZEE =F 184,025 221,639
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AI2MHOPRBEE 310,410 230,050
Unallocated amounts KO eEE
— Property, plant and equipment — ¥ WMENK 186,623 180,214
— Prepaid land lease payments —JBR I E R 32,065 32,784
— Bank and cash balances —iRITRIBEER 1,056,631 1,174,002
— Investment in an associate —R—HBE IR E 194,210 -
— Others — HAth 179,080 176,268
Consolidated total assets IRABESE 1,959,019 1,793,318

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2017

138



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. IHER(E
2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBT T
Geographical information: HWEER
Revenue WA
PRC A
— Eastern China —FER 353,636 439,516
— Southern China — g 127,440 79,522
— Northern China — 3 51,857 38,576
- Central China — 3 175,577 166,069
- North Eastern China — R 50,682 47,054
- South Western China — R EFER 21,287 29,353
— North Western China — Tt 28,578 32,774
New Zealand St | 4,351 21,118
Malaysia Bk AT 94,117 132,435
Netherland 68 - 8,808
Philippines SEAEE 4,633 32,949
Indonesia ENE fEfh s 1,828 2,139
Singapore i 20,764 15,875
United Kingdom HEH 8,392 5,993
Nigeria JE B g 14,896 10,045
United States of America EFIERE R 46,051 9,375
Belgium il 10,640 1,163
Canada mEx 4,525 2,942
Germany == 4,034 129
Israel LA&3) 10,193 644
Poland Vi ] 4,389 662
Taiwan s 8,912 -
Others HAh 17,472 9,075
Consolidated total RAMBE 1,064,254 1,086,216
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is prepared REFEEEE - WA TIRENIER it
based on the shipment destination so that the economic 2|5 - WMATSHEEES R E W 2 & e
environments, in which the goods are shipped, can be evaluated. 1 o
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. SEER(E)
Non-current assets EREEE
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Hong Kong B 785 550
PRC except Hong Kong R (BAERIN) 571,435 213,138
Consolidated total fRE st 572,220 213,688
During the year, there was no individual customer with revenue RAFE  TEREANZEFNSBRAMLR
from each of them accounted for 10% or more of the Group's total SEINBUABREN10% KA £ (20164 -
external revenue (2016: Nil). ) o
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BAFERRAR
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTFT
Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE 542 495
Interest on other payables H b fE R R IE R B 22 3138
564 808
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FIEFHEX
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
Current tax — PRC BNEARRIE —
Provision for the year F NS 2,054 2,342
Under provision for prior year DAFERERR - 115
Current tax — Hong Kong BUEREL I8 — B
Provision for the year FREE 2,407 1,369
Over provision for prior year VATE S E B RE R (870) (17)
3,591 3,799
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at 16.5% based on the BAENB IR AT ERRT & A 16.5%
assessable profit for the year (2016: 16.5%). AR 52 (20164 : 16.5%) °
PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25% RIS EE25% (20164 : 25%) M)
(2016: 25%). BiRG e -
Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated Hithih [ FE SR B AR B IE S H TR B AR E
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group BEReERRNB AL - 2EREMIR
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in HIBTHERAHE -
respect thereof.
Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") BIEFBECEMSTE(EERBRZED X
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the DEMEBFIEBEMIGEH - B2008F1H1H
PRC subsidiaries is 256% from 1 January 2008 onwards except as o PEMRBATHRER A25% @ N ER

described below. A o
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

According to the EIT Law, income derived from primary processing
of agricultural produce is exempt from the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax. The production and trading of mushroom of certain of the
subsidiaries are recognised as primary processing of agricultural
produce under the EIT Law and therefore are exempt from the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax commenced from 1 January 2008.
The following subsidiaries are recognised as primary processing of
agricultural produce which obtained the exemption from the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax:

Year ended 31 December 2016 and 2017

mEBERRECEM)BRAA
(Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture (Zhangzhou) Company Limited)
("Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture”)

BINERERERBERRAF
(Zhangzhou Shengtai Agricultural Development Company Limited)
("“Shengtai Agricultural Development”)

BEMNEARBAERAR
(Zhangzhou Jingxiang Foods Company Limited)
("Jingxiang Foods")

HB(EE)EMRIEERAR
(Greenfresh (Nanchang) Biological Technology Limited)
("Greenfresh Nanchang”)

48 i) E MR AR A )
(Greenfresh (Xinjiang) Biological Technology Limited)
(“Xinjiang Greenfresh")

TILARE AR B BR A F)
(Hebei Greenfresh Biological Technology Limited)
("Hebei Greenfresh”)

TR BRAON E MR B R AR
(Pingguan County Lvhe Biotechnology Co., Limited)
("Lvhe")

BINTRERAEERAR
(Zhangzhou Changfeng Edible Fungi Co., Limited)
("Zhangzhou Changfeng”)

1. FAEHHAX(E)

REBECEMBRE  BRERVMIERE
ERA B ER S BT BRERER - &
FHBRABMNFEEEAEREEXKERRA
TERERZEZRPEERVMIER WK
20081 A1 HBERE N EDEMS
e ATHBARERREEERMIE
7% ERRHNRBESEMEH

HZE20165E 220175128318 LEE
GBEREREECEMN)BRAR
(2B EREE])

BN EEREMAEERAT
(TERZEEME])

ENSARBARAT
(I=38ml)

SE(FAE)EMRRBRAR
G511

RECGRE) AR ER QR
([#EEE )

A AEE DA AT
(T8 )

FRGAON EY R R AR
(T#m )

BINTRERAEARAQA
(DEMEE D
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product
of profit before tax multiplied by the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate
is as follows:

1. FAEHHR%(E)

P75 751 B Sz B2 B4R 50 A i M) R A h BU R 2R P AS
MEMBENERDT

2017 2016

20175 2016%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREF T

Profit before tax L 0pl 187,616 225,438

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 26% 1£25% Bl A PS5 K5t E ) Fi 18 46,863 56,136

Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARTRANTR G E (4,574) (371)

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible EIFH L MK 2 15,717 5,347

Tax effect of tax concession TIBERNTRETE (52,069) (58,371)

Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERREEENRETE - 315

Tax effect of tax rate in different jurisdiction R FIEARER i R = RN FHE & (1,479) 645
Tax effect of temporary differences RIERZ B EZBRNRIGTE

not recognised 3 -

(Over)/under provision in prior year ANEFEGRERE) BETR (870) 98

Income tax expense B 3,591 3,799

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC are required to withhold 10% PRC enterprise income tax
when it distributes dividends to its non-PRC resident enterprise
shareholders. According to the tax treaty between Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and PRC for avoidance of double
taxation and prevention of tax evasion, dividends declared from PRC
subsidiaries to Hong Kong holding companies are subject to 5%
withholding income tax from 1 January 2008 and onwards. At the
end of the reporting period, the temporary differences associated
with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised is RMB65,423,000 (2016:
RMB54,488,000).

No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the timing of
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. At the end of
the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of RMB Nil
(2016: RMB1,124,283) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the RMB Nil
(2016: RMB1,124,283) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. As at 31 December 2016, included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses RMB1,124,283 that will expire in 2021.

== 4
=S

i
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R #54,488,0007T) °

AEBUVERNEZHEREMNAE - A
PAZS 2 B RE S I T B = B BB BE RS - T
M EEREBERAUEISHNA RAERED -
RBERHR  AEENRSEHREEBEBA
REZL(20164F : AR¥1,124,28370) 7]
MR B8 AR TR0 ) o BB R AE T8RN R A 0 1 3R
R AR ARBZIIL(2016F : AR
1,124,283 70 ) ERIELE R THE E - K2016
F12A31HE A ARERHR BB ENARE
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REPRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

12. FREF

The Group' profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the

AEBFRBRMENR, (GTA) TSR :

following:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments &1 + 1t 8 & 5 4 719 761
Acquisition related cost s AN (FT AT B )

(included in administrative expenses) 236 -
Depreciation e 12,221 11,053
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BREREEREMN LI

plant and equipment and HER W

prepaid land lease payments (3) (1,399)
Operating lease charges CEHEMRY

- Land and buildings — Lt RIEF

— Minimum lease payments — R EMNK 21,156 19,481

- Others —EAfh

— Minimum lease payments —REREMNK 294 374
Research and development expenditure EER = 4,062 3,597
Auditor's remuneration ZEET S

— Current — BN &g 1,410 1,320

— Under provision prior year —UEFERBETR - 290
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFERA 991,808 1,015,050
Fair value change of biological assets EYMEENRBERE

- realised —B#5 154,712 190,488

— unrealised —REIW 2,991 16,931

Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs, depreciation and operating
lease charges of approximately RMB24,432,000, RMB8,611,000 and
RMB19,843,000 respectively, (2016: RMB26,068,000, RMB8,056,000
and RMB19,058,000) which are included in the amounts disclosed
separately above.

EHEFERABEETRA  FERKE
HEMS  »Rl%AARE24,432,0007T -
AR #8,611,0007T & AR # 19,843,000 7T
(20164 : AR #26,068,0007T - AR
8,056,000 T & A R#19,058,0007T) * HE

FPALEXDRIBENEEE -
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 13. EEREANEHR
2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T
Employee benefits expense: EERMER :
— Salaries, bonus and allowances —¥& - AL RER 30,857 30,231
- Equity-settled share-based payments —UHESEEROABER 2K 7.431 33,510
- Retirement benefit scheme contribution  —R{REFFHEI 5K 5,806 5,835
44,094 69,576
Five highest paid individuals hEERSHFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included RERN AEEBRETEHTMALTBEISS
3 (2016: 3) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis (20165 :3%)EFE - MZIEEZ 2K
presented in note 14. The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2016: 2) F142FRM DT RER - 525 (20164
individuals are set out below: 28) AT 2SI TATR ¢
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT
Basic salaries and allowances EARH & KER 186 193
Equity-settled share-based payments NHEREER D BER I 649 698
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKEFIT IR 12 15
847 906
The emoluments fell within the following band: FIRBIIATEIR
2017 2016
20175 20164
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/%8 7T
(approximately RMB866,000) (#¥I AR ¥866,0007T) 4 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0018 722,000,000/ 7T
(approximately RMB866,001 to (K AR¥866,001 TLE
RMB1,732,000) AR#1,732,0007T) 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 723,000,000/ 7T
(approximately RMB1,732,001 to (M AR¥1,732,001 T8
RMB2,598,000) AR #2,598,0007T) - L
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14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14. EEREARES

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM<
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BREEZMESWTATR ¢
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of inrespect
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking of director's
................ AR\ RETEARIIUNRIT EESEIAAARS ... othersenoes
Remunerations in connection
paid or with the
(Note (i) receivable management
Estimated  Employer's in respect of the affairs of
money  contribution  of accepting the Company
Discretionary value of to a retirement office Housing ~ or its subsidiary
Fees Salaries bonus ~ other benefits benefit scheme  as director allowance  undertaking Total
EEiER
O
it ENEAE
(&) EXRER ZERES ES
BRIz et e BHAEYR
ik e WL HEeEE frt 2 M5 (DS iz ZHE Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETFR AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors HiES:
- Zheng Songhui -BiE - 600 - 519 8 - - - 1121
- Zheng Tianming —-8XH - 90 - 389 8 - - - 487
- Zheng Ruyan -8k - 438 - 389 3 - - - 830
Non-executive director: FaiES:
- Zhang Lin - - - - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUkhES:
- Mak Hing Keung, Thomas -RER 86 - - - - - - - 86
- Lou Robert Hsit-sung -EFE 86 - - - - - - - 86
- Cheng Hiu Yung -HBE 86 - - - - - - - 86
Total for 2017 01752888 258 1128 - 1,297 19 - - - 2,102
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14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

14. ESTEFRER(E)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EZME(E)
Emoluments
paid or
. receivable
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director, whether of i espect
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking didEaTs
................ O 7
Remunerations in connection
paid or with the
(Note (i) receivable management
Estimated Employer's in respect of the affairs of
money contribution ~~ of accepting the Company
Discretionary value of  toa retirement office Housing orits subsidiary
Fees Salaries bonus  other benefits  benefit scheme as director allowance undertaking Total
£
EINGES
RER EHRAA
(W0)  EEREK  ZERES ERRERE
Al Rl Bifg Ehetile
#e B MEEL  fERERE  fRHZER G i M 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ABBTT ABBTT ARETT ABBTT ARBTT ARETT NRETT ARBTT
Executive directors gz
- Zheng Songhui -SiE - 593 - 1,393 8 - - - 1994
- Zheng Tianming -8§XH - 91 - 1,044 8 - = - 1,143
- Zheng Ruyan -8 - 494 - 1,044 7 - - - 1,545
Non-executive director: FiES:
- Zhang Lin -Fi - - - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUnES
- Mak Hing Keung, Thomas -RE% 90 - - - - - - - 20
- Lou Robert Hsiu-sung -B%58 90 - - - - - - o 90
- Cheng Hiu Yung -$5E 90 - - - - - - - 90
Total for 2016 20165 25 210 1,178 = 3481 23 - - - 4,95
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any RERN BEIETHABREENE
emoluments during the year (2016: RMB Nil). ERIIE (20165 : ARKEZIT) ©
Note: B &
(i)  Estimated money values of other benefits include share options. () HEMNz A REEERIEERE -
Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements (b) EERRG » THREHNPHERER

or contracts

Other than those disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
and the director’'s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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15. DIVIDENDS 15. RE
(i) Dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to (i) UTEFEEREESEAATREEAZRE
the year:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT
Interim dividend in respect of the financial £ At /& KR BT BUE € 2 HARR
year, approved and paid during the BEREARTBIWGEERTK
year, of HK Nil cents per ordinary share ~ Z3@EARAREZ S ) (20164 -
(equivalent RMB Nil cents per ordinary % & #@A%8.00/8 (L (HHE R E T
share) (2016: HK8.00 cents per ordinary @& A R#6.889))
share (equivalent RMB6.88 cents per
ordinary share)) - 35,774
Final dividend proposed after the end of & HAKRE KR 2 R ER BB
the reporting period of HK Nil cents per @R ZE(IL(HBE RN EREBAX A
ordinary share (equivalent RMB Nil cents R#Z 4 )(20164F : B LEK
per ordinary share) (2016: HK2.00 cents  2.00/8 1l (FHERNEFR L BIRAR
per ordinary share (equivalent RMB1.77  #1.77%))
cents per ordinary share)) - 9,514
- 45,288
(ii) Dividends payables to owners of the Company attributable to (ii) BEVBFEREENSEAATETAZ
the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year: BE(REARERIKST) :
2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBT T
Final dividend in respect of the previous  AREBEMRERE 2 KR A
financial year, approved and paid during  (FAER#EE MRS
the year, of HK2.00 cents per ordinary FIEBZ2.007881L (HHERE
share (equivalent RMB1.74 cents TR .74 ) (20164 -
per ordinary share) (2016: HK20.00 R EE20.00751L (HHERE
cents per ordinary share (equivalent B E @R ARE17.099))
to approximately RMB17.09 cents per
ordinary share)) 9,333 86,732
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB184,551,000 (2016:
RMB222,092,000) for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,073,890,411 in
issue during the year (2016: Restated 1,020,782,732).

The calculation of diluted earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company for the year, is based on the profit for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB184,551,000 (2016: RMB222,092,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,073,890,411 (2016: Restated
1,020,782,732) in issue during the year, plus the effect of dilutive
potential ordinary shares arising from share options issued by the
Company during the year of 6,124,260 (2016: Restated 2,395,611)
shares, arrived at the weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share of ordinary
shares of 1,080,014,671 (2016: Restated 1,023,178,343).

i
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ARREAABESREAEFNDREESE
2017F 12 A3V B L FEARARRIHEE AEG
FE R AR E184,551,0007T (20164 -
AER#222,092,0007T) @ A RIZFRNEETT
L AR B ANAE 19 201,073,890,4118% (2016
£ 48 E7511,020,782,732% )5t HE -

XA BEEABEFEFRNSREETRRNT
BEAQXNABEEABGEERGZNHOA
R 184,551,000 7t ( 2016 F : A R ¥&
222,092,0007T) * U RIZFRBEEHITEBR
9 hn#E SF 19 881,073,890,411 A% (2016 £ -
REF1,020,782,732) 5t & - I EAR R
BINE N E176,124,260% (20164 : K&
512,395,611 3% ) B A i = A BB B 2 08
EEBERZFE  EZLBEBRAMBEFEHE
LAEH % 1,080,014,671 8% (2016 F © £ & 5]
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W% - BERERE
Office
Plant and Leasehold Motor  equipment Construction
Buildings ~ machinery improvements vehicles  and others  in progress Total
WAERE
BF  BREREHE MEXE AE Rifh ERIR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARET:
Cost KA
At 1 January 2016 R2016E1A18 99,635 52,900 3,436 2,622 4,485 45,921 208,999
Additions NE 5,098 4,045 - 663 295 22,452 32,553
Transfer B 21,009 5,845 (129) = = (26,725) =
Disposals RE (7,196) - = - 2) - (7,198)
At 31 December 2016and ~ KA2016% 123318 K

1 January 2017 201751818 118,546 62,790 3,307 3,285 4,778 41,648 234,354
Additions NE 51 1,058 332 35 89 3,682 5,247
Acquisition of a subsidiary B —EHB LA 1,455 12,111 - - 41 - 13,607
Transfer B 2,713 4,249 - - - (6,962) -
Disposals RE - (515) = (300) - - (815)
At 31 December 2017 120174%12831A 122,765 79,693 3,639 3,020 4,908 38,368 252,393
Accumulated depreciation  ZiTiTE
At 1 January 2016 201651718 20,467 19,304 3314 1,406 2,706 - 47,197
Charge for the year FREHR 5,268 4,962 (6) 400 429 = 11,083
Transfer L 5 - (5) - - - -
Disposals RE (4,108) - = - (2) - (4,110
At 31 December 2016 and R2016F12A318 &

1 January 2017 201781818 21,632 24,266 3,303 1,806 3,133 - 54,140
Charge for the year FREHE 6,258 5,153 23 408 379 = 12,221
Transfer B - - - - - - -
Disposals RE - (321) = (270) - - (591)
At 31 December 2017 2017812 A318 27,890 29,098 3,326 1,944 3512 - 65,770
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2017 12017%12831A 94,875 50,595 313 1,076 1,396 38,368 186,623
At 31 December 2016 12016%12831A 96,914 38,524 4 1,479 1,645 41,648 180,214
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e RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17. W% - BERREE
At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of property, plant and M20175F12A31H - AL ERITERIER
equipment pledged as security for the Group's bank loan amounted HOWE  BELRBHNEREREOAARE
to approximately RMB19,334,000 (2016: RMB22,126,000). 19,334,0007% (20164 : A R#22,126,000
JT) °
Certain buildings constructed on the leased land for which the Group M2017F 12831 H » ZREBEI R ENAE
had not applied for the property ownership certificate amounted to E+-HHETEFSEAARKS13,0007T
RMB813,000 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB978,000). Such (20164 : AR¥978,0007T) HEREEFA
leased land are used by the Group for production of canned food and EE o AEESEEAE L AL ERS
other processed food. EmkHEMMNIER -
18. GOODWILL 18. BHE
RMB'000
ARETIT
Cost A
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 ®2016%F1 818 - 2016512 A31H
and 1 January 2017 20171818 -
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary A U B — R B A R mEL
(Note 38(a)) (Fi7£38(a)) 158,648
At 31 December 2017 ®2017%12A31H 158,648
Accumulated impairment ZEHEE
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016, R2016F1H1H » 2016%F12H318 -
1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 201741 818 %2017%12831H =
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2017 #H2017%12A31H 158,648
At 31 December 2016 #2016F12H31H -
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at REBEAHPKRENEERERERHE TE
acquisition, to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from that HEZEGAHERS  HESELSSMN - ;g2
business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill (net of BREE (KB ETREER) S BROT :
accumulated impairment losses) had been allocated as follows:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETIT
King trumpet mushroom e LE
Mega Rainbow International Limited KA B R AR 158,648 =
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BE2017F12A31HILFE

18.

19.

GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined on the
basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow method. The
key assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross
margin and turnover during the period. The Group estimates discount
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The
growth rates are based on long-term average economic growth
rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGUs
operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past
practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the next five
years with the residual period using the growth rate of 3%. This rate
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s
king trumpet mushroom segment is 17.02%.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

18. EE (%)

ReEEBEMMAT WL SR RANRRS
MEFREFERBEET - TRAESREE
FEHNEERRASEPANFTRE - BREX
RIAEENRELEXFHRB MR - AEE
AEH TR RS RA R RS BB RE 2 RT
migEHE RIS ELE FAUSARR 2 BATHT
BR - BRRDPENREEEBEMEHLE
PRz RBTFHEEERRGT - BE
ENREEXEDHENBEBORETHIHE
B2 EHMEHL -

AEEREZReREBR NSO NHE
EHEZARREFHBEEE N RHT HARK
3% 2 B REFHE - ZEREI B AR
misMFERERE -

AAFBEAEERGESHOTBARERE
ZHITIREE17.02% °

19. R—EBEATNRE

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFIT

Unlisted investment: IELETEE :
Share of net assets E(REEFE 46,295 =
Goodwill RS 147,915 =
194,210 -
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. R—REBEATNRE (&

Details of the Group's associate at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

REEEE ARN2017F12 A31 A 25 BwW
T

Percentage of

Place of Paid-up ownership
incorporation/ issued interest/
Name registration share capital voting power Principal activities
AL/ REERERER/
L2 St fifih 2 HEEBBTREA REEFI FEBEHK
ERERMEEARAR PRC RMB46,000,000 48.70%  Sales and processing of canned
(Guangxi Jiabao Food Group Co., Ltd.)F & AR #46,000,0007C food, quick-freezing for fruit and

("Guangxi Jiabao")
ERARERmEEERAR
(BEA=E))

The following table shows information of an associate of the
Group. The associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the IFRS financial statements of
the associate.

hEGEEEERAT | 2017 E5H
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. R—REBEQANRE(E)

Name Guangxi Jiabao
Z8 EBEZE
Principal place of business/country of incorporation PRC
FTELEE MR IER R

Principal activities

TBRER

% of ownership interests/voting rights held by the Group

AEMFENHEEERER REEZBDL

Sales and processing of canned food, quick-
freezing for fruit and vegetables, sales and
production of frozen food and cultivation of
agricultural products in the PRC

RABEHERMITHEERR - RRKRREX
HEREESRREM  UREEEESR

48.70%

RMB’000
ARET

At 31 December 2017: M2017F12831H :
Non-current assets IEREBEE 45,705
Current assets MENEE 89,863
Non-current liabilities ERHasE (1,573)
Current liabilities mEaE (38,934)
Net assets EEFE 95,061
Group's share of net assets AEBEREEEFE 46,295
Goodwill = 147,915
Group's share of carrying amount of interests 7~ £ [ f& {5 #E 25 BR 1B 194,210

From the date of acquisition to BWEBRHE

31 December 2017: 20175128318 :
Revenue A -
Profit i -
Profit after tax B 750 B e A -
Other comprehensive income Emrmkas -
Total comprehensive income 2HEK BT -
Dividend received from the associate B HE & A RIELZ RS -

20. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 20. FENLHEER

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREETT AREF T
At 1 January M1 A1H 32,784 36,858
Disposal RE - (3,313)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments J&f{+ 170 S ik (719) (761)
At 31 December M12A31H 32,065 32,784

The Group's prepaid land lease payments represent payments for
land use rights in the PRC under medium term leases.

AEENFEN T HEFRER D EBLRES
HATH & SN A9 L (s FRREFROE o
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21.

22.

23.

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets of the Group represented the rental prepaid for a piece
of land on 1 December 2008 of 50 years for mushroom plantation
purposes.

21. HfthEE

AREEMEMEEREN2008F12A1 B3t —
fELIENNES - BH50F - BIEEHEE

INVENTORIES 22. 78
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
Raw materials B 4,194 3,903
Work in progress RS 12,056 13,959
Finished goods ERK 1,607 1,175
17,857 19,037
BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 23. £YEE
The Group is engaged in mushroom plantation for supply to AEBERBEHBEEREARNTLHEE -
customers.
Reconciliation of carrying amount of mushroom: HEMNEEEYROT ¢
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTFT
At 1 January M1 A1H 59,319 53,102
Increases due to plantation PR FE 4 T 32 00 151,740 178,807
Gain from changes in fair value less AREEBRHENLAEEZ
costs to sell g 157,703 207,419
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE— XM E AR 5,734 =
Decreases due to harvest R U T om (360,916) (380,009)
At 31 December ®12831H 13,580 59,319
Gain from changes in fair value less cost to sell included those NAEEBFIEEXNANEE 2 RNEBIER

biological assets sold during the year (realised) and those biological
assets not yet sold as at the end of the reporting period (unrealised).

Biological assets were mushroom and were stated at fair value less
costs to sell as at the end of the reporting period. The fair value was
determined by the professional valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited with reference to market-determined
prices, cultivation areas, species, growing conditions, cost incurred
and expected yield of crops.

FADHENENEE(BER) AREER
SHRRARDENEMEECRER) -

EMEERER  ERNBMEHRZIAER
HEKARTIER - AREVHEXGEMTE
BMITEEFHRBZAERRAZENSE
B BEEE 2E ERERL - AERA
RIEMZ RERBKMETE °
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23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Market and cost approaches are adopted to value the agricultural
produce of mushroom as at the end of respective years. During
the growing period, cost approach is adopted. The costs of direct
raw material, direct labour, labour service and leasing have been
considered in the calculation of the fair values for the growing
period and these costs are approximately to their fair value. During
the harvesting period, market approach is adopted. Therefore, the
fair values of the biological assets as at the end of respective years
are calculated to be the product of market price and estimated the
agricultural produce mushroom after deducting the reasonable cost
related to selling.

The fair value measurement of the mushroom is categorised as level
3 fair value measurement within the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. Significant unobservable
inputs are mainly the expected future cash flow and the discount
rate. The higher the future cash flows or the lower the discount rate,
the higher the fair value determined. Due to the production cycle of
the mushroom is relatively short, the impact on the valuation of the
expected future cash flow and discount rate are immaterial.

During the year, there was no transfer occurred between levels in the
hierarchy (2016: Nil).

The movement in the fair value of the assets within level 3 of the
hierarchy is as follows:

23. EMEE(E)

RIEBFERRATSERR AN EHERRE
mAETEE - RERBIRAKAE - StE A
RENAAEREZRERRME BES
T SHEREERAS  MAERKALREH
AAERE - REREBMRATESE - Bt
REBERNEMEEAARBERNINRE
HENSERARETERA G EERE
mESHE -

BREAREAERBRA=ALAESR(ER
RBESBREENFE1SS - AREEHE)
ME=ZBRAREFE - EETAEEEIET
ERAPRRBESREIREK - RRBER
AERMEAXTE  BEEN2AABNES -
RN ERN EERBEERE - RERKR
SREBRENEEZELTERX -

RER ERPIZIERTELIEERE (2016
F4m) o

FE_RERNEERAAENERNT

King trumpet mushroom,
button mushroom and
shiitake mushroom

BELE - BERELR

2017 2016

20175 20164

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREBTFT

At 1 January B1A1H 59,319 53,102

Increases due to plantation PR FE 4 T 32 00 151,740 178,807
Gain from changes in fair value less AR ELBREERAMEE Y

costs to sell (#) Wzs (#) 157,703 207,419

Acquisition of a subsidiary I g — KK B A Al 5,734 =

Decreases due to harvest A W m (360,916) (380,009)

At 31 December M12A31H 13,580 59,319

(#) Included gains or losses for assets held (#)BFERBREPRRAFEEZ
at the end of the reporting period I zs sk 518 2,991 16,931
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HZE2017F 128318 IEFE

23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

23. EYEE(E)

The following unobservable inputs were used to measure the
Group’s mushroom plantation:

IR EAEEERBE AN A B

SR

Effect on fair

value for
Valuation Range increase Fair value
Description technique Unobservable inputs as at 31 December of inputs as at 31 December
il HUEsE mE MME
#R fhERT TUBEYE M2A318 MMENZE M2A31H
2017 2016 2017 2016
2017% 2016% 20175 2016%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR
King trumpet mushroom ~ Cost and Market King trumpet mushroom yield ~ 0.20kg-0.41kg ~ 0.27kg-0.36kg  Increase 12,908 15,266
approach
B RAERTSE hifiES 0202772 0.27AFE  #M
04D 0.362
Price of king trumpet RMB6.99 - RMB7.7- Increase
mushroom RMB10.57 perkg ~ RMB11.54 per kg
BHTEER =N UN I )|
AR#6.997Z ARETITE
ARE1057T ARB11.547T
Button mushroom Cost and Market Button mushroom yield N/A 21.50kg  Increase - 43,963
approach
B RAERTSE EfEE TER 250RF  #
Price of hutton mushroom N/A RMB7.65 perkg  Increase
ERER TER BRFT Em
ARH7.657
Shiitake mushroom Cost and Market Shiitake mushroom yield 0.70 kg 0.30kg Increase 672 0
approach
Bl RRER A BEER 0.702F 0.302F  #&m
Price of shiitake mushroom RMBB8.05 per kg RMB6.20 per kg Increase
ElfEH = BRT Em
AR%8.057 ARE6.207
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23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its mushroom
plantation:

(1) Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the PRC where it
operates. The Group has established environmental policies and
procedures aimed at compliance with local environmental and
other laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks and to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate to manage those risks.

(2) Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the
price and sales volume of mushroom. Where possible the Group
manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume to market supply
and demand. Management performs regular industry trend
analysis to ensure that the Group's pricing structure is in line
with the market and to ensure that projected harvest volumes
are consistent with the expected demand.

(3) Climate and other risks

The Group’'s mushroom plantations are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other natural
forces. The Group has extensive processes in place aimed at
monitoring and mitigating those risks, including regular health
inspections and industry pest and disease surveys.

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit terms of trade receivables are in accordance with specific
payment schedules agreed with various customers and generally
range from 30 to 90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. For new customers, payment in advance is normally required.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.

23.

24.

EMEE(E)

AEEmERE TREBEFBEABENRR

(1) EBEERBEERE

AEBEAETHR(EL2ME) 5=
FOER - ARBEERIEN AT RE R
HMXRMRERRLER - EEET
HBETRAE - UHERIRFE AR L ERE
THERAEEZERR -

(2) fRER

AEEmGREEBRRFEENELR
BER - AEEFAERRETS
AR AR E KRG E - LB LA
- EEEERETTHBEOMN - U
ERASENEELBEMS 3 I
ERBEHRKEETERFER

(3) SRR EAER

AEBWEEEERREREZL &
EREMEANBERNBEERR - &
SEEREARBEEEEREREHRE
BEIEFF - BEEBREEREARITE

85 BUWHRE

B SRR Z EERRETREFERD
BRMRLHMER —RNFI0E0X - &
BEPHRIBEEELR - HEPME - — &
JRIRBIN SR - NEE S KB AR E R EWHIA
HRFBGERIES - EE ST HIEA SR o
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24, E5EWFE(E)

The aging analysis of the Group's trade receivables, based on the AT AREEIREZERMNE 5 REKEOE (0

invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: BrigfE) MBRIR DA ¢
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIT
0 to 90 days 0290k 150,405 196,487
91 to 180 days 91E180K 854 2
Over 1 year 1A - 156
151,259 196,645

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of RMB2,719,000 (2016:
RMB29,237,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to
a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent
history of default. The aging analysis of these trade receivables is as

MR2017F12A31H  EZEKRFBARK
2,719,000 7T (2016 4F = A & ¥ 29,237,000
JC) B HAE (R R E o 1t E SR IR EL 3T BRI 4
HBRLHNZZBYREFER - LEE IR

follows: WK 2 R D ATAN T
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT
Up to 3 months =R@MAR 2,503 29,079
3 to 6 months =Z~ @A 216 2
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F - 156
2,719 29,237

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are

denominated in the following currencies:

AEEE S EUGANREEZ A TS ER

i

2017 2016
20175 20164F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T
RMB AR 52,084 130,974
Us$ £7T 99,175 65,671
Total et 151,259 196,645
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25. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. &% - BARERHEMEWRTIE
2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBT T
Deposits e 22,702 25,433
Earnest money paid for acquisition of BAWELTEREY RES
land use rights 89,940 87,600
Prepayments TR FRIE 1,641 8,292
Other receivables Hfth FEUGRIE 33,189 540
147,472 121,865
26. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 26. RITKRIRESLEH
The bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in the AREBRIRITRIRES ERIZATEEE

currencies as follows:

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTFT
RMB AR 1,055,842 1,143,747
HK$ BT 184 5,35
uss e 309 24,604
Singapore dollars oo 190 190
Japanese Yen =2 106 106
1,056,631 1,174,002

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's 1 A B 3 3 OB 78 3% Fh B C OINEE B 3 (R0 )

Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of TEDE - EERNETEHETE)

Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. A
Authorised Issued and fully paid
SEITE BRITRHAZE
Number of Number of
shares shares
K2 RiDEE
‘000 US$'000 ‘000 RMB'000
FA% FEr T ARBTL
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each BREE.VIETHTLEE
Balance at 1 January 2016 M20165F1 A1 H B &k 2,000,000 20,000 500,000 30,586
Issue of shares under share option BIRE IR IR TR
schemes = = 20,000 1,333
Balance at 31 December 2016 and R2016%F12831H K
1 January 2017 20171 A1 BR&E SR 2,000,000 20,000 520,000 31,919
Issue of shares under share option BIRE IR ET IR TR D
schemes - - 17,500 1,203
Issue of bonus shares (note) BATHR (P 3E) - = 537,500 36,940
Balance at 31 December 2017 M2017F12 831 AR & 2,000,000 20,000 1,075,000 70,062

Notes: On 12 June 2017, the Company made a bonus issue on the basis of 1 bonus share
for every 1 existing share held by shareholders in recognition of their continual
support. A total of 537,500,000 shares were issued pursuant to the bonus issue.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new
shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or
sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted
capital. Total debt comprises borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises
all components of equity (i.e. share capital, retained profits, other
reserves and non-controlling interests).
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537,500,000% A& 5 °

AEBEAEENTIZARREELAEES
BENERTTEEENHRE  WRBEIES
K AEs L BAE TRORZAE R o

AEBRLPIEERREEASHE - NEE
ERAEEAER  WEBKERRRIEME
ERREBNRLCMBR - BT HTHAE
BARERE  AEERREGHBEIRMNRE - #
TH I - BB - MAKE  BERA
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

During 2017, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged from 2016,
was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at a level of industry
average. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 December 2017 and

at 31 December 2016 were as follows:

27. BA(E)

R2017F - NEB Z KBS (L2016 FER)
Th#is A EH AR E R REITEF K
T oo 2017412 A31H %2016 12 A31H
ZBEHEARERL RN TR

2017 2016

201745 2016%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETIT

Total debt B 585 10,000 10,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents ks - REeNIRESZED (1,056,631) (1,174,002)
Net debt BEFHE (1,046,631) (1,164,002)
Total equity e fasE 1,898,765 1,676,664
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEHCHEERL X N/ATEA N/AZN 3 A

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is in order
to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public

float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars weekly on
substantial share interests showing the non-public float and it
demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout
the period. As at 31 December 2017, 43% (2016: 41%) of the shares

were in public hands.

AER B 4 BB X Pz T T B9 SN B o
HERERRAEBERFED25%/RMN B

REHRE -

AEBEREEROMBFETLERL 2H
S BRITERRFERECERRMDE
W WEARAEBRBR—EFBEET25%
ZPBRE - 2017412 A31H © 43% (2016
F M%) ZBRDARRESR -
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

28. ARAZMBRRARRFRED

(a) 2R ZBHIRE

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2017 2016
20174 20164
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBTT ARET T
ASSETS &=
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITE A RRIIRE 328 328
Current assets REEE
Due from subsidiaries FE U B I A R ZR IR 560,258 569,360
Other receivables HE U IR 42 -
Bank and cash balances RITRBE % 239 5,944
Total current assets REEEHE 560,539 575,304
Total assets BERTE 560,867 575,632
Equity and liabilities EEkaE
Equity attributable to owners SFEEBNARDRES A
of the Company
Share capital &N 70,062 31,919
Reserves G 28(b) 478,125 530,880
Total equity fERAAEE 548,187 562,799
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities nREEE
Accruals and other payables fEtE R R HAENRIE 1,257 2,050
Due to subsidiaries FEIBI B A RIZRIA 11,423 10,783
Total current liabilities TEEEHERE 12,680 12,833
Total equity and liabilities Rk AERRE 560,867 575,632

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2018 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Zheng Songhui
B NE
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 28. AP EIZBIBMRERFHEEE(E)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XRQBZREEEE
Accumulated
losses/
Share Share option Shares to retained
premium reserve be issued earnings Total
2itEB/
RitaEE BRERE BTFRORHG REEF @5t

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETL AREBTE ARETL ARETR

(note 29(b)(v))
(F37E29(b)(v))

At 1 January 2016 #201651A1H 544,255 31,801 = (19,263) 556,793
Total comprehensive income FREANZLE

for the year - - - (18,105) (18,105)
Transfer R (200,000) - - 200,000 -
Receipt for exercise of share options  77{2 B AR 1E B U - - 34,010 - 34,010
Equity-settled share-based payments A& E RN AER 7 M - 33,510 - - 33,510
Issue of shares under share option  1BIREEIRIE 22T R

schemes 75,877 (28,699) - = 47,178
Dividends paid EARE - - - (122508)  (122,506)
Changes in equity for the year (124,123) 4,811 34,010 59,389 (25,913)
At 31 December 2016 and #2016 12A31H R

1 January 2017 20171818 420,132 36,612 34,010 40,126 530,880
Total comprehensive income FREANZLER

for the year - - - (25,162) (25,162)
Equity-settled share-based payments MAEZREZROAER 23 - 7,431 - - 7,431
Issue of shares under share option 1B iZBEARIE = 212770

schemes 69,130 (23,871) (34,010 - 11,249
Issue of bonus shares BATHLIR (36,940) - - - (36,940)
Dividend paid BRE - = = (9,333) (9,333)
Changes in equity for the year FRE=EEY 32,190 (16,440) (34,010) (34,495) (52,755)
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A318 452,322 20,172 - 5,631 478,125
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BE2017F12A318 1L E

29. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)  Other reserve

Other reserve arose as a result of the group reorganisation as
described in the prospectus published by the Company dated
8 June 2015 and represented the difference between the
consideration of repurchase of equity interests in f@E4%E
RmEEABRRAF] (Fujian Greenfresh Foods Group Company
Limited) (“Fujian Greenfresh Foods") by Jingxiang Foods
over the registered capital of Fujian Greenfresh Foods.

(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

(iii) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represented the excess of the contribution
by the non-controlling interests to a subsidiary which is non-
distributable.

(iv) Statutory surplus reserve

The statutory surplus reserve, which is non-distributable,
is appropriated from the profit after taxation of the Group's
PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws and regulations
in the PRC.

i

29. f#&

(a) &~&EH

AEBENRHEBESEREBBH2IINEA
BaELEMEERGERARGEERE
HERA o

(b) REEMUERAE

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A31HILFE

29. RESERVES (Continued) 29. fRE(E)

(b) RBHERARGE)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(v) Share option reserve (v) FBRERE
The share option reserve represents the fair value of the BEREREERRTAERESR
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options BB 2 BRI RITE B
granted to the directors and employees of the Group B2 ARBRRBREREVHHREMN T
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy AN AR EE IR D BERE 2 M RFT
adopted for equity-settled share-based payment in note 4(t) RN S BRER -
to the consolidated financial statements.

30. TRADE PAYABLES 30. EZEMNNIE

AEEE 5 ENFRREIEY B B0 iR

The aging analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on the date

of receipt of goods, is as follows: DWTET -
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETIT
0 to 90 days 0290k 17,215 75,498
91 to 180 days 91£180K 1,094 2,984
181 to 365 days 181E365K 433 1,009
Over 1 year —FPAF 790 502
19,532 79,993

AEHE 5 ENFANREERAT®ER

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are denominated

in the following currencies: (e
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
RMB AR 19,532 79,396
Uss ETT - 597
19,5632 79,993

CHINA GREENFRESH GROUP CO., LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
166



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE2017F12A318 1L E

31. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

31. EERARAMENIA

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREF T
Accruals fEFTE A 13,294 12,346
Other payables HoAth FE A 5RI8 9,279 12,220
22,573 24,566
32. BANK LOAN 32. RITER

2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREF T

Bank loan repayable on demand or BRERE R —FR
within one year EEZRITER 10,000 10,000

The carrying amount of the Group's bank loan is denominated in
RMB.

The average interest rates at 31 December were as follows:

AEBRTEFNREAEAAREEE -

M12A31 BRIFEHFZEQMT -

2017 2016

20174 20164

Bank loan RITER 5.65% 4.35%
per annum per annum

%5.65% HF435%

Bank loan of RMB10,000,000 (2016: RMB10,000,000) is arranged at
fixed interest rate and expose the Group to fair value interest rate

risk.

Bank loan of RMB10,000,000 as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was
secured by corporate guarantee of the group companies and pledge

of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

33. DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

33.

Except RMB700,000 included in the amount due to non-controlling
interests is unsecured, interest bearing at 12% and repayable within
1 year, the remaining balances are unsecured, interest free and

repayable on demand.

TEABEEBEABRAR | 2017 FR
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BE2017F12A31HILFE

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015

The Company operates a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentive
or reward to eligible persons (being any director or employee
(whether full time or part time), of any member of the Group) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the
Company and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on
27 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which
the share options may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall be 25,000,000 shares of the Company representing
approximately 5% of the issued share capital of the Company upon
listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of RMB1 in total by the grantee. The share options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme can only be exercised during the three
years from the date of listing of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Date"”) and as set out below:

—  40% of the total number of share options granted after 6 months
from the Listing Date;

—  30% of the total number of share options granted after 18
months from the Listing Date; and

-  30% of the total number of share options granted after 30
months from the Listing Date.

The exercise price of the share options is HK$2.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

34. RIDAEMB ZNAH

R201555 827 H AW EIR A BB BRI
MR

ANRFREERNARBEABREAE(E
RAFRBERBRESTS ) AALETM
RERARNEAERAL(ESZHEE (THE
Bhok FeBL) ) RSB Sk B3R - NREIRE A
ARRNFSEHEBMBER S  WEAR
SEBURENEEEENES - §XAH
HERTE AT 20 2015F5 A27 BB A
5 o

BEBRXAFREERERETSTERD
WEBRESRARAZENESEHE B
25,000,000 A2 BB + £91h A2 Bl B 19
REER AT E B AR R Z B BEITRALE% °

REROZBEREAIREZ BHEFT 280 R
B MARAAXNERARBITTZRE
ARE - REFRRMABESHBRE ST
B2 BB AR (2 T AN X R A A FE B A2 P |
mEM(ESAHRDEF=FAZTIITRA
718 -

— RLEmBH6EARITFEE B HBRER
EW40% :

— REMAHISEARITERE RO BRE
HBEHIB0% K

— RLEWBHI0EARTHED KL EAE
HEEIZ0% ©

BlEZTEER2ET

PR RN TN TR AR B S AR A
SRR ZIERN o
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015
(Continued)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

34. RODAER ZNR(E

201555 827 HERAWEIR DA BB BRI B
R rERT 8 ()

BRI SERBIFENT

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
& B HEH 1TfEHR TEE
HK$
BIT
2015A 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to 18 December 2015 to 2.00
17 December 2015 17 June 2018
2015%6H17H 20156 H17RE 2015128188 &
2015%F12H17H 2018%6H17H
2015B 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to 18 December 2016 to 2.00
17 December 2016 17 June 2018
2015%F6H417H 2015F6 4178 = 201612 H18HE
20165128178 201856 H17H
2015C 17 June 2015 17 June 2015 to 18 December 2017 to 2.00
17 December 2017 17 June 2018
2015%F6817H 2015673178 = 2017F12H18HZE
20179128178 2018%F6H17H

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 3 years from
the date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Pre-IPO share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015

34. RODAERZNR(E

R201555 827 H AW EIR A BB BRI

(Continued) BEFESTEI(4E)
Details of the movement of share options during the year are as FA - BREANESFEBET
follows:
2017 2016
20175 20164
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
BREHS T ERESE T
TEE 1T1E(E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning EA#IARITIE
of the period 15,000,000 2.00 25,000,000 2.00
Exercised during the year FATTE (7,500,000) 2.00 (10,000,000) 2.00
Adjustment due to bonus R AT A% 3847 A &
issue 7,500,000 - - -
Cancelled during the year FRFH (840,000) 1.00 - -
Outstanding at the end FRRITE
of the year 14,160,000 1.00 15,000,000 2.00
Exercisable at the end RERAFTE
of the year 14,160,000 1.00 7,500,000 2.00

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share
options exercised during the year was HK$3.66. The options
outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average

FARTEOBRENTTEE B ZnEFEK
E/33.668 7T ° I RORTT 0 8 A HE O N8
FHBRTADFHR0.65F -

remaining contractual life of 0.5 years.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial Model. The

inputs into the model are as follows:

2015A, 2015B

DAETERZBRATERAGFE - ZERX
MEABBNT

2015A ~ 2015B

and 2015C ’2015C
Weighted average share price HK$4.71 Ik E 4.71587T
Weighted average exercise price HK$2.00 IR EITEE 2.00%7T
Expected volatility 46.40% TEERR 1R 46.40%
Expected life 3 years TERTFHA 3F
Risk free rate 0.78% 48 [ i | =R 0.78%
Expected dividend yield 2.80% TEHRR B 2.80%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical
volatility of the comparable companies as at the date of grant of the

share options.

FERHR TR R B B AT R A R E
SREAEETE -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme") for the purpose of providing incentive or reward to eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full time or part
time), consultants or adviser of the Group who in the sole discretion
of the board of the directors of the Company has contributed to
and/or will contribute to the Group) for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group and for
such other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may
approve from time to time. The Share Option Scheme became
effective on 27 May 2015 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of
the total number of shares in issue from time to time. No options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in such limit being
exceeded.

At the time of adoption by the Company of the Share Option Scheme
or any new share option scheme, the aggregate number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme, the new share option scheme
and all schemes existing at such time of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of the shares in issue as
at the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed by ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective close
associates, is required to be approved by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company. In addition, if the Company
proposes to grant options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to their
respective associates which will result in the number and value of
the shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted and to be granted to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of the offer of such
grant in aggregate exceeding: (i) 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time of grant and (i) HK$5 million, based on
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
guotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date of each
grant.

i
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

34. ROABERZNRGE)

Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of RMB1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the board of directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which
is not later than ten years from the date of the offer of the share
options or the expiry date of the Share Option Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the board
of directors of the Company, but may not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations on the date of the offer of the
share options; (i) the average of the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company on the date of the
offer, when applicable.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period

201555 F 27 B 5RAVH BB AR =T 81 (48)

RERHZBRERNMEZ AL 28R
B MARARINEHARBITTZRE
ARE - AIREZBREZTENHESS
EE - YhaETHRBHERFEG - mERDH
MMEENREERZEABEA T FREHE
PRt BlEm B B AR R E R%E) -

BREZTREAARREESETE T
BERUTZEREE  (\ARFBROHINIE2E
Pt B B R 2 P B R AT E 2 B ¢ (i)
ARBRONREZRREZAHIAERZHE
B S22 P B SRR P EL2 SFIURTE ¢ R AR R
A2 Az EE(ER) -

R RN I T A AU B SR IR ER A
GREZHER o

B2 ERRFHBWT

Exercise period Exercise price

R BH BEH TEH TEE
HK$
BT
2016A 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 to 1 April 2016 to 3.71
1 April 2016 30 March 2019
2016%3H31H 2016%F3H31HE 2016F4A18E
201654 H1H 201943 H30H
2016B 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 to 1 October 2016 to 3.71

2016%3H31H

2016C 31 March 2016

201643 A31H

30 September 2016

2016%3H31HZE
201649 HA30H

31 March 2016 to
31 March 2017
2016F3A31HZE
201793 A31H

If the options remain unexercised after 30 March 2019, the options
expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

30 March 2019
2016F10A1HE
201943 A30H

1 April 2017 to 3.71
30 March 2019

2017F4A818%
2019%3A30H

SRR R 20193 A30H B IR TTME - H
BEEE - WESRRASR  HBRIES
WoR U -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option scheme adopted on 27 May 2015 (Continued)

Details of the movement of share options during the year are as

follows:

34. RIDAEBZNE)

201555 F 27 B 5RAVE BB AR =T 81 (48)

RER - BRENZESFBNT

2017 2016
20175 20164
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
BREHE T EREHE hniEFg
TEE 171%(E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning F#ARITE
of the year 15,000,000 3.71 - -
Granted during the year FARE - - 25,000,000 3.71
Exercised during the year FRITE (10,000,000) 3.71  (10,000,000) 3.71
Adjustment due to bonus E AL IR EE AT T 3 8E
issue 5,000,000 - - -
Cancelled during the year FRFH (680,000) 1.86 - -
Outstanding at the end RERKITHE
of the year 9,320,000 1.86 15,000,000 3.71
Exercisable at the end RERAITE
of the year 9,320,000 1.86 10,000,000 3.71

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share
options exercised during the year was HK$3.71. The options
outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.3 years. During the year ended 31
December 2016, options were granted on 31 March 2016. The
estimated fair value of the options on this date is approximately

HK$19,698,000.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial Model. The

RERNTEZBRETEE A ZMETES
BEBITIABL - RERKTEEREN
MEFEHHRTEAEOFEREBIIF - REZE
2016F12A31H8 - BEARER20164F 3 A31
BRE - BRERNZBESNGETAAEBEN A
19,698,00058 7T ©

DRETERZBEATEEAGE - ZERX

inputs into the model are as follows: R ABEDT «

2016A 2016B 2016C 2016A 2016B 2016C
Weighted average share price HK$3.53 HK$3.53 HK$3.53 MEFHMRE 3538 3538 3.53BT
Weighted average exercise price HK$3.71 HK$3.71 HK$3.71 MEFHTERE 3718 3718 3718
Expected volatility 55.06% 55.06% 55.06% TBEARIE 55.06% 55.06%  55.06%
Expected life 1.85 years 2.05 years 2.33 years FEFEH 1.85%  2.06%F  233%F
Risk free rate 0.83% 0.83% 0.83% HERRRFIR 0.83% 0.83% 0.83%
Expected dividend yield 5.66% 5.66% 5.66% HER S E 5.66%  5.66%  5.66%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical
volatility of the comparable companies as at the date of grant of the

share options.
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35.

36.

37.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2016: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting

35.

36.

\\\\\\\

M20175F 128318 » AEBWEL A EASK
REME(2016%F « ££) o

BRI

MRS HRE AT AE MR A 2 B A RSN

7

period but not incurred are as follows: T
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTFT
Prepaid land lease payment and property, A LA ERARE -
plant and equipment MR N & 72,850 75,477
LEASE AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 37. HERHEMERE
The Group as lessee AEEEREBA

At 31 December 2017 the total future minimum lease and other
payment under non-cancellable operating lease are repayable as
follows:

2017412 A31 BRI A B AT &
RAIBIETE REAN RBER T B 8%
f -

2017 2016

20175 20164

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREETT AREF T

Within one year —FE R 2,784 17,700
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EFRFTN(BREEEMT) 6,939 32,248
After five years hFE 3,373 4,600
13,096 54,548

Operating lease and other payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its offices and production plants and
subcontracting fee payable to the contractors for planting of the
mushrooms. Leases are negotiated for an average term from 1 to 50
years.

The above lease commitments only include commitments for basic
rentals based on the prevailing terms and prices of rental as at the
end of the reporting periods, and do not include commitments for
additional/decrement of rental payable (contingent rents), if any,
which are to be determined generally by applying prevailing market
prices of agricultural products when the Group are demanded for
rental payments, as it is not possible in advance the amount of such
additional rental.

ReHEREMNFEASEREE THA
ERBEFERZEERE BN ZEE U RE
NABENDBER - MO TIRNF1E50
FHFHFHER -

bt EAEE B RIE RS R E R F
REBEERAEZEAMRERE Y IE
ERINERE SR ERE(RRES) (10
B) ARTAIREREAFEZSENMER 2
B BEEFEIMME-RRAEEFTEXN
HERBRERREMNRITHEMEE
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37. LEASE AND OTHER COMMITMENTS (Continued) 37. HERHMAIE(E
The Group as lessor AEBEERAEBEA
Property rental income earned during the year was RMB435,000 FRYERSWA S AR 435,0007T(2016
(2016: RMB415,000). F: AR#415,0007T) °
At 31 December 2017 the total future minimum lease payments R2017F12 A3 BRETAIBELCEHER
under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows: KRR SIERBERIBBREN AT B ERULER -
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Within one year —FR 340 60
In the second to fifth years inclusive EEZERFAN(REEREMSE) 395 135
735 195
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BE2017F12A31HILFE

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38. FERERERME

(a) WiE—REKHEAR

(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group completed
the acquisition of the equity interests of Mega Rainbow
International Limited. The consideration for the acquisition is
RMB180,206,000 which includes: 1) the first consideration of
RMB170,600,000 which was settled in cash on completion
date; and 2) the share consideration of RMB9,606,000 which
was satisfied by the allotment and issue of 8,889,568 new
shares of the Company on 9 January 2018. The acquisition is for
the purpose of expansion of the market share of king trumpet
mushroom.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Mega
Rainbow International Limited acquired as at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

REE2017F12A318LFE - K
SEEBTERUKREIKIIEBEER QR ZK
Aigm - WREBZREBAARE
180,206,0007T * B4 : NEHEREAR
#170,600,0007T © K5 B BINIE &
# R 2BRMHAREARK, 606,000
gt EBN2018F 1 HOB Bl 3 K 21T
8,889,568 AR RIFTAR A E T o UehE Ty
BRERAWE 2 TIBHEMIEL -

PUEE B EAPTIREE 2 KL BBR A R X A
ARAEERBBEZAREBENT

Notes RMB'000
B 5E AREF T
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised RIWBREZ2EWEBEER
at the date of acquisition ERREE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BER&E 13,607
Inventories VR 1,575
Biological assets EYEE 5,734
Trade receivables B 5 W RI8 4,384
Prepayment TET IR 469
Bank balances and cash RITHEMRNIRS 2,219
Trade and other payables 5 REMEKRIE (2,921)
25,067
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR M 2 (3,509)
Goodwill EES (i) 158,648
180,206
Consideration transferred BEENAE
Cash "5 170,600
Issue of new shares of the Company, BITARRRIFARD -
at fair value BARE (i) 9,606
180,206
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition FHWBEEEMEE2E SR E FEE
Cash consideration paid EfRIRERE 170,600
Less: bank balances and cash acquired o BWEBIRITABKIRS (2,219)
168,381
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

The fair value of trade receivables acquired is approximately
RMB4,384,000. The gross amount due under the contracts
is RMB4,384,000, of which RMB Nil is expected to be
uncollectible.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Mega Rainbow
International Limited is attributable to the anticipated profitability
of the distribution of the Group's products in the new markets
and the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination.

No revenue or profit was contributed by Mega Rainbow
International Limited to the Group, as the Group acquired Mega
Rainbow International Limited at the end of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2017, total
Group revenue for the year from continuing operations would
have been RMB1,133,345,000, and profit for the year from
continuing operations would have been RMB215,368,000. The
proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of the revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2017, nor is intended
to be a projection of future results.

Notes:

(i) The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Mega Rainbow International Limited
is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

(i) The fair value of the share consideration (consideration shares) is estimated with
reference to the trading price of the Company’s shares at the acquisition date.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

38. RERERBRMEE(F

(a)

(b)

Wi — B AR (&)

FrlEmERE SREZ AARBNEA
R#4,384,000T - BTN zBE
FEAAREL384,000T ' ERARES
JCIEHA A Y [a] o

WEB KT R BRARRELREE - T)
HREHENTEDEAREERE
AE - ARIERZE OB RGEREE
1 RIRAE »

HRARERNHRE R RGBT EERES
[RATE - U KT BB AR A RMER
REE T RAERBATORER -

RBUWEEEIEN2017F1 A1 B =K -
AEBMRAFBLCEEBZFRNRAL
iS5 A ANR®1,133,345,0007T MK
BRBELEEBZFRNENBEARE
215,368,0007T  EEEHE(E B A
B RN RMANEBEWIEEER2017
F1R1BEAMNBER T ERR ARG

WARBEEE - M ARREEANT
A e
i -

()  HECIERERARNELZEEDREEE
RIBEFBH NS R BB BRI EER
FrEfER R ZRETE -

(i)  BORBRERD)ZAAEDESEARQF
BRAD AU RS B B 2 IR B A RS H -

BHNKREERES ZHERENED
Bi o

METHEE2BEIHER

TERFMASEEREFDELZAEL
2 EERERFREE  BET
HELCEERERASARBIARKES
REERAKERAKREGARERE
REDBRBEZDFSREREZR

f& o

1 January Interest 31 December

2017 Cash flows expenses 2017

20175181H BERE MERX 20175

12A31H

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMBFIT ARBTT ARBFT ARBFT

Bank borrowings (note 32) 1T & (Fff3532) 10,000 (542) 542 10,000
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BEELIRS
(a) The Group had the following transactions with its related parties (a) AEFHEEBEFEFNRZUT ¢
as follows:
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFIT
Rental paid to a close family member S ¥ —REZRHEHES
of a director 192 160
Property, plant and equipment and M—REBIHREEDE
prepaid land lease payments sold to BB Ko s A I AN - b A & 5K
a close family member of a director - 7,800
(b) Due from a related party (b) FEW—RRAESHIE
This represented the balance of the proceed for disposal of WAREEDE  KEREZREULIEN
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments iiﬁfrﬁ%ﬁmﬁuﬁz BERNHENATER
receivable from a close member of a director. BIEFES
(¢) The remuneration of directors and other members of key (c) FREENHMTEEEEKE ZME
management during the year was as follows: ITFR -
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREEF T
Short-term benefits G HAAE 7 1,723 1,822
Post-employment benefit RIKIEF 44 50
Equity-settled share-based payments DR E IR D BER K 1,946 5,224
3,713 7,096
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40. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 40. AMIE AR ZRE

MEBARZFBATR :

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Date and place
of incorporation/

Issued and paid-
up/registered

Effective interests

Name establishment capital held by the Group (%) Principal activities
L/ BRTRESM/
£ K2 S E EER FEEREZERER (%) ITEEBRED
2017 2016
20175 2016F
Directly held A
Empire Foods Limited 23 June 2011 US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
British Virgin Islands
Empire Foods Limited 2011F6/423R 50,000% 7T 100 100 HEER
RERTEHE
Indirectly held B8
China Green Group Co., Limited 25 February 2011 HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding and
Hong Kong trading
PHSEEEERAR 201142A25R 10,0007 100 100 REBKRRES
6
Jingxiang Foods 24 December 2001 US$17,820,000 100 100 Investment holding and
PRC trading of mushroom
SARM 200145128248 17,820,000%7T 100 100 REBRREEZES
HE
Fujian Greenfresh Foods 3 November 1995 RMB68,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
PRC and manufacturing of
canned food
RREERM 1995%11A3A AR 68,000,000 100 100 REBKEREERE
HE R
BERRCEM)ERAR 11 January 1999 RMB7,000,000 100 100 Manufacturing of
(Greenfresh Foods (Zhangzhou) PRC canned food
Company Limited)
#ERROEN)ERAR 199914118 ARH7,000,0007 100 100 HEEEAM
HE
Greenfresh Ecological Agriculture 24 November 2009 RMB30,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
PRC and mushroom
plantation
HELERRE 2009511 A248 AR#30,000,0007 100 100 REZBRREEES
HE
Shengtai Agricultural Development 26 August 2011 RMB500,000 100 100  Trading of food
PRC
BREERE 201148A268 ARH500,0007T 100 100 REES
HE
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40. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Date and place
of incorporation/

Issued and paid-
up/registered

40. RIBRRZRE (&

Effective interests

Name establishment capital held by the Group (%) Principal activities
Ry BRAIRERAN/
£ K2 S E EER TEEREEZERER (%) FTEEBRED
2017 2016
20175 2016F
ENEEENHRERDA 9 October 2016 RMB15,000,000 100 100 Mushroom plantation
(Zhangzhou Greenfresh Biological PRC
Technology Limited)
EINEEENHBAR AR 2016510A98 AR#15,000,0007 100 100 HEEE
HE
Greenfresh Nanchang 15 October 2016 HK$3,000,000 100 100 Trading of food
PRC
REME 20165104158 3,000,000 100 100 RRES
HE
Xinjiang Greenfresh 23 November 2016 RMB10,000,000 100 100 Trading of food
PRC
NEHRE 201611 /238 AR#10,000,0007 100 100 RmE%
HE
Singapore Cambo Biological 09 December 2016 US$300,000 100 100 Trading of food
Technology PTE. Ltd Singapore
MR RE £ AR 2016%1289A 300,0003%7T 100 100 RpES
Ao
GU= et Z—Rcit 14 January 2016 JPY20,000,000 99.75 99.75  Trading of food
("Japan Lvhui") Japan
T =2 et Z—HAa4 2016514148 20,000,000H 7T 99.75 975 RREH
(TAAEE]) B
Hebei Greenfresh 24 March 2016 US$2,002,000 100 100 Trading of food
PRC
ML= 2016%3A248 2,002,000%7T 100 100 ERmES
HE
Lvhe 11 May 2016 RMB10,000,000 60 60  Mushroom plantation
PRC
son 2016%5A118 AE10,000,0007T 60 60 HEEERE
HE
PETREENRARAR 1 November 2016 HK$10,000,000 100 100 Not yet commenced
(Heilongjiang Greenfresh Biological ~ PRC business
Technology Limited)
ERIAEENHRARAR 2016511 A18 10,000,000/ 7 100 100 RERES
HE
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40. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Date and place
of incorporation/

Issued and paid-
up/registered

40. RBLR R ZRE (&

Effective interests

Name establishment capital held by the Group (%) Principal activities
T/ BREAIRESAN/
£ Bz BRI AfER FEEREZERER (%) FTEERTED
2017 2016
2017% 2016F
RMGEENRRERDF 3 November 2016 RMB10,000,000 100 100 Not yet commenced
(Hulin Greenfresh Biological PRC business
Technology Limited)
EMEEENRBERRA 2016511 A3A AR#10,000,0007 100 100 RERER
HE
ERGEE MR AERAR 23 December 2016 HK$10,000,000 100 100 Not yet commenced
(Yunnan Lvhui Biological PRC business
Technology Limited)
ERSELNRIRBRAR 20164124230 10,000,000/ 100 100 RERER
HE
S EEMRBRER AT 1 November 2016 US$2,000,000 100 100 Not yet commenced
(Shenzhen New Biological PRC business
Technology Limited)
R EE LD RBRAR 2016511818 2,000,000% 7 100 100 RAREH
HE
Mega Rainbow International Limited 5 July 2016 US$50,000 100 - Investment holding
("Zhao Hong") BVI
KAERERAR([KIL]) 201657458 50,000% T 100 - REBR
RERTES
Topfai International Investment Limited 2 August 2016 HK$1,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong
SEERREERAT 2016F8A 28 1,000,000/ T 100 - REER
Bk
Zhangzhou Changfeng 10 January 2011 RMB16,000,000 86 - Mushroom plantation
PRC
ENRE 20114514108 AR#16,000,0007T 86 - REER
HE
Lucky Max Developments Limited 18 October 2017 USD50,000 100 - Investment holding
("Lucky Max") BVI
Lucky Max Developments Limited 2017F10A18H 50,0005 7T 100 - REEK
(TLucky Max ) KERTHS
United Pioneer Industry (Hong Kong) 15 November 2017 USD50,000 100 - Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong
BEEE(FE)ERAR 20174114158 50,000% T 100 - RE#ER
BA
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40. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. RHIBRARZIRE(EZ
TRIRAREHAEEMEBEKNZIEE
RS ([FEERER D) ZHBARER - 8
BERBME R AR MY &5 -

The following table shows information on the subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI"”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before inter-
company eliminations.

Name Zhangzhou
Lvhe Japan Lvhui Changfeng
450 AR&1E EMEE
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017
20174 20164 20174 20164 20174
Principal place of business/ FTELEME R ER
country of incorporation PRC PRC Japan Japan PRC
T H EF:S AA H
% of ownership interests/ FERESEEC ERERES
voting rights held by NCI REEBHL 40% 40% 0.25% 0.25% 14%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTE ARETR ARETT AR%ET:R
At 31 December: M128318 :
Non-current assets FRBEE 20,868 20,771 - = 13,607
Current assets MEEE 7,547 9,252 562 224 14,381
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - - - - -
Current liabilities mEAE (12,547) (16,746) (1,280) (55) (2,921)
Net assets BEEH 15,868 13,277 (718) 169 25,067
Accumulated NCI g3y £ 6,347 5,311 (2) - 3,509
Year ended 31 December/ BZ12A31ALEE/
From the date of acquisition BhERZ12A31A :
to 31 December:
Revenue WA 23,875 8,896 1,719 3 -
Loss B8 (1,309) (1,124) (887) (949) -
Total comprehensive income FHEWNFERE (1,309) (1,124) (887) (949) -
Loss allocated to NCI AR TIEEREENEE (524) (450) (2) (3) -
Dividends paid to NCI X T IR R RS - = - = -
Net cash (used in)/generated T E () EREFE
from operating activities (5,656) 6,137 (1,016) (1,012) -
Net cash used in investing activities & &EBETAE & 58 (2,503) (20,291) - - -
Net cash generated from REEHIEHEFH
financing activities 8,707 14,401 1,015 1,118 -
Net increase in cash and ReRhFAeSEMENFE
cash equivalents 548 247 (1) 106 -
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40. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

41.

As at 31 December 2017, the bank and cash balances of the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB1,002,512,000 (2016: RMB1,003,375,000). Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Following the completion of the acquisition of Zhao Hong and
Lucky Max, on 9 January 2018, the Company allotted and issued
22,223,921 consideration shares to the former shareholders of Zhao
Hong and Lucky Max.

FREGEREEBRAR | 2017 F5&
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40. NBLR R ZRE(E

41.

M2017F 128318 » ZEBERF R HE
RAIMBETRREAEB(UARESIE) A
AR #1,002,512,0007C (20164 : AR
1,003,375,0007T) ° #& AR 5 AN A
2R BCONEE IR M) ) R HETE - BIE RSB
BEERTE )BT o

HEHBEG
R e U BE IR AT &2 Lucky Max#% @ RRQ AR

201841 A9H MAIJKLL & Lucky Max&) Bl A% 5
e B 7 3£1722,223,92 1 IR R BRE D ©



Summary Financial Information

MBHE

TORARBIZM TS 2 L ERRZ B A
XERBERAGEZHE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set out in the note below:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831BLLFE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
20175 20164 20154 20144 20134
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETrT ARETr ARETrT ARETT
RESULTS E45
Revenue WA 1,064,254 1,086,216 762,118 545,655 471,490
Profit before tax [ %5 A1 4 A 187,616 225,438 220,437 177,340 153,833
Income tax expense PIEEY 1 (3,591) (3,799) (2,705) (2,252) (6,047)
Profit for the year FRHEAM 184,025 221,639 217,732 175,088 147,786
Attributable to: BN
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ =N 184,551 222,092 217,732 175,088 147,786
Non-controlling interests FEI AT RE S (526) (453) - - -
184,025 221,639 217,732 175,088 147,786
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
20174 20164 20154 20145 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETRT AR®T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EBERERE
Non-current assets ERHEE 572,220 213,688 199,366 187,434 176,670
Current assets MENEE 1,386,799 1,579,630 1,323,743 625,878 385,881
Non-current liabilities ERBAR (120) (1,091) - - -
Current liabilities i IN=NET (60,134) (115,563) (69,813) (54,536) (48,566)
Net assets BEFE 1,898,765 1,676,664 1,453,296 758,776 513,985
Attributable to: BN
Owners of the Company KABHER A 1,888,911 1,671,353 1,453,296 758,776 513,985
Non-controlling interests JEIT RS RE 9,854 5,311 - - -
Total equity AR 1,898,765 1,676,664 1,453,296 758,776 513,985
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